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CHINA RESOURCES (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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Schedule of Principal Properties

TR A S L AT R A A U B 2 HBE A4 A e 5 1 .
Properties held for Attributable Beneficial Interest of Approximate Total Ll FLE AR
Investment or Own Use China Resources Land Limited Gross Floor Area Type Lease Term
{7 P 2 100.00% 305,905 oA 5
Shenyang City Crossing Medium Term
L The MIXc 173,863 mic Lease
7 HME Office 55,500 o
=Y, Car Park 76,542 {5 cp

T 55 T R0 [ 7 AF K 7 288 9%
No. 288 Qingnian Avenue, Heping District, Shenyang

dtar# R K S 100.00% 65222 o oYL
Beijing CR Building Medium Term
b T SO i 7 K A 8 Lease

No. 8 Jianguomen North Avenue,
Dongcheng District, Beijing

bt Rk 98.52% 198,400 T
Beijing Rainbow City Medium Term
% Commercial 115,900 mC Lease
F5 7 Office 13,000 o
5 Hi8) Car Park 69,500 5 cp

Al T A U L 9T 68 B
No. 68 Qinghe Mid-Street, Haidian District, Beijing

B R A 97.09% 44,031 L

Tower A, Phoenix Plaza Medium Term
7 H Office 30,789 #to Lease
{558 Car Park 13,242 2 cp

b I i = oA

Sanyuangiao, Chaoyang District, Beijing

B Hb R Y FH 97.09% 50,197 #o AL
Tower F&H, Phoenix Plaza Medium Term
55 T Office Lease

At T o i = oA

Sanyuangqiao, Chaoyang District, Beijing

R M s 97.09% 37,122 fic AL
Tower M, Phoenix Plaza Medium Term
T % Commercial Lease

Al T i = e A

Sanyuangqiao, Chaoyang District, Beijing

[ SE (4] %; 97.09% 36,184 fiic oA
Xidan Cultural Centre Medium Term
b T 7 R 7 ALK 180 Lease
No.180 Xidan North Avenue, Xicheng District, Beijing

R A P 97.09% 16,787 ic o L 6%
Grand Constellation Shopping Mall Medium Term
Al i P I i o Lease
Huayuan Street, Xicheng District, Beijing

B L H s 97.00% 10,685 fic o L
U-Space Shopping Mall Medium Term
i L B P AR A 8 5 Lease

No. 8 Guangqumenwai Avenue,
Chaoyang District, Beijing

7 ik 1 — sy -z ft-pe 70 — i
C' - commercial CP - car rark O - Office R - residential H - toter

(T T T L

-
i Ml

T B T ] LA HEA Aba LRI
Shenyang City Crossing Beijing China Resources Building Beijing Rainbow City

4 | —E—e
Annual Report 2012
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Properties held for
Investment or Own Use

FEY) ERE

Schedule of Principal Properties

i L A PR ) AN P RS A 4 e S T
Attributable Beneficial Interest of Approximate Total bl FLE AR
China Resources Land Limited Gross Floor Area Type Lease Term

A 7 S

Jing Tong Shops

i e

Chaoyang Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing

TR 7 S 1k

Phoenix City Commercial Street
AT R = AR

Sanyuangiao, Chaoyang District, Beijing

AR

Huawei Building

Al T e P K

Xidan North Avenue, Xicheng District, Beijing

3PN

Huanan Building

Al P e ALK A

Xidan North Avenue, Xicheng District, Beijing

e 9 [ 22 A

Building 22, Guanyingyuan
AL P I 8 A 1 R

Xinjiekou South Street, Xicheng District,
Beijing

)

Jin Hui Garden
B[4 PN

Daxing District, Beijing

S5 AR IRAR HE S 40 A
Building 49, Fortune Island,
Jade City

bt R B

Daxing District, Beijing

S AR Ik B2 i 1 A
Building 1, Plot B2,
Jade City
Elar8iipN 01T

Daxing District, Beijing

LR AR
Shanghai CR Times Square
T35 Mall
FFHE Office
5 H5 Car Park
b T SRS 195 B 500 58
No. 500 Zhangyang Road, Pudong, Shanghai

P — e 15 — sy
C' - commercial CP - car ark

HE-maz F-nz T — e
O - Office R - Residential H - Hotel

LG
Shanghai CR Times Square

—x-—EEEH | s
Annual Report 2012
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FEY) EME

Schedule of Principal Properties

TR B B 3
Properties held for

Investment or Own Use

T A LA VAN U R 2
Attributable Beneficial Interest of
China Resources Land Limited

Shimei Bay_Wanning

B 5 5
Hangzhou The MIXc

B 5 The MIXc

{5 B35 Car Park
AU 7 T [ S8 7 4 A [ B A SR
Qingchun East Road, Qianjiang New Town,
Jianggan District, Hangzhou

JRHR 5 S
Chengdu The MIXc
B 5 The MIXc
{585 Car Park
A TIT R o B B 8 5%
No. 8 Shuangqing Road,
Chenghua District, Chengdu

GRYIFEE o0
Shenzhen City Crossing
B 5 The MIXc
#:Jl K JE China Resources Building
FBL % Grand Hyatt Hotel
%35 Car Park
RIS 1V SR 5001 55 %
2% 1881 5E
No. 5001 Shennan East Road and No.1881
Baoan South Road,Luohu District, Shenzhen

RYIIE 5 A =L

Hua Rui Building
RIS 91 5 2 22 7 B 1001 58

No. 1001 Baoan South Road, Luohu District,
Shenzhen

EL T
Nanning The MIXc

55Uk The MIXc

{5835 Car Park
B P AR A T 7 R R A 136 %
No. 136, Minzu Avenue, Qingxiu District,
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region

PES
Le Meridien Hotel
BT A A

P 17— sy
C' - Commercial CP - car park

- mpz

O - Office

1t e

R - Residential

HEAY HE e S T B
Approximate Total Eill FLTEAE R
Gross Floor Area Type Lease Term

T8 — s
H - Hotel

it AR EIFIL R A A H 34,729 T I K - LLRIERE - (58I H IR 5,102,988 7 Kt 2B 5E MR ~ 4,335,907 T I K g il 7 #5€

I ©

Note: Not including Beijing other operational investment properties of 34,729 square metres; and other up and running investment properties which are

currently under construction or under planning involving a total gross floor area of 5,102,988 square metres and an attributable gross floor area of

4,335,907 square metres.

R
Chengdu The MIXc

A AR
Annual Report 2012

T 5 5 I
Shenzhen The MIXc

EEER
Nanning The MIXc
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Schedule of Principal Properties

HEA MR 45

e A A A it A R

JREAR T Bl %] # 1201343 10 H
b2 LEYES Attributable Beneficial A8 AR TR A Approximate Unsold st B H 3 VAU
Properties Interest of China Approximate Gross Floor Area il Estimated Date State of
under Development Resources Land Limited Total Site Area As of 10 March 2013 Type of C letion C letion

1 5 A A
Shengyang Oak Bay
T8 T A A [

Yuhong District,

Shenyang

Tk P DU
Shenyang MIXc
Residence

4 [l AT
Heping District, Shenyang

P SLE
Shenyang The Arch
T 105 717 S

Tiexi District, Shenyang

=R ILE
Shenyang The Bound
of Mukden

1 15 717 T

Hunnan New District, Shenyang

T 5 A
Shenyang Park Lane
Manor

il 5 T 1 [

Changbai District, Shenyang

R
Dalian Maritime
KA TIT [P 58 L 5 0 T
Binhai New District,
Development Zone, Dalian

R B S 98
Dalian Oriental Xanadu
LT VIR I L
No.4 Xinhaiwan Road,
Shahekou District, Dalian

R B B 5
Dalian CR Plaza
KA H I W rh 2
Zhonghua Road,
Ganjingzi District, Dalian

P — e 15— ey HE-maz F-nz I — e
C - commercial CP - car ark O - Office R - Residential H - Hotel

RLLARLAN TAN LN AN

i LIE] I ERILE R L
Shenyang The Arch Shenyang The Bound of Miukden Shenyang Park Lane Manor

SEF IR | 7
Annual Report 2012
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FEY) EME

Schedule of Principal Properties

HEA MR 45

e i AT A A it A e

JREAR T B %] 1201343 10 H
b2 LEYES Attributable Beneficial A8 AR THI A Approximate Unsold st B H 3 VAU
Properties Interest of China Approximate Gross Floor Area il Estimated Date State of
under Development Resources Land Limited Total Site Area As of 10 March 2013 Type of Completion Completion

Bl SEAE B
Anshan Park Lane Manor

1) TS L
Tiedong District, Anshan

AL A A

Anshan Oak Bay

LT 57 [

New Technology District, Anshan

A
Changchun Oak Bay

A T AR
Southern New City, Changchun

ey T T 4 4
Harbin Fun Square
ey Y I A AU o

Songbei District, Harbin

JentEF s
Majestic Garden
i A

Jian Xiang Qiao,
Chaoyang District, Beijing

LAY AT L
Beijing Eco Living
At I R % P4
K305 %

No. 305 Guanganmenwai
Aveune, Xuanwu District,
Beijing

Jbm A

Beijing Oak Bay

AW T U L 3 4

Qinghe, Haiding District, Beijing

JE P
Beijing Positano Vita
AT 1 S I

Mentougou District, Beijing
R ATIE
Beijing Park Land
ElyiipNe

Daxing District, Beijing

7 — e 1 sy HE-mnz ft - I — s
C' — commercial CP - car park O - Office R - Residential H - Hotel

REGHE xRt A nTIE
Changchun Oak Bay Beijing Positano Vita Beijing Park Land
A AR

Annual Report 2012
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Schedule of Principal Properties

HEA MR 45

e A A A it A R

JREAR T Bl %] # 1201343 10 H
b2 LEYES Attributable Beneficial A8 AR TR A Approximate Unsold st B H 3 VAU
Properties Interest of China Approximate Gross Floor Area il Estimated Date State of
under Development Resources Land Limited Total Site Area As of 10 March 2013 Type of C letion C letion

PN -,
CR Building Phase 2
AL AT

Dongcheng District, Beijing

bt %% R s [ JH H
Beijing Miyun CBD
Project

bt g

Miyun County, Beijing

LA E
Beijing Others
bz

Beijing

RH R AR
Tianjin Central Park
R E e

Jinnan District, Tianjin

ENCC

Tianjin Oak Bay

TR T ZE it i

Konggang District, Shenyang

TS 58 I
Zhengzhou MIXc
Residence

MR T Ja

Erqi District, Zhengzhou

S 1L AGA
Tangshan Oak Bay

JR LT SRR 5k
Pheonix New City, Tangshan

% 5 B
Qinhuangdao Oak Bay
28 52 5 TI7 B 5 I 3T
Huanghe Road, Development
Zone, Qinhuangdao

AR gL

Qingdao City Crossing
T A I TR 06 1L SRR 10 9%

No. 10 Shandong Road, Shinan
District, Qingdao

P — e 15— ey HE-mnz 1F-n# B — e
C' — commercial CP - car park O - Office R - Residential H - Hotel

R B T BEIRF eI L
Qinbuangdao Oak Bay Zbengzhou MIXc Residence Qingdao City Crossing

—F AR |9
Annual Report 2012
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FEY) EME

Schedule of Principal Properties

HEA MR 45
e i AT A A it A e
JREAR T B ] 1201343 10 H
b2 LEYES Attributable Beneficial A8 AR THI A Approximate Unsold st B H 3 VAU
Properties Interest of China Approximate Gross Floor Area il Estimated Date State of
under Development Resources Land Limited Total Site Area As of 10 March 2013 Type of Completion Completion
T i rh R x
Zibo Central Park
1R TR A ik
Zhangdian Central District, Zibo
JRLHEE T L
Weihai City Crossing
JRE T B AR
Huancui District, Weihai
H IR oL

Rizhao City Crossing
B SR [
Donggang District, Rizhao

BB
Nanjing Ning Mansion
T A T R L

Jianye District, Nanjing

SHE55) K 9 I [ A [

Wuxi Taihu International
Community

e85 4 1 It 88 HE

No.88, Jinshi Road, Wuxi

Wuxi Top Mansion
85} Th T [

Binhu District, Wuxi

RN ~F-FT IR
Suzhou Villa
TR T F-VL

Pingjiang District, Suzhou

AR A AR
Suzhou Oak Bay

R T A S

Xiangcheng District, Suzhou

BEME E LR

Suzhou The Bound of
Kunyu

R L Tl LA

Honggiao Road, Kunshan

2 15 — ey HE-maz fF-nz I — e
C' — commercial CP - car rark O - Office R - Residential H - toter

JEHFHE L H RS L H B
Weihai City Crossing Rizhao City Crossing Nanjing Ning Mansion
A AR

Annual Report 2012
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Schedule of Principal Properties

HEA MR 45
e A A A it A R
JREAR T Bl %] # 1201343 10 H
b2 LEYES Attributable Beneficial A8 AR TR A Approximate Unsold st B H 3 VAU
Properties Interest of China Approximate Gross Floor Area il Estimated Date State of
under Development Resources Land Limited Total Site Area As of 10 March 2013 Type of Completion Completion
2 11 2 1 ] A [
Kunshan CR International
Community
R L 7l e [
New Technology District,
Kunshan
B R R A [

Changzhou CR
International Community
PN TR e v R OE
Zhongwu Avenue, Tianning
District, Changzhou

T A AG
Nantong Oak Bay

0 TIT A P B 8 [

Development Zone, Nangtong

T A ] L
Nantong City Crossing
T 20 A ] [

Gangzha District, Nantong

AR A
Yangzhou Oak Bay
o i T L1655
Jiangwang Town, Hangjiang
District, Yangzhou

IR BEI
Xuzhou Royal Palace
e

Tongshan District, Xuzhou

2 0 TR e A
Taizhou CR International
Community

ZR 1 A L30T [

Zhoushanhe District, Taizhou

A A 1
Yancheng Oak Bay

BTN R

Renmin Road, Yancheng

P — e 15 — sy HE-maz 1F-n# I — e
C - commercial CP - car ark O - Office R - Residential H - Hotel

R 1L P A L AR 5

Kunshan CR International Commuinity Nantong City Crossing Yancheng Oak Bay

SECCEERR | 1]
Annual Report 2012
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Schedule of Principal Properties

HEEA 1 A% Hh
M E A R A [igas e AL
JREAY U B bl 2 & 12013423 H 10 H
k¢ LEYES Attributable Beneficial A 3t v Approximate Unsold 5% B H 9 VAU
Properties Interest of China Approximate Gross Floor Area B Estimated Date State of
under Development Resources Land Limited Total Site Area As of 10 March 2013 Type of Completion Completion
YA 100.00% 59,504 13,979 1 /7 134E10 A gk
The Bund Side R/C Oct 2013 Construction
9 T O P L in Progress
Huangpu District, Puxi, Shanghai
RGZ 100.00% 144,247 84,041 15 /18 134124 FLg e
Shanghai Oak Bay R/C Dec 2013 Construction
b 1A T IBORN % 1088 % in Progress
No.1088, Zhenghe Road,
Shanghai
lnbis L SR /N | 100.00% 266,970 351,264 1k /7 16411 Bz
Shanghai Central Park R/C Jan 2016 Construction
g E in Progress
Jiading District, Shanghai
AL LER 100.00% 121,719 105,251 fE 144E8 Fg
Shanghai Eternal Palace R Aug 2014 Construction
T AT [ in Progress
Songjiang District, Shanghai
i E 5O 50.00% 202,400 123,100 /7 1643 1 e
Shanghai The MIXc R/C Mar 2016 Planning
A T A in Progress
Honggiao District, Shanghai
PO B RIREG Tk 60.00% 99,451 93,175 /7 1641 S
A8 N R/C Jan 2016 Construction
Hangzhou MIXc Office & in Progress
Serviced Apartment
BN VLT &
Jianggan District, Hangzhou
LM Z L ILE 100.00% 90,640 181,279 fE 144E11 A B g
Hangzhou The Bound of R Nov 2014 Construction
Zhijiang in Progress
BN T Z VLB
Zhijiang Road, Hangzhou
BRI S 100.00% 317,155 82,761 fE 144E 12 A B
Ningbo Tuscany Lake R Dec 2014 Construction
Valley in Progress
S T SR I [
Donggianhu District, Ningbo
2 15 — b -z ff-wz I s
C' - commercial CP - car rark O - Office R - residential H - toter

LN LA B Z T I
Shanghbai Central Park Shanghai Eternal Palace Hangzhou The Bound of Zbijiang

12 | =% ZAFEFEm
Annual Report 2012
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Schedule of Principal Properties

HEA MR 45

e A A A it A R

JREAR T Bl %] # 1201343 10 H
b2 LEYES Attributable Beneficial A8 AR TR A Approximate Unsold st B H 3 VAU
Properties Interest of China Approximate Gross Floor Area il Estimated Date State of
under Development Resources Land Limited Total Site Area As of 10 March 2013 Type of Completion Completion

ERERETRANE
Ningbo Cixi Central Park
T

Kandun Street, Cixi, Ningbo

S FUE
Ningbo The Arch
i 1

Beilun District, Ningbo

PRI
Ningbo Yuyao Rainbow
City

S i AR kSRR

Dongxin District, Yuyao, Ningbo

i JH B SR
Wenzhou The MIXc
A T R

Ouhai District, Wenzhou

T A i

Wuhan Landmark
Residence

TR B R

Minzhu Road, Wuchang District,
‘Wuhan

VA AR ¥

Wuhan Oak Bay
TR A

Wuchang District, Wuhan
P LA R
Wuhan Central Park

I T T P L
Hanyang District, Wuhan

Wuhan Palace Glorious
T L 6

Hongshan District, Wuhan

G B 5 T
Hefei Palace Glorious
A I T 3 3 [

Yaohai District, Hefei

P — e 15— ey HE-maz F-nz I — e
C - commercial CP - car ark O - Office R - Residential H - Hotel

HPHIEN WA TR LN
Ningbo The Arch Ningbo Yuyao Rainbow City Wuhan Palace Glorious

—E AP | 13
Annual Report 2012
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FEY) EME

Schedule of Principal Properties

HEA MR 45
e i AT A A it A e
JREAR T B %] 1201343 10 H
b2 LEYES Attributable Beneficial B N T A Approximate Unsold st B H 3 VAU
Properties Interest of China Approximate Gross Floor Area il Estimated Date State of
under Development Resources Land Limited Total Site Area As of 10 March 2013 Type of Completion Completion
A AESE R
Hefei The Arch
A BT S [
Zhengwu District, Hefei
A RS A
Hefei Oak Bay
A I T JR I
Luyang District, Hefei
R UK

Changsha Phoenix City
RU R
Changsha County, Changsha

R
Changsha Oak Bay
Wi R A S 8
Hanpu Town, Wangcheng
County, Changsha

RS A
Chengdu Jade City
AR §8 L

Jinjiang District, Chengdu

S R

Chengdu Phoenix City
AR T = B P

South Third Ring Road, Chengdu

Jpi gy IR

Chengdu 24 City
AT B K R

East Second Ring Road, Chengdu

JEH AG A
Chengdu Oak Bay
AR AR

Pi County, Chengdu

JRHR <8 1
Chengdu Jinyue Bay
AR 7 [

Qingyang District, Chengdu

2 15— poss HE-maz 1F-n# I — e
C' — commercial CP - car rark O - Office R - Residential H - Hotel

AL IRH RUBHE SRS

Hefei Oak Bay Changsha Oak Bay Chengdu Jinyue Bay
A AR
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Schedule of Principal Properties

HEA MR 45

e A A A it A R

JREAR T Bl %] # 1201343 10 H
b2 LEYES Attributable Beneficial A8 AR TR A Approximate Unsold st B H 3 VAU
Properties Interest of China Approximate Gross Floor Area il Estimated Date State of
under Development Resources Land Limited Total Site Area As of 10 March 2013 Type of C letion C letion

AR R A 2 E
Chengdu Ginkgo Park
A T 2 [

Jinniu District, Chengdu

TR AR R

Chengdu Emerald Forest
AR T B

Chenghua District, Chengdu

AR AR B
Chengdu Park Lane
Manor

A T ST

Jinjiang District, Chengdu

iy It
Xian 24 City

1 22 7 SRRk
Peidong New City, Xian

HREPRA
Chonggqing

Central Park
AL R

Jiangbei District, Chongqing

R
Chonggqing 24 City
BT LB (6

Jiulongpo District, Chongging

A s

Mianyang Central Park

A 105 TR 1

Kechuangyuan District, Mianyang

A JH A v
Fuzhou Oak Bay
AR AT L e

Cangshan District, Fuzhou

P — e 15 — sy HE-maz 1F-n# B — e
C' — commercial CP - car ark O - Office R - Residential H - Hotel

SR AT P2 =P 3k R AP
Chengdu Park Lane Manor Xian 24 City Chongqing 24 City

F AR |15
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Schedule of Principal Properties

HEA MR 45
e i AT A A it A e
JREAR T B ] 1201343 10 H
b2 LEYES Attributable Beneficial A8 AR THI A Approximate Unsold st B H 3 VAU
Properties Interest of China Approximate Gross Floor Area il Estimated Date State of
under Development Resources Land Limited Total Site Area As of 10 March 2013 Type of Completion Completion
J5Z PSR 1
Xiamen Oak Bay
B i 4 5 1 A I

Xingbei Road, Jimei District,
Xiamen

T B A5
Nanchang Oak Bay

T B T R ik
Chaoyang New City, Nanchang

HEN ZE T O

Ganzhou City Crossing
N B 153

Zhangjiang New District, Ganzhou

BN /NEEIE
Huizhou Xiaojing Bay
Project

MM

Xiaojing Bay, Huizhou

RS
Nanning City Crossing

JE PG B 36 7 75

Qingxiu District, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region

L
Hainan Shimei Bay
Palace

A BT A7 At

Shimei Bay, Wanning

7 e 1 oy HE-maw e I — s
C - commercial CP - carrark O - Office R - Residential H - Hotel

BNl L EM/IMESIHA A M L
Ganzhou City Crossing Huizhou Xiaojing Bay Project Hainan Shimei Bay Palace
A AR

Annual Report 2012
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In 2012, the Group’s consolidated turnover and profit attributable to
shareholders reached HK$44,364 million and HK$10,569 million,
increased by 23.9% and 30.1% respectively over the corresponding
period of 2011. As of 31 December 2012, the Group’s earnings per
share increased by 22.4 % year-on-year to HK181.9 cents, and net assets
per share increased by 13.8% over the same period of 2011 to
HK$11.86.

The board of directors recommended a final dividend of HK27.3 cents
per share, together with the 2012 interim dividend of HK6.3 cents, the
annual dividend in 2012 amounted to HK33.6 cents per share,
representing an increase of 28.7% over the full year dividend of 2011.
The full year payout ratio was at 27.0% of core net profit attributable to
shareholders, excluding gains in fair value of investment properties.

Business Review

In 2012, the Group managed to better balance the needs between
expedited property sales and pursuit in profit margin, thus achieved
substantial growth, not only in contracted sales, turnover, but also in
net profit. During the year under review, the Group achieved
consolidated turnover and profit attributable to shareholders of
HK$44,364 million and HK$10,569 million respectively. Specifically,
turnover from the residential development business reached HK$38,522
million, up by 23.1% year-on-year; rental income from investment
property business and hotel operation totalled HK$3,836 million,
representing a year-on-year growth of 37.4%.

SR TREER
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Residential Development

In 2012, the Group achieved residential contracted sales of RMB52,193
million involving a total GFA of 4.74 million square meters, leapt by
45.2% and 59.1% respectively over the corresponding period of 2011.

In 2012, the Group continued to implement its on-going strategy to
speed up asset turn. During the year, a total of eight projects launched
presales within 12 months after land acquisition.

In order to meet the end-user demand from first-time home buyers and
first-time upgraders, the Group has continued its efforts to adjust its
product mix to introduce small-to-medium sized units to the market. In
2012, over 85.0% of the total units contracted were those with unit size
below 144 square meters.

In 2012, Beijing Oak Bay and Chengdu Twenty-four City were rewarded
Tien-yow Jeme Civil Engineering Prize by National Civil Engineering
Association of China. Dalian Oriental Xanadu, Dalian Maritime and
Shenyang City Crossing were rewarded Guangsha Award. According to
a survey conducted by Ipsos, the Group scored 86 points in customer
satisfaction in 2012 among the Group’s residential customers.

Investment Property

With the grand openings of Chengdu MIXc and Nanning MIXc during
the year, the Group has by now a total of five MIXc malls in operation.
Total GFA of operational investment property reached 2.21 million
square meters as at the end of 2012, increased by 0.60 million square
meters from the year end of 2011. Continued expansion in operational
scale of investment properties has laid down a solid foundation for a
sustainable and rapid growth in the Group’s rental income.

Value-added Services

As a unique component of the Group’s business model, value-added
services embody the Group’s core competitiveness. In 2012, while the
Group further strengthened its promotion and innovation in value-
added services in relation to decoration and furniture, the Group
launched its pilot projects with the focus in provision of tailor-made
customer services. Specifically, the property management service
piloted in Beijing Eco Living and butler service piloted in Shanghai the
Bound of Bund has proved to be successful and could be introduced to
a greater number of projects or even Group-wide. Within the Group,
the value-added services have now been implemented in 34 projects,
involving a total GFA of over 2.30 million square meters.
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Landbank

As of 10 March 2013, the Group’s geographical reach was further
expanded to 42 cities with a total land bank of GFA 29.36 million
square meters, among which saleable residential land bank was 24.26
million square meters and land bank for investment properties under
construction or land bank planned for investment properties was 5.10
million square meters. In 2012, the Group continued to allocate
resources on a strategy-guided basis, which prioritizes “residential +
commercial” projects. Within the year, the Group acquired 10 projects,
7 of which are “residential + commercial” projects. Total GFA acquired
in 2012 was 4.90 million square meters, among which 1.25 million
square meters were for investment property, accounting for 25.5% of
the total land bank acquired in 2012.

The Group’s current land bank can satisty future development need for
the coming 3 to 5 years, and the Group’s national strategic layout has
been largely completed. However, in order to sustain our growth
during “twelfth five-year” period and to increase profit contribution
from investment properties, the Group will continue to add low-cost
land bank in a disciplined and strategy-guided manner and on a
selective basis.

Finance

In 2012, thanks to its more prudent financial policies, the Group’s total
interest bearing debt ratio, net gearing ratio and EBITDA to interest
coverage ratio were all kept well under control within the ranges set by
rating agencies for maintaining investment grade credit rating.
Specifically, total interest bearing debt ratio fell notably to 43.9% as at
the end of 2012 from 48.0% in 2011, while net gearing ratio dropped
from 68.9% to 49.6% over the same period. During the year of 2012, the
Group’s credit rating was “BBB/stable outlook” as granted by both
Standard and Poor’s and Moody’s.

SR TREER
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Outlook

In 2013, the Group will closely monitor property market and make
continued efforts to enhance our capability to foresee the changes in
market conditions and to respond to those changes. While the Chinese
property market is expected to face certain uncertainties on policy front
in 2013, the Group is still confident in its future prospect. While the
Group is expected to sustain its growth both in residential bookable
area and in saleable resources in 2013, the Group’s bookable and
saleable resources in the year are more broadly based on a much larger
number of projects and more geographically diversified in more cities,
with a greater majority of those resources being designed to cater for
end-user demand in tier-two and tier-three cities.

As of 10 March 2013, the Group has achieved total contracted sales of
RMB13,727 million year-to-date. Together with the contracted value of
RMB52,468 million achieved before the end of 2012 but remained
unrecognized, the Group had a total contracted value of RMB66,195
million available for booking in 2013 and onwards. Specifically, the
Group has so far locked in RMB40,071 million in development revenue
for recognition in 2013, thus laid a solid foundation for promising
financial results for 2013.
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In 2012, the Group’s residential development and investment property
business both achieved satisfactory performance. Overall contracted
sales and construction schedule were in line with management’s
expectation, laying down a solid foundation for promising financial
results of 2013.

Review of Residential Development Business
in 2012

In 2012, the Group achieved contracted sales of RMB52,193 million
with the area sold totalling 4.74 million square meters, representing a
significant growth of 45.2% and 59.1% year-on-year respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

— TAELIRT H B EENFER T Sales breakdown by cities during the year of 2012 are set out as
follows:

A [ 4 S 5 T

Contracted Value Area Sold
ANR¥ET T RIS
RMB’000 Sgm
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Management Discussion and Analysis

—T

L]
Oak Bay
PYSRALIL
Eco Living
L
Positano Vita
NIGNLE
Park Land

iR
The Bund Side

SN

The Bound of Bund

e

Oak Bay
HRAE

Central Park

RIALE

Eternal Palace
£

Park Lane Manor
HRI

Jade City

e uibd
Twenty-Four City
BRI

Phoenix City

the
Oak Bay

F— CAEARGEETEIEE M ER

B2
Beijing
T
Beijing
B
Beijing
547
Beijing
i
Shanghai
L
Shanghai
i
Shanghai
L
Shanghai
i
Shanghai
FIN
Shenzhen
FHS
Chengdu
FEH
Chengdu

FEH

Chengdu

HCH
Chengdu

T H B

Project Type

FREELT
Mid-high density residential
Gl iz

High density residential
PR

Mid-low density residential
R E

Mid-low density residential
BEEEE

High density residential
A EAE

High density residential
PESERE

Mid-low density residential
PIEBI T

Mid-low density residential
REELEE

Low density residential
HEIEEE

High density residential
PREEEE
Mid-high density residential
HEIEEE

High density residential
REEEE

High density residential
BEEET

High density residential

Wk

Y S
+ZA=+—H

B R oE
T T
Accumulated

area sold

as of

Total GFA 31 Dec 2012
CEK) IR
(Sqm) (Sqm)
646,604 297,898
217,490 193,241
286,121 51,018
227,323 86,475
87,677 3,139
166,917 42,948
230,795 145,628
467,197 114,268
121,719 10,767
110,000 103,752
1,034,348 732,190
1,620,000 095,328
098,590 651,711
527,913 263,462

-
L

ZE IR
SR

Area sold
in 2012

SEN]

(Sqm)

50,973

39,747

41,993

46,419

1,045

11,477

35,746

55,367

9,988

1,973

49,811

121,123

106,708

79,722

Sales breakdown by the Group’s major projects in 2012:

“F-CR
FHEH

Average
selling price
in 2012
ON:L
k)

(RMB/Sqm)

32,575

40,818

26,163

26,632

03,244

88,900

37,517

22325

20,808

106,475

18,682

11,587

9,200

7,211

e
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Bk
—F—_F
+ZA=+—H
Ziteg R0 TFOF
T TR FHER
Accumulated
area sold Average
as of Area sold selling price
Project Type Total GFA 31 Dec 2012 in 2012 in 2012
N
(CFIK) (F7K) (CFJ7K) FIK)
(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm) (RMB/Sqm)
R RS TREEEE 205,700 94,449 67,055 8,021
Emerald Forest Chengdu Mid-high density residential
ehiE FAR PR 336,420 14,495 8,241 17,809
Jinyue Bay Chengdu Mid-low density residential
ALK i R EEET 141,300 136,634 2,735 31,551
Phoenix City Wuhan Mid-high density residential
HRAE B FREEEE 346,696 256,066 40,626 12,148
Central Park Wuhan Mid-high density residential
fphE B FEEEEE 476,000 131,474 62,557 9,777
Oak Bay Wuhan Mid-low density residential
BN it AT 41,231 34,415 12,836 17,235
Landmark Residence ~ Wuhan High density residential
Wz AHE HEHEEE 202,020 200,804 7,243 8,710
French Annecy Hefei Mid-low density residential
SZGL Bl FREEEE 174,522 216,510 3,281 3,596
Park Lane Manor Hefei Mid-high density residential
REH Al REEEE 199,500 206,926 28,539 6,362
Palace Glorious Hefei High density residential
e 1 FREREE 677,600 199,977 162,938 6,764
Oak Bay Hefei Mid-high density residential
LM Al REEEE 618,292 139,004 118,544 8,905
The Arch Hefei High density residential
A B AL R b3 FEE LT 1,246,623 832,975 162,932 8,951
Taihu Int'l Community ~ Wuxi Mid-low density residential
PR i3 HEEEEE 260,000 39,866 24,642 13,420
Top Mansion Wuxi Mid-high density residential
TS B E#EEE 130,352 48,625 4,959 26,993
Tuscany Lake Valley ~ Ningbo Low density residential
g B TRELET 196,000 125,056 103,961 11,727
The Arch Ningbo Mid-high density residential

24 | R
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#itcs  ZF-CF 0 ZFCF
T TR FHER
Accumulated
area sold Average
as of Area sold selling price
Project Type Total GFA 31 Dec 2012 in 2012 in 2012
N
(F7K) (F7K) (CFJ7K) FIK)
(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm) (RMB/Sqm)
ENUSIRATY 4 TREEET 196,062 85,381 85,381 11,828
Yuyao Rainbow City ~ Ningbo Mid-high density residential
RIHET Y N FEE AT 166,662 99,991 15,604 39,440
Oriental Xanadu Dalian Mid-low density residential
i i K FRELEE 1,309,592 613,910 123,343 7,597
Maritime Dalian Mid-high density residential
Ko N REERE 472,600 72,624 72,624 12,173
CR Plaza Dalian High density residential
ALK ®Y BT 1,155,439 838,581 188,908 5,490
Phoenix City Changsha High density residential
BehE RY REEEE 460,664 63,166 63,166 5,530
Oak Bay Changsha High density residential
FF M R EEE 67,595 41,363 9,848 32,765
Suzhou Villa Suzhou Low density residential
RELE B HREEREEE 285,987 80,475 44,016 18,116
The Bound of Kunyu  Suzhou Mid-low density residential
R B R 362,543 61,369 33,739 9,822
Oak Bay Suzhou Mid-high density residential
i &b BT 144,313 69,673 28,185 20,498
MIXc Residence Shenyang High density residential
FLierd b REEEE 280,000 269,491 64,059 10,591
The Arch Shenyang High density residential
HBehE & R AT 892,414 297,643 114,510 6,678
Oak Bay Shenyang Mid-high density residential
BibRS i1 REEEE 252,040 73,899 64,091 8,286
CR Plaza Shenyang High density residential
ERNLE i1 R BT 419,100 65,799 65,799 8,809
The Bound of Mukden Shenyang Mid-high density residential
ERE i A 240,600 9,773 9,773 8380
Park Lane Manor Shenyang High density residential
iy L BE LT 1,738,900 607,231 169,775 7,350
Twenty-Four City Chongging High density residential

—®-aEER | 25
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Bk
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E=CE S
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T TR FHER
Accumulated
area sold Average
as of Area sold selling price
Project Type Total GFA 31 Dec 2012 in 2012 in 2012
N
(CFIK) (F7K) (CFJ7K) FIK)
(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm) (RMB/Sqm)
B YN gl REEEE 572,665 298,256 146,262 6,741
Central Park Chongging High density residential
1 B FEEEE 307,830 56,057 43,600 9,841
Oak Bay Xiamen High density residential
R K FREREEE 152,200 72,799 06,652 7,810
Oak Bay Tianjin Mid-low density residential
FRAE K FEEEEE 706,341 96,907 71,641 8,158
Central Park Tianjin Mid-low density residential
HRAR il FREEEE 758,118 152,382 57,190 5,821
Central Park Mianyang Mid-high density residential
EETORTH  ME HTHE 154,200 52,090 13,349 26,569
City Crossing Office Nanning Office
e HE REEEE 231,418 59,246 59,246 22915
MIXc Residence Nanning High density residential
e M FEE LT 603,108 320,031 109,842 10,700
Oak Bay Fuzhou Mid-low density residential
e AL R M HREEET 1,243 354 172,518 95,531 6,616
CR Int1 Community Changzhou Mid-high density residential
R D R REEEE 277,792 44,211 31,718 25,260
Ning Mansion Nanjing High density residential
BhE [Eafi HEEEEE 415,200 160,806 80,256 7,218
Oak Bay Nantong Mid-high density residential
e ALl TRELET 235,000 41313 41313 9,439
Oak Bay Anshan Mid-high density residential
EFHL HE REEEE 369,202 37,636 37,636 27,674
City Crossing Qingdao High density residential
fphE B FEEEET 200,260 105417 58,230 8515
Oak Bay Yangzhou Mid-low density residential
1 FEL TREEET 463,400 169,231 94,885 8,547
Oak Bay Tangshan Mid-high density residential
LREM BT M FREREEE 351,569 32,285 32,285 11,714
Royal Palace Xuzhou Mid-low density residential

26 | =R
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Bk
i S
+ZH=+—H
e e e i
T R FHER
Accumulated
area sold Average
as of Area sold selling price
Project Type Total GFA 31 Dec 2012 in 2012 in 2012
N
(FIK) SEN; (CF7K) FIK)
(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm) (RMB/Sqm)
fhE ®& TREEET 247,100 70,470 70,470 6,848
Oak Bay Changchun Mid-high density residential
e #E R EEEE 279,924 67,279 67,279 8,358
Oak Bay Nanchang Mid-high density residential
AfgERLE HE BEEEE 967,062 72,236 55,986 24,872
Shimei Bay Palace Wanning Low density residential
S2GL e E TREEEE 80,250 60,529 60,529 7,312
Park Lane Manor Harbin Mid-high density residential
e B PR AL M REEEE 792,500 127,912 93,610 6,668
CR Int'l Community Taizhou High density residential
HR A T REEEE 444,600 115,738 60,251 5952
Central Park Zibo High density residential
gl it REEEE 178,500 50,932 50,932 7,476
The Arch Zibo High density residential
1 B FRELEE 350,000 90,591 66,393 5922
Oak Bay Yancheng Mid-high density residential
EFL Wi R BT 575,000 86,693 86,693 9,591
City Crossing Weihai Mid-high density residential
thhe RER FRERET 193,115 46,118 46,118 7,204
Oak Bay Qinhuangdao  Mid-high density residential
e p L M REEEE 696,060 85,484 85,484 10,533
City Crossing Ganzhou High density residential
EFL H REEET 420,000 79,077 79,077 7,795
City Crossing Rizhao High density residential

TE - HEAFFGFEIEH SR Details of the Projects Delivered and Booked
in 2012

TR TS AEBEEBAEMBEERE 2012, the Group’s residential development business recorded a
WAHHE R385 2218 00 > S B AR £ 260.74  turnover of HK$38,522 million with 2.61 million square meters
B oK > 8 AR A A 3G R 23.1% F1 delivered, representing a year-on-year growth of 23.1% and 20.4%
20.4% o —F — AT B EH 1 E A respectively. The Group’s gross profit margin of residential development
FF536.9% > b EAFEN39.5% M K2.618 B business fell by 2.6 percentage points from 39.5% in 2011 to 36.9% in
grE s FERFAARFLBIHE WA AL 2012, mainly due to change in the project mix with an increase in the
WEEL ARG il > (REAIHE WL E L proportion of lower margin projects being booked in 2012 as compared
AR EF with that for the previous year.
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REE - E T FIEHEEFE NG Details of the projects booked and turnover of the Group in 2012 are
HERANT - listed below:

Project Name Turnvoer Area Booked
(% 000) (F77K)
(HK$’000) (Sqm)
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AR
Area Booked
(FI7K)

(Sqm)

B ER

Turnvoer
(#5%°000)

(HK$’000)

Since the beginning of 2013, the Group has maintained its momentum
in project sales and has achieved satisfactory sales performance. As of
10 March 2013, the Group has achieved contracted sales of RMB13,727
million involving a total of 1.15 million square meters in GFA,
representing a year-on-year growth of 175.8% and 151.8% respectively.
Together with contracted sales of RMB52,468 million that were achieved
before 2013 but remained unbooked, the Group has accumulated
RMBG66,195 million in sales that were contracted but unbooked and are
available for recognition in 2013 and years to come. Specifically, the
Group has locked in RMB40,071 million from residential development
for revenue recognition in 2013, thus laying down a solid foundation
for promising financial results in the year of 2013.

TR AR
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Review of Investment Property Business in
2012

As of 31 December 2012, book value of the investment properties of
the Group totalled HK$44,357 million, accounted for 19.4% of the
Group’s total assets value. In compliance with relevant accounting
policies, during the year under review, a revaluation gain of HK$3,320
million (net of taxation and non-controlling interests) was booked
according to an appraisal conducted by an independent third party on
the Group’s investment properties, including projects under
construction. In 2012, the turnover of property leasing business
including hotel business amounted to HK$3,836 million, representing a
year-on-year growth of 37.4%.

The following table sets out the turnover and occupancy rates of the
key investment properties in 2012:

& 5 (W °000)
Turnover (HK$°000)
2012 2011

P-4 L (%)
Average Occupancy Rate (%)
2012 2011

% yoy yoy (pt)

184,692
509,858
260,630
1,111,452
444,222
437,227
103,346
131,114
79,140
471,791
102,423
458,237
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AR B AE R A B A SESES I Details of the Group’s key investment properties in the PRC are listed

below:

A M T R A A T

AL H (1 TR

WL B AR T sl (5 K) (FJ5k)
Interest Attributable

Attributable to Total GFA GFA

Property Name City the Group (%) (Sqm) (Sqm)

E AR | 3]
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AT JREAN 4B THT

AL L iFiy

e A P e 3R T F B LL Al (CFJ5 %) (CCFHK)
Interest Attributable

Attributable to Total GFA GFA

Property Name City the Group (%) (Sqm) (Sqm)
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AT JREAN 4B THT

AL L ki

e A F B LL Al (CFJ5 %) (FJ5K)
Interest Attributable

Attributable to Total GFA GFA

Property Name the Group (%) (Sqm) (Sqm)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

AREBAEE AN FEAE LRSI Details of the Group’s key investment properties under construction or
FEAIANT

land bank planned for investment properties in the PRC are listed
below:

AL H AAMETETAE AN T T

LS B AR T sl (FT5K) (FJ5k)
Interest Attributable
Attributable to Total GFA GFA

Property Name City the Group (%) (Sqm) (Sqm)

ual Report 2012
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AR AR TAE PR AE T AR

GETA T A BB CFIK) CFIrK)
Interest Attributable

Attributable to Total GFA GFA

Property Name City the Group (%) (Sqm) (Sqm)
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AR AR TAE PR AE T AR

GETA T A BB CFIK) CFIrK)
Interest Attributable

Attributable to Total GFA GFA

Property Name City the Group (%) (Sqm) (Sqm)
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AR AR TAE PR AE T AR

GETA T A BB CFIK) CFIrK)
Interest Attributable

Attributable to Total GFA GFA

Property Name City the Group (%) (Sqm) (Sqm)
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A4 MM IS A T T
L/E 22 Fe M Ll (FJ5kK) (FI5k)
Interest Attributable
Attributable to Total GFA GFA
Property Name the Group (%) (Sqm) (Sqm)
ey i3 BESNHE S B 100.0% 17,519 17,519 [ES
Shimei Bay Project, Commercial Wanning Commercial
At 5,102,988 4,335,908
Total
o [EES 3,249,668 2,728,947
Comprising: Commercial
o 1,022,117 930,352
Office
s 831,203 670,609
Hotel

FEA YIS UHE e 36— A Al R AR E
BEEERR N E R I o AR B E G
P12 B 5 A W3 - T E ~ 5 A Y FHL ik
i 1 R OR AR 8 2 m R AT SE A 15 B 1Y
JEB > AL R A M B RETT -

—

T AR SR IR T
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PR 494 (L AR 55 2 KE T B 17 0 L) A
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In the future, the Group will focus more on investment property,
especially commercial property. Moreover, the Group plans to launch
one to two investment property projects each year. The stable and
recurrent rental income will continue to offer the Group greater
operational resilience to defend itself against industry’s cyclicality and
will help optimize the Group’s earning sustainability.

REVIEW OF THE VALUE-ADDED SERVICES
IN 2012

Guided by customers’ needs, the Group has further strengthened its
differentiated business model in its value-added services. After years of
efforts, the Group’s value-added services have formed a relatively
mature model, which is “piloting — standardizing — promoting — re-
piloting”. The creative “standardized and serialized storage space
solution” and “flexible/adjustable furniture for small apartments” have
been implemented in 34 projects of the Group and have received
encouraging feedbacks from customers. Meanwhile, the Group will
gradually standardize and patent its product designs in value-added
services and market the products under specifically-created brands.

In 2012, the Group further broadened its scope of value-added services
and launched pilot projects with the focus in provision of tailor-made
customer services. Specifically, value-added services such as butler
service, community service, better solution to utilize underground
spaces, value-added service for saleable commercial products and
landscape design services have been piloted in Beijing, Shanghai, Wuxi,
Yancheng, Ganzhou and Wuhan, some of the trials have shown
promising results.
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LAND BANK

Since the beginning of 2012, the Group has acquired a total GFA of 4.90
million square meters of land bank with a total cost of RMB9,319
million (including HK$2,117 million consideration paid for assets
acquired from China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited). As of 10
March 2013, the total land bank of the Group amounted to 29.36 million
square meters in GFA. Details are set out below:

A8 g S
(FJ5 %)

Region Total GFA (Sqm)

R AR
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A S A

(F75K)

Total GFA (Sqm)

& Weihai 475,969

R Qinhuangdao* 138,408

HEN Ganzhou* 764,617

H g Rizhao 494,493

P % Xian* 1,074,711

WA * Wenzhou* 280,000

At Total 29,359,359
* T EE B (4 AL 5T 4N T8 L AL 5T P 1 H R * The Group holds100.0% interest in both Beijing Park Land and Beijing Positano Vila

it 24 100.0% > A ZE [ L BT B IE H 1Y HE 7
74 98.5% » A 4E [ b 57tk I Al A A A
97.1% 2 f 7t 5 AN BE 1k L i 5 o 15 T H HE 77
H950.0% » A ZE [ i |- 75 45 481 8 T 5 7 19
99.8% > A LE B fl | 5 Hb I Al A A
100.0% & HE#s 5 ASTE [ {4 bt ) Hb iz - b 4 T 119
HE 25 55 60.0% 5 455 (3] )k 0 £5 K 387 [ 55 #1- fi 1
H 1 1 22 75 60.0% 5 75 5 [F] 1 % 0 5] g ' 76 H
1 HE 37 25 50.0% 5 AN 55 [H] i K 21 12 VA 6 5 )
H 191 25 25 55.0% > 75 5E [B] i A 78 2 i Jok 5 TH
H BYHE 75 23 60.0% 5 A< SE [ 1 78 9 28 K L BB I
H 75 1951.0% 5 25 [ 1 K 13 b S 23 [81 7 H
1Y 18 2 75 98.5% 5 A< BE (8] {; 7 55 T H HE 75 5
97.1% ; 75 S5 [B] fik 55 I 452 461 155 JE 5 11 7 2%
52.0% 5 AT [Nk B NI H 19 75 75 65.0% ;A
SE (3] )k 75 2 AR 4 T H B HE s 5 97.1% 5 AR
SE (B ) i M 2 R 0 I H B A 28 55.0% 5 AR
SE 5] 1 P48 F 9 HE 75 5 51.0% 5 AN 5E [ 14 0
M IE H B9 RS 75 51.0% 752 B 14 #F M B2 1Ly i
MBS T H 9T RS 15 51.0% 5 752 [ 4 By 4 =
P4 TE B9 HE 75 5 55.0% 5 7K 5[] 17 By 4 3 R o
O TE H B9 HE RS #555.0% © B Ak g R T H 46
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Projects, 98.5% in Beijing Oak Bay Project and 97.1% in all other projects in Beijing;
the Group holds 50% interest in Shanghai Wuzbong Road Project, 99.8% in Shanghai
Oak Bay Project and 100.0% in all other projects in Shanghai; the Group’s interests in
Hangzhou and Wuxi Taibu International Community Project are both 60.0%; the
Group holds 50.0% interest in Ningbo The Arch Project, and the Group’s interest in
Dalian Oriental Xanadu is 55.0%; the Group holds 60.0% interest in Dalian CR
Plaza Project; the Group holds 51.0% interest in Shenyang The Bound of Mukden
Project; the Group’s interests in Tianjin Central Park is 98.5% and its interest in
Qingdao project is 97.1%; the Group also holds 52.0% interest in Yancheng Oak Bay
project, 65.0% interest in Huizhou project, 97.1% interest in Qinbuangdao Oak Bay,
and 55.0% interest in Ganzhou City Crossing project; the Group’s interest in Xian
project and Wenzhou projects are both 51.0%; the Group bolds 51.0% interest in
Suzhou Kunshan Qianjin Road project and 55.0% interest in Nantong Changhua
Road project; the Group'’s interest in Nanning City Crossing project is 55.0%. Other
than the above mentioned projects, the Group holds 100.0% interest in all other
projects.

Sufficient land bank has laid a solid foundation for the Group’s
sustainable growth in the future. The Group’s geographic presence has
been expanded to 42 cities (with addition of Xian, Wenzhou and
Nanning).

Looking forward, the Group will continue to replenish new land bank
according to its business development strategies while maintaining
prudent financial policies. Further land bank acquisitions will be funded
by the Group’s internal resources together with external financing.
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BORROWINGS AND DEBT RATIO, ASSET
PLEDGE, AND RISK OF EXCHANGE RATE

FLUCTUATIONS

As of 31 December 2012, the Group had a total debt of HK$59,915
million equivalent. Cash and bank balances amounted to HK$21,953
million. The Group’s net interest-bearing debt to equity ratio (including
minority interests) stood at 49.6%.

As of 31 December 2012, 26.9% of the Group’s interest-bearing debt
was denominated in RMB and 73.1% in HK$ and USD. Maturity wise,
approximately 20.5% of the interest-bearing debt is repayable within
one year while the rest is long term debt. The Group has maintained its
borrowing cost at a relatively low level, and the weighted average
interest rate of its total interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December
2012 was around 3.77%.

Details of the Group’s assets being pledged as of 31 December 2012 are

listed below:

BEEH
(NR¥TE) 5 H F3 H
Total Facility
Quota Starting Ending
HAEH Pledged Project (RMB’000) Date Date
ACRTEVE L JE B A VY AR TR Land use right of project under 450,000 2011.12.02 2015.06.30
T34t A5 R RE construction of Beijing Positano
Vita Western A Block
FURIWOR 8 H-20 Hb B Land use right of H-20 Plot, 950,000 2012.05.22 2027.05.21
Rainbow City East
b @73 pN ] Beijing CR Building 700,000 2008.12.22 2013.12.22
RGN Shanghai CR Times Square 1,000,000 2009.07.20 2016.07.20
e [E -GN Shenzhen CR Building 400,000 2009.01.21 2014.01.20
VEHI T 52 958 Shenzhen The MIXc 1,500,000 2010.12.30 2020.12.29
GEYIE D T Shenzhen Grand Hyatt Hotel 1,500,000 2010.12.27 2025.12.26
AR A DU 3R UG B 15# R+ i (A Land use right of Chengdu 500,000 2012.01.10 2015.01.04
Twenty-Four City Ph.4, Block 15
AR LB =3 147 M E 3 A Land use right of Chengdu 500,000 2012.06.11 2015.06.10
Phoenix City Ph.3, Block 14
BERARABHE —3 ~ 4 AT 13# L Land use right of Chengdu Oak Bay 390,000 2011.10.31 2014.10.31
- b fof R E Ph.2,Block 13, Section 3 & 4
RERBNEIEE — 12 > 3984 Project Under Construction of 60,000 2011.06.15 2014.06.14
EE TR Wuhan Oak Bay Ph.1,
Shop No.2 & 3
ZE - CARERR
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WK B
(ARW¥TI)

Total Facility
(02170) 721
Pledged Project (RMB’000)
Land use right of Hefei The Arch 250,000
Ph.1 Residential 6# & 9# and
Commercial 1#, 2# and 5#
Land use right of and Project 1,300,000
Under Construction of
Hangzhou The MIXc Ph.2

Hangzhou The MIXc 500,000

Land use right of 380,000
Wuxi Park Lane Manor Ph.1

Land use right of and Project 160,000

Under Construction of
Dalian Oriental Xanadu Building
25-1, 25-2, and 25-3
Land use right of Dalian Oriental 360,000
Xanadu Ph.2 Hotel,
Ph.2 Residential, and
Ph.3 Residential
Land use right of Dalian Oriental 70,000
Xanadu Ph.2 Hotel,
Ph.2 Residential, and
Ph.3 Residential
Land use right of Suzhou The Bound 250,000
of Kunyu Section B2, and
Section Al-2

Land use right of 95,000
Chonggqing Central Park Ph.4

Partial Land Use Right of Changzhou 140,000
CR Int'l Community Ph.1

Land use right of Changzhou CR Intl 100,000
Community Ph.2

Land use right of and Project 56,550

Under Construction of
Nanjing Ning Mansion Ph.1,
Building 5

Project Under Construction of 87,000
Nanjing Ning Mansion Ph.1,
Building 3

Zhengzhou In City 400,000

4G H

Starting
Date

2012.04.23

2012.05.10

2011.12.21

2011.03.23

2011.08.17

2011.04.28

2011.08.17

2012.06.25

2011.12.30

2011.11.28

2011.11.28

2011.12.21

2012.08.14

2009.08.07

EZR R R

Ending
Date

2013.01.16

2017.05.09

2017.12.31

2014.03.22

2018.08.22

2018.08.22

2018.08.22

2017.06.24

2014.12.29

2014.11.27

2014.11.27

2013.12.01

2014.07.26

2018.08.25
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Pledged Project

B S
UNE & )
Total Facility
(02170) 721
(RMB’000)

4G H EZIRANER

Starting
Date

Ending
Date

SO BEIRF 1 ~ 2 300 o (5 I HE Land use right of Zhengzhou 300,000 2012.05.07 2015.05.17
MIXc Residence Ph.1 & Ph.2
A 5 SR Ak — ) % 2 K I Land use right of Zhengzhou 800,000 2012.06.21 2015.06.21
i FH R The MIXc Ph.1 and CR Building
B S oD Nanning The MIXc 862,097 2010.09.08 2015.09.07
e T 5 S S SR S A A Hainan Wanning Shimei Bay Le 470,000 2011.11.08 2026.11.07
+ b fifi I HE Meridien Hotel and its
Land Use Right
A M il B B I 24 95 A ~ BHE  Land use right of Shimei Bay 280,000 2012.12.25 2022.12.24
b £t A B Holiday Resort Block 24# A & B
7 ] 2 B A [ D Mo R F L FABE Land use right of Taizhou 150,000 2011.12.15 2013.11.09
CR Int'l Community Block D
TS 1R P o 2 [ — 0 - b s Land use right of 145,000 2012.03.31 2014.03.30
Zibo Central Park Ph.1
fat Total 15,105,647

ASE B3 2 AR TIHE MBEY) EHE 1
1E P B A TH RN R AR E 102 2 Tt
{6 > ANEEALEEIBR O AR AR R

i B K 35 B ok

BE_ZFZ—-"F+_HA=1T—H > &~EH
7E H B A N A U R T 17,301 44 2k B
T (45 NS M LB E AT - &K
EERIEE TWEERD - T/EKBMT
5 TEAKTFARYE B TR HE - tbsh > /1
& TEMES > Hb B THEAMEIE AR
&~ PRBp LR o

AR A M
% 5 8 90 3 0 50 A 5 6 AT 1 ek
i o SATAS I 33 1 5K o AT B
1) 3 2 B AR R (AR ) MR IR %
PEIR o R B B2 AP
WAEK o

The Group’s residential and investment properties are all located in
Mainland China. We do not expect RMB appreciation, if any, to have
negative impact on the Group’s financial position.

EMPLOYEE AND COMPENSATION POLICY
As of 31 December 2012, The Group has approximately 17,301 full time
staff in Mainland China and Hong Kong (including its property
management and agency subsidiaries). The Group remunerates its
employees based on their performance, experience and the prevailing
market pay level. In addition, performance bonuses are granted on a
discretionary basis. Other employee benefits include provident fund,
insurance and medical coverage.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by the
purchasers of the Group’s properties. Such guarantees will be released
by banks upon the delivery of the properties to the purchasers or
completion of the relevant mortgage properties registration, whichever
is later. In the opinion of directors, the fair value of the financial
guarantee contracts is not significant.

SR TREER
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MR. WANG YIN, aged 56

was appointed Chairman of the Company in June 2009. He is
responsible for the overall business development and strategic planning
of the Group’s business. He was appointed as Vice Chairman of China
Resources (Holdings) Co., Ltd. (“CRH”) in November 2011. Mr. Wang is
also a Director of China Resources National Corporation and a Director
of China Vanke Co., Ltd, which is a listed company in China. Mr. Wang
has a Bachelor of Economics degree from Shandong University in China
and an MBA degree from the University of San Francisco in the United
States. He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1984
and joined the Company in 2001.

MR. WU XIANGDONG, aged 45

was appointed Managing Director of the Company in June 2009. Mr.
Wu has a double Bachelor’s degree in Architectural Management and
Mechanics from Tsinghua University, China and an MBA degree from
the University of San Francisco in the United States. Mr. Wu has
experience in corporate management and commercial property
operation. Mr. Wu joined CRH in 1993 and was the Vice General
Manager of China Resources Property Management Limited. He joined
the Company in 2005

MR. YAN BIAO, aged 51

was appointed Executive Director of the Company in February 1996
and was re-designated as Non-Executive Director in February 2006. Mr.
Yan is a Director of CRH and China Resources National Corporation
and is the Director of Legal Affairs of the China Resources Group. He is
also a Non-Executive Director of China Resources Enterprise, Limited.
Mr. Yan was appointed Supervisor of China Resources Sanjiu Medical &
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd in November 2010, a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Yan has a Bachelor of Laws degree from
the Peking University, China and an MBA degree from the University of
San Francisco, USA. He joined CRH in 1985.
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MR. DU WENMIN, aged 49

was appointed Non-Executive Director of the Company in August 2007.
Mr. Du is currently a Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer
of CRH. Mr. Du is also the Non-Executive Director of China Resources
Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Power Holdings Company, China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited and China Resources Gas Group
Limited. Mr. Du is also a Non-Executive Director of China Resources
Microelectronics Limited, whose listing position on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange was withdrawn on 2 November 2011. He is also a
Director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.,
which is listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and China Resources
Double-crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. Mr. Du served as a Managing Director of China
Resources Construction (Holdings) Limited, and an Audit Controller of
CRH. Mr. Du has an MBA degree from the University of San Francisco,
USA. He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1985.

MR. DING JIEMIN, aged 55

was appointed Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2008. Mr. Ding is currently an Assistant to the President of Tongji
University, the President of Tongji Architectural Design (Group) Co.,
Ltd. He is also the Chairman of Shanghai Tongji Science & Technology
Industrial Co., Ltd, which is listed on the Stock Exchange of Shanghai,
China. Mr. Ding holds the certificates for a China national class 1
registered structural engineer, a registered consultant engineer (in
investment), and a senior registered structural engineer in British Royal
Institution of Structural Engineers. He has a doctor’s degree in
engineering from Tongji University, China.

MR. WEI BIN, aged 43

was appointed as Non-Executive Director of the Company in October
2010. He has been appointed the Chief Financial Officer of CRH with
effect from 1 April 2011 and is the General Manager of its Finance
Department. He is also a Non-Executive Director of China Resources
Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Gas Group Limited, China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited, China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited and China Resources Microelectronics Limited, which
are companies listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange except China Resources Microelectronics Limited whose
listing position was withdrawn on 2 November 2011, and a Director of
China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Shan Dong
Dong-E E-Jiao Co., Ltd, and China Vanke Co., Ltd., which are listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and China Resources Double-crane
Ltd. which is listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange. Mr. Wei holds a Bachelor’s degree in Auditing from

Pharmaceutical Co.,

Zhongnan University of Economics in China and a Master’s degree in
Finance from Jinan University in China, and is a Senior Accountant and
a Senior Auditor in China. He is also a non-practising member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wei joined CRH in
2001.

SR TREER
Annual Report 2012

45



46

i

J”IHI

5 JE
SO QEIN=

I B iR

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

HER A - BUETL /UK

AR TAENAERAE R ATESE
B —F——AE I AE AL B - B 3
W FR AR o e R AL R
L= A SE A FR2 m) K 3 R K e 222 BB PR
28 A] (W A0 R AR I 5 B i) B TR AT
wR M H - F - AN LENEE
T3P AT B ) R AR S B AT PR A )
(W 2% 2 ml B AE W 52 B B ) B9 9 (LA 6
F oo WA R—IUNEFEBREPEARK
B2 B R BROERRAR o SO0 — JUIL N AR ST
2 e {65 2 i S AR 3 A L B AS  J
LN Rl TS E
wEA B AR TR P B R
7 SEAR AT m B 3 1 BE R IR B S
V&~ JENHRIR B R RRIR B o PR
F RSB E IR A R AR o

BB e > BLARDD + %

AT F— AN AR BA N F R BUAT
I o BT A BEAT: 4 R 4R R RN 0 AR A
o PR AT R AISEA PR A] ~ #E
TIPBERAT R A A ~ SE A S AT PR A )
LR KPR A PR R JE AT -
PR SE AL I AT A b 1 R IR 58 B B B 2 3
T80 B B S8 B AT IR R B R TR YN 55 52
oy B b 2 3 = LB A A R A
ER SR A RS R 2 - BUCA R
A7 o I i A OR B i S A P B B - B I
[ A e B P A B R AR LB o R
== AR E - B R AT
AT (FEB) A R F] AR A #] o

ERSEL > BFEAR+ R

= JUIL-E AR A ZAT I3 A 23 w5 JF
PATES o FILAERNEIIGESFZS T £
W2 ERR A RA A ER T L
IR EAEAL NN ®) ~ o 3 o 7 A4 A7 BR A
)~ 5 R ST I A B B A RS D B
BACE AR P2 A R /] 2 S JE HUAT
o F ST A T T N e B e PR
A

.
Annual Report 2012

MR. HUANG DAOGUO, aged 58

was appointed a Non-Executive Director in June 2012. He joined China
Resources Group in 2011 and is currently the Audit Director of CRH. He
has been a Non-Executive Director of China Resources Enterprise,
Limited and China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (both companies
are listed on the Stock Exchange) since May 2012 and has been a Non-
Executive Director of China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited and China Resources Gas Group Limited (both companies are
listed on the Stock Exchange) since June 2012. Mr. HUANG graduated
from the Renmin University of China in 1987 and specialized in finance.
He obtained a master’s degree of regional economics from the Central
China Normal University, China in 1996. He is a Certified Public
Accountant and a Senior Auditor in the PRC. He joined the National
Audit Office of the PRC (*CNAO”) in 2000 and was the Commissioner
of the Wuhan Resident Office and Guangzhou Resident Office of
CNAO, and Director of the Department of Agriculture, Resources and
Environmental Protection Audit of CNAO.

MR. CHEN YING, aged 42

was appointed as Non-Executive Director of the Company in June 2012.
Mr. Chen is the General Manager of Strategy Management Department
of CRH. He is also a Non-Executive Director of China Resources
Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited,
China Resources Gas Group Limited and China Resources Cement
Holdings Limited. Mr. Chen is also a Director of China Resources
Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Company Limited, which is listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, and China Resources Sanjiu Medical &
Pharmaceutical Company Limited and China Vanke Co., Ltd, which are
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Chen has a Bachelor’s
degree in Architectural Management from Tsinghua University, China
and an MBA degree from the University of Oxford. Mr. Chen joined
CRH in 1993, and has worked for China Resources Construction
(Holdings) Co., Ltd. and the Company successively.

MR. WANG SHI, aged 62

was appointed Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in
April 1997. Mr. Wang is also the Chairman of China Vanke Co., Ltd,
which is listed on the Stock Exchange of Shenzhen. Mr. Wang is also an
Independent Non-Executive Director of SOHU.Com Inc., Central China
Real Estate Group Limited, Shanghai Metersbonwe Fashion and
Accessories Co., Ltd. and Modern Media Holdings Limited. He has a
Bachelor of Science degree from Lanzhou Railway College in China.
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MR. ANDREW Y. YAN, aged 55

was appointed Independent Non-Executive Director in July 2006. He is
currently the Founding Managing Partner of SAIF Partners. Prior to
joining SAIF Partners, he was the Managing Director and Head of Hong
Kong office of Emerging Markets Partnership, responsible for
investment in Northeast Asia and Greater China from 1994 to 2001.
From 1989 to 1994, he worked in the World Bank, the Hudson Institute
and the US Sprint International Corporation as an Economist, Research
Fellow and Director of Strategic Planning and Business Development
for the Asia Pacific Region respectively in Washington D.C.. From 1982
to 1984, he was the Chief Engineer at the Jianghuai Airplane Corp.. Mr.
Yan received a bachelor’s degree in engineering from Nanjing
Aeronautic Institute in 1982. He studied in the Master Program in
Department of Sociology of Peking University from 1984-1986 and
received a Master of Arts’ degree from Princeton University in
International Political Economy in 1989. He also studied advanced
finance and accounting courses at the Wharton Business School in

1995.

Currently, Mr. Yan is also the Chairman and Non-executive Director of
NVC Lighting Holding Limited; an Independent Non-executive Director
of Fosun International Limited, China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
and China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation; Non-executive Director
of Digital China Holdings Limited, MOBI Development Co., Ltd., China
Huiyuan Juice Group Limited, eSun Holdings Limited and Guodian
Technology & Environment Group Corporation Limited, all of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Other than that
China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation is also listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, London Stock Exchange and New York Stock
Exchange. He is also an Independent Director of Giant Interactive
(listed on the New York Stock Exchange); Director of
Acorn International Inc. (listed on the New York Stock Exchange), ATA

Group Inc.,

Inc. (listed on Nasdaq) and Eternal Asia Supply Chain Management Ltd.
(listed on the Small and Medium Enterprise Board of the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange).

MR. HO HIN NGAI, BOSCO, aged 68

was appointed Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in
September 2005. Mr. Ho is a graduate from the Department of
Architecture of University of Hong Kong. He worked in several
renowned architectural practices in UK and HK before founding Ho &
Partners Architects Engineers and Development Consultants Limited in
1980. He is Authorized Person (Architect) Hong Kong, Member of Hong
Kong Institute of Architects and of Royal Institute of British Architects.
The projects he designed can be found in Mainland China, Hong Kong,
India, South-East Asia and Middle East, he has published a book called
“Building in China”.
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MR. WAN KAM TO, PETER, aged 60

was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
in March 2009. Mr. Wan has been a practicing accountant in Hong
Kong for over 30 years and has extensive experience in auditing,
finance, advisory and management. He is a former partner of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong firm. Mr. Wan is currently an
Independent Director of Mindray Medical International Limited (a
company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, USA), and RDA
Microelectronics, Inc. (a company listed on the NASDAQ), and the
Chairman of their Audit Committees. Mr. Wan is also an Independent
Non-executive Director of several companies listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and Chairman/member of their Audit
Committees, namely, Dalian Port (PDA) Company Limited, Fairwood
Holdings Limited, GreaterChina Professional Services Limited, Huaneng
Renewables Corporation Limited and KFM Kingdom Holdings Limited.
He is a Fellow of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Accountants, the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors.

MR. FREDERICK MA SI HANG, GBS, JP, aged 61

was appointed Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in
March 2010. Mr. Ma graduated from the University of Hong Kong in
1973 with a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) degree in economics and
history. Mr. Ma has held senior management positions in international
financial institutions and Hong Kong publicly listed companies in his
career. In July 2002, he left the private sector and joined the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region as the
Secretary for Financial Services and the Treasury and assumed the post
of Secretary for Commerce and Economic Development in July 2007.
He resigned from the Government in July 2008 due to medical reasons.
In October 2008, he was appointed as an Honorary Professor of the
School of Economics and Finance at the University of Hong Kong. In
July 2009, he was appointed as a Member of the International Advisory
Council of China Investment Corporation. In July 2010, he was
appointed as a Director of Husky Energy Inc. In March 2011, he was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Hutchison Port
Holdings Management Pte. Limited and a Non-Executive Director of
COFCO Corporation. In April 2011, he was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of Agricultural Bank of China. In
July 2012, He was appointed as a Professor of Finance Practice of
Institute of Advanced Executive Education at the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. In January 2013, He was appointed as a
Member of Global Advisory Council of the Bank of America.
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MR. TANG YONG, aged 41

joined the Company in 2001, currently is a Senior Vice President of the
Company and the General Manager of Chengdu Region. Mr. Tang has a
Bachelor’s degree of Engineering in Industrial and Electrical Automation
from Tongji University, China and an MBA degree from the University
of San Francisco in the United States. Mr. Tang has experience in
property management and corporate management. Mr. Tang joined
CRH in 1993, and had worked for China Resources Property
Management Limited.

MR.WANG HONGKUN, aged 45

joined the Company in 2011, currently is a Senior Vice President of the
Company and the General Manager of China Resources Land Hainan
Province. Mr. Wang has a Bachelor of Chemical engineering degree and
a Master degree in biochemical industry, both from Tianjin University.
Mr. Wang joined CRH in 1993 and was the Deputy General Manager of
Enterprise Development Dept, and also was Vice President of China
Resources Vanguard Co., Ltd, and also was the director of CRC
Development & Investment Company Limited, with comprehensive
experiences in the management of multi-industries as well as investment
management.

MR. ZHAO ZHUOYING, aged 47

joined the Company in 2011, currently is a Vice President and CFO of
the Company. Mr. Zhao holds a Master’s degree in Economics from Sun
Yat-Sen University in China. He joined CRH in 1986, and has nearly 20
years’ experience in financial management. Mr. Zhao worked as the
manager of Finance Department of Teck Soon Hong Ltd., a Director
and Deputy General Manager of China Resources Machinery &
Minmetals (Holdings) Co., Ltd, an Executive Director of Cosmos
Machinery Enterprises Limited and the Director and CFO of China
Resources Textiles (Holdings) Limited.

MR. WANG GUOHUA, aged 50

joined the Company in 20006, currently is the CFO of the Company. Mr.
Wang received his Bachelor’s degree in Inorganic Refractory Materials
Engineering from Wuhan Polytech University and then Master of
Science degree in International Banking and Finance from Heriott-Watt
University in Edinburgh, the UK, as a recipient of Senior Scholarship of
British Foreign Office and the only winner of the Professorial Prize of
the Business School of Heriott-Watt University in his academic year. Mr.
Wang had worked for over 10 years in Edinburgh, London and Hong
Kong respectively with several renowned international investment
banks in areas of fund management, equity research and corporate
finance.
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Construction Quality, Environmental
Protection, Energy Conservation and

Emission Control

As an integrated property company, the Group regards construction
quality as the key content of high-quality, and has introduced qualified
independent third party inspection over the past couple of years to
strictly control quality in every aspect of development process, thus the
Group’s high quality products spread in all cities it has presence. In
2012, Shenyang City Crossing Phase 1, Dalian Maritime Phase 1 and
Oriental Xanadu Phase 1 won national Guang Sha Prizes in residential
development. Meanwhile, Beijing Oak Bay C2, Chengdu Twenty-Four
City Phase 1 won the Gold Medal of Tien-yow Jeme Outstanding
Residential Community.

To fulfill its corporate social responsibility, the Group broadly promotes
energy-saving technology and provides more energy-efficient residential
and investment properties. By encouraging its projects to apply for the
certificate of green construction and design, the Group continuously
focuses on energy-saving and emission reduction implementations. In
2012, seven projects successfully obtained the certificates of green
construction, three of them were residential projects: Chengdu Twenty-
Four City Phase 4 and Phase 5, Nanjing Ning Mansion, and Nanning
Park Lane Manor; four investment properties were Hangzhou MIXc
Phase 2 office building, Chengdu CR Plaza office building, Chengdu
MiXc office building, and CRC LOGIC office building. More projects are
in the process of application for the certificates.

Social Philanthropy

For years, the Group promotes the practices of being graceful and
repaying back to society, and has hosted various activities such as
“Caring for Construction Workers’ Kids”, “Blood Donation” and
“Education Sponsor”. Internally, the Group established a fund for the
“Caring of front-line employees” to help front-line employees and their
families in case of serious illness or accidents.

Under coordination of CRH, the Group leveraged its expertise in
property development and participated in the Hope Village charity
project, which provides industry support and comfortable living
environment for local farmers. Apart from the established Hope Villages
in Guangxi Baise, Hebei Xibaipo and Hunan Shaoshan, the Group has
recently involved in planning and construction of new Hope Villages in
Beijing Miyun, Fujian Longyan Gutian, Guizhou Zunyi, and Hainan
Wanning.
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Training and Employee Development

In 2012, the Group continuously focused on professional development
and organizational capacity enhancement. Since the establishment of
“CR Land Academy” in June 2012, various training and development
programs were lectured and carried out by internal experienced
managers. During the year, there were twenty-one managers lectured in
key training programs. Meanwhile, the group headquarter coordinated
with regional headquarters for further training implementation in
regional levels.

32 managers with good performance and promising potentials were
selected to attend a 45-day training program: “The Way of China
Resources Management”. The program helped participants better
understand the corporate culture, while broadened participants’ vision
in cross-industry operation and management. In order to build capacity
through practices, the program accomplished two reports specialized in
lean management: “Lean Management of Quick Response to Customer
Complaints” and “Research on High Quality Products in Third and
Fourth-tier Cities”. The results of the two reports have been piloted and
promoted in the Group.

In order to match the rapid growth with a structured pipeline of talent
and professionals pool, the Group continues to host “mid-level
leadership” training courses. Together with newly-initiated ones, 24
courses have been launched with 1,185 trainees. The leadership courses
are designed in four modules, namely “strategic thinking and
execution”, “organizational capability”, “team leadership” and “self-
recognition”, while specialized and action learning courses have been
set up based on specific regional strategic and management
requirements.

To enhance professional capacity in property sector, the Group held
two advanced training seminars — “Engineering” and “Property
Management”, mid-high level managers from group headquarter and
regional headquarters attended the seminars. The “Engineering”
seminar, with 43 trainees, focused on implementation of product quality
control, project lean management and regional construction lean
management, and formed 17 management regulations and guidelines.
“Property Management” seminar, attended by 28 managers, focused on
improving customer satisfaction and property management, with
respective management systems and guidelines formed accordingly.

To better take care of front-line employees and build a platform for
their learning and development, the Group held a “front-line key
members training program” for employees who showed good
performances and promising potentials. With 45 trainees, the program
integrated topics of corporate culture, business model, product lines
and primary leadership. Meanwhile, the program worked out a personal
career development plan for each trainee, and will follow up their
career development in the future. The program also serves as a sample
for each region to form a platform for front-line employee’s training and
development.
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BT, KMEBIE 477 EIE R In 2012, the Group recruited 477 fresh graduates and organized a 45-
T A4 KT KRR 2ZE | 8T day “Future Star” training camp for them. The training camp enhanced

Bl > 2RI T A TEAZE il new employees’ understanding of the Group’s corporate culture,
P RE > w7 TAEZE SR i SR ek 0 B management process and job requirements, thus laying a solid
By N A Fh IR a5l 28 o8 ALt o foundation for the building of talents echelon.

I R0 Blood Donation I LS B Educational Sponsor
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Company and the Board are committed to establishing good
corporate governance practices and procedures. The Company
recognizes the importance of maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to the long-term stable development of the Group, and thus
set up a Corporate Governance Committee on 9 March 2012 with an
aim to further improve the Group’s corporate governance standard. The
Company has adopted the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the “CG Code”) and its revised version which takes effect from April
2012 (the “New CG Code”) set out in the Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Board is pleased to report compliance with the code provisions set
out in the CG Code for the period from 1 January 2012 to 31 March
2012 and the code provisions set out in the New CG Code for the
period from 1 April 2012 to 31 December 2012, except for the
deviations as disclosed in this annual report. A review of the Company’s
corporate governance practices in 2012 is set out as follows:

Deviation from CG Code and New CG Code

In respect of code provision A.6.7 of the New CG Code, due to
overseas business travels and other business engagements, independent
non-executive directors Mr. Wang Shi, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Wan
Kam To, Peter, and Mr. Frederick Ma Si Hang and non-executive
directors Mr. Yan Biao, Mr. Du Wenmin, Mr. Ding Jiemin, Mr. Wei Bin,
Mr. Shi Shanbo and Dr. Zhang Haipeng were unable to attend the
Company’s annual general meeting held on 21 June 2012.

In respect of code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code and the New CG
Code, except the independent non-executive director Mr. Andrew Y.
Yan, other directors of the Company (including executive or non-
executive directors) were not appointed for a fixed term. The Articles of
Association of the Company stipulate that every director (including
executive and non-executive directors) shall retire and be re-elected at
least once every three years. Therefore, the Company has adopted
adequate measures to ensure the corporate governance of the Company
complies with the same level to that required by the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices and the Corporate Governance Code. During the
year, all directors entered into formal letters of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years and they are subject to re-election
by shareholders at annual general meeting in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry with all directors, the
Company confirmed that all directors have complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code regarding their securities
transactions during 2012.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the formulation of strategies, objectives
and business plans for the Company, and to supervise and control the
implementation of strategies of the Company and its operations and
financial performance, and formulation of appropriate risk control
policies and procedures to ensure the achievement of the Company’s
strategic objectives. In addition, the Board is also responsible for
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance of the Company.
The Directors are accountable for promoting the success of the
Company and making decisions objectively in the best interests of the
Company.

In order to maintain a highly efficient operation, as well as flexibility
and swiftness in operational decision-making, the Board, when
necessary, may delegate its managing and administrative powers to the
management, and provide clear guidance regarding such delegation so
as to avoid seriously impeding or undermining the overall capabilities
of the Board in exercising its powers. The management meets regularly
to review the strategic goals, corporate structure, operating procedures,
budget implementation, major projects and business plans of the
Company. Duties and authorities delegated to the various board
committees are described in the respective sessions below.

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business of the Company. A balanced
composition of executive directors and non-executive directors helps to
ensure the independence of the Board and enables the Board to make
independent judgments effectively. The operation and management of
the Board and the day-to-day management of the Company’s business
should be clearly divided at the Board level to ensure that there is a
balance of power and authority and that power will not be concentrated
in any one individual.
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Board Composition

With effect from 22 June 2012, the following changes to the Board took
place: (1) Mr. Shi Shanbo and Dr. Zhang Haipeng resigned as non-
executive directors; and (2) Mr. Huang Daoguo and Mr. Chen Ying
have been appointed as non-executive directors.

As at 31 December 2012, the Board comprised 13 directors, including 2
executive directors, namely, Mr. Wang Yin (Chairman) and Mr. Wu
Xiangdong (Managing Director), 6 non-executive directors, namely, Mr.
Yan Biao, Mr. Du Wenmin, Mr. Ding Jiemin, Mr. Wei Bin, Mr. Huang
Daoguo and Mr. Chen Ying, and 5 independent non-executive directors,
namely, Mr. Wang Shi, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco,
Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter and Mr. Frederick Ma Si Hang. Members of the
Board are not related to each other and the Chairman is not related to
the members of the Board, including financial, business, family or other
material relationship. The number of independent non-executive
directors represents more than one third of the Board as required under
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December
2012. Members of the Board and their biographical details are set out in
the Biographical details of directors and senior management section on
pages 44 to 49 of this report.

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive directors confirming their independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Directors and Officers’ Liability Insurance is in place to protect directors
and officers of the Group against their potential legal liabilities.

Directors’ Continuous Training and Development Programme
Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the New CG Code which took
effect on 1 April 2012, all directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant.

The Company has put in place an on-going training and professional
development program for directors.

With effect from 1 April 2012, all directors of the Company have been
provided with monthly updates on the Group’s business operation,
position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each
director to discharge their duties.

All directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company has sent reading materials to directors on regulatory updates
or information relevant to the Company or its business.
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RNFICIEHELE RPN FNEZIFEE The Company has received from all directors records of their
EWREINZ AL - GEFEIESHEH T continuous professional development trainings during the year. Details
% of which are set out in below table:

FRA S B e 2 U

Type of Continuous Professional Development

B A B

VNATE

e B HEHZ
BREKES Bl B WA A
B WF & HillekEwr fEPEZIEA

Reading

Attending regulatory

seminar on updates or

regulatory information Visiting the

development relevant to Company’s
and directors’ the Company projects
duties or its business in PRC

T Ep Wang Yin v 4
EAGEE Wu Xiangdong v/ v
& Ee Yan Biao v v v
R Du Wenmin 7 v/ 4
TER Ding Jiemin 4

ook Wei Bin v v/ v/
W E Huang Daoguo 4 v/ v
BE Chen Ying v v/ v/
+ A Wang Shi v/

2 Andrew Y.Yan v v/ v
o] B 5% Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 4

FHERTE Wan Kam To, Peter 4 v/ v/
= Frederick Ma Si Hang v 7 v
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Board and General Meetings

Four regular meetings of the Board and one Annual General Meeting
were held during the year of 2012. The attendance of each director at
the meetings is set out as follows:

HREEHE RAUHERE
EHEEY Name of Director Board Meeting AGM

* There were two board meetings and one AGM beld during the tenure of the director;

- There were two board meetings but no AGM beld during the tenure of the director.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The roles of Chairman and Managing Director of the Company are held
separately by Mr. Wang Yin and Mr. Wu Xiangdong respectively. The
segregation of duties of the Chairman and the Managing Director
ensures a clear distinction in the Chairman’s responsibility to manage
the Board and the Managing Director’s responsibility to manage the
Company’s day-to-day business.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal

All directors entered into formal letters of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years during the year and they are subject
to re-election by shareholders at annual general meeting and at least
once every three years on a rotation basis in accordance with Article
116 of the Articles of Association of the Company. A retiring director is
eligible for re-election and re-election of retiring directors at annual
general meetings is dealt with by separate individual resolutions. Where
vacancies arise at the Board, candidates are proposed and put forward
to the Board by the Nomination Committee as more fully explained
below under the section on Nomination Committee.

Board Committees

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 4 September 1998. As at 31 December 2012, all members
of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive directors,
namely, Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter (Chairman), Mr. Wang Shi, Mr. Ho Hin
Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan and Mr. Frederick Ma Si Hang, while
Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter holds accounting-related professional
qualifications.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee (as amended by the
Board on 9 March 2012) include the duties set out in Code Provisions
C.3.3 (@) to () and C.3.7 for the time being in force. Pursuant to the
New CG Code, the terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held two meetings
to review the financial statements of the Company and discussed with
the external auditor the impacts of the changes in accounting policies
on the Company, the application of accounting standards and of the
Listing Rules etc. and made recommendations thereof, as well as
advising the management on the enhancement of internal risk control
of the Company on an on-going basis.
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Attendance of members of the Audit Committee in 2012 is set out as
follows:

EHEEY Name of director Attendance
F+ eI Wan Kam To, Peter 2/2
+ A Wang Shi 0/2
] B3 Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 2/2
5 Andrew Y Yan 1/2
RS Frederick Ma Si Hang 2/2
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Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 7 April 2005. As at 31 December 2012,
a majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee are
independent non-executive directors. Mr. Andrew Y. Yan is the
Chairman and other members include Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr.
Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr. Frederick Ma Si Hang and Mr. Wang Yin.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee (as amended by
the Board on 9 March 2012) include the duties set out in Code
Provisions B.1.2 (a) to (h) for the time being in force. Pursuant to the
New CG Code, the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee has
determined the policy for the remuneration of executive directors,
assessed performance of executive directors, reviewed the incentive
mechanism of the Company. There were three meetings held by the
Remuneration Committee to approve the increase in salaries and
payment of discretionary bonus to executive directors and senior

B 2 4 A[’jg%@ﬁitﬂfﬁ%@% ) management during the year. In this regard, the Remuneration

BEER AR o S EE 2 B0y #E 4 Committee made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration

o packages of individual executive directors and senior management for

final adoption. The attendances at these meetings are as follows:

HREEY Name of Director Attendance
T g Wang Yin 0/3
o BB Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 3/3
F R IE Wan Kam To, Peter 3/3
Bk Andrew Y. Yan 3/3
R Frederick Ma Si Hang 3/3
-
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Salaries and other benefits
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes

Remuneration band

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the details of the remuneration
of the members of the senior management were as follows:

(W T)
HK$

41,263,057.00
543,372.00

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band
is set out below:

N

Number of persons

over HK$6,500,001 4

Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the five
highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 7 and 8 to the
financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 30 March 2007. As at 31 December
2012, members of Nomination Committee comprised four independent
non-executive directors, namely, Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr. Andrew Y.
Yan, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai and Mr. Frederick Ma Si Hang, and one executive
director, namely, Mr. Wang Yin (Chairman).

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board and identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members based on their
qualification, experience and potential contribution to the Company.
The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee (as amended by
the Board on 9 March 2012) include the duties set out in Code
Provisions A5.2 (a) to (d) for the time being in force. Pursuant to the
New CG Code, the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During 2012, one meeting was held by the Nomination Committee at
which Mr. Huang Daoguo and Mr. Chen Ying were recommended to
the Board to be appointed as non-executive directors, with effect from
22 June 2012. The attendance at this meeting is as follows:

HEES Name of Director Attendance

F Ep Wang Yin 1/1

{aT BA %% Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 1/1

F eI Wan Kam To, Peter 1/1

Bl %% Andrew Y. Yan 1/1

T Hp = Frederick Ma Si Hang 0/1
TEEREREY Corporate Governance Committee

ARrlzEEREZAEG (REERER
FHR_F-TAEEANARGL o R F
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The corporate governance committee of the Company (the “CG
Committee”) was established on 9 March 2012. As at 31 December
2012, members of CG Committee comprised four independent non-
executive directors, namely, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai (Chairman), Mr. Wan Kam
To, Peter, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, and Mr. Frederick Ma Si Hang and two
executive directors, namely, Mr. Wang Yin and Mr. Wu Xiangdong.

The terms of reference of the CG Committee include the duties set out
in Code Provisions D.3.1 (a) to (e) for the time being in force. The
terms of reference of the CG Committee are available on the website of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During 2012, one meeting was held by the CG Committee to approve
the amendments of the terms of reference of Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, to engage
external adviser to provide corporate governance compliance
assessment services for the Company and to approve the inside

WeEEZ BB information disclosure policy of the Company. The attendance at the
meeting is as follows:

HEBAH Name of Director Attendance
F Ep Wang Yin 0/1
EAny & Wu Xiangdong 0/1
] B %% Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 1/1
FHERIG Wan Kam To, Peter 1/1
- Andrew Y. Yan 1/1
BT Frederick Ma Si Hang 1/1

i &1tk B2 A% Accountability and Audit

B R4 Financial Reporting
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The directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
the annual reports, interim reports and financial statements of the
Company to ensure that the financial statements give a true and fair
presentation in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards. The statement by the independent auditor about its reporting
responsibilities relating to the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2012 is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages
87 to 88.

Independent Auditor

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent auditor’s
independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process. It
receives each year the letter from the independent auditor confirming
their independence and objectivity and holds meetings with
representatives of the independent auditor to consider the scope of its
audit, approve its fees, and the scope and appropriateness of non-audit
services, if any, to be provided by it. The Audit Committee also makes
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and retention of the
independent auditor.

Auditor’s Remuneration

An analysis of the fees of PricewaterhouseCoopers is shown in Note 11
to the financial statements. In the year ended 31 December 2012, a
provision of HK$1,559,000 was made in the financial statements for
service fee payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers for the annual audit and
review of interim financial statements, there was no non-audit service
fee for the year ended 31 December 2012.
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Company Secretary

The Company Secretary, Mr. LO Chi Lik Peter, is a practicing solicitor in
Hong Kong. Although the Company Secretary is not a full time
employee of the Company, he reports to the Board and is responsible
for advising the Board on governance matters. The primary contact
person of the Company with the Company Secretary is Mr. Wang
Guohua, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. During 2012, the
Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.

Shareholders’ Rights

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) and Putting
Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association of the Company, the
Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an EGM. General meetings
shall also be convened on the written requisition of any two or more
members of the Company deposited at the registered office specifying
the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists hold as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionists themselves or any of them representing more than one-
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the general
meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionists as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as
a Director

Article 120 of the Atrticles of Association of the Company provides that
no person, other than a retiring director, shall, unless recommended by
the Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of director at
any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to
propose that person for election as a director and notice in writing by
that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been given to the
Company provided that the minimum length of the period, during
which such notices are given, shall be at least 7 days. The period for
lodgment of such notices shall commence no earlier than the day after
the dispatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election
and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such meeting.
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Accordingly, if a shareholder wishes to nominate a person to stand for
election as a director of the Company at a general meeting, the
following documents must be validly served on the Company Secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong within the
period specified in Article 120 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, namely (1) his/her notice of intention to propose a resolution
to elect a nominated candidate as a director of the Company at the
general meeting which must include the name of the nominating
shareholder, his/her contact details and the number of the Company’s
ordinary shares held by the nominating shareholder; (2) a notice signed
by the nominated candidate of the candidate’s willingness to be elected;
(3) the nominated candidate’s information as required to be disclosed
under rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (4) the nominated
candidate’s written consent to the publication of his/her personal data.

The aforesaid procedures have been uploaded to the Company’s
website.

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by addressing them to the Investor Relations Manager of the
Company. The contact details are as follows:

Investor Relations Manager

China Resources Land Limited

46th Floor, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road,

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Email: crbgw@crc.com.hk

Tel No.: 852-2877 2330

Fax No.: 852-2877 9068
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Investor Relations
During 2012, there was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.

In 2012, the Company participated in road shows in Hong Kong,
Singapore and Europe organized by various investment banks, covering
issues on the results announcement and significant acquisitions and
presented to the investors operating results, development strategies and
latest business updates of the Company.

At the same time, the Company participated in various investment
conferences held in Hong Kong, Beijing, Shanghai, Singapore,
Shenzhen, Macau etc., and frequently met on an one-on-one basis with
fund managers and investors in Hong Kong and overseas, as well as
arranged on-site visits to the Company’s properties to actively create
opportunities for communication with the investors, so as to enable
them to timely understand the latest business development of the
Company and the industry environment of the real estate business of
China to enhance their understanding and confidence to the Company.

The following table sets out the major investor relations activities of the
Company performed in 2012:

R
Month EH) Activities
—H T2 L ARLSRAT Hh B EE H BNP Paribas China Property Corporate Day
January Fiy 1A% B HH I b EE R R Credit Suisse Asian Real Estate Conference

o e i (] A e Nomura China Property Corporate Day
=H IS R — AR R AR Announcement of the 2011 annual results
March o S A S Al & * Press conference

o FEA BSR4 A7 B il e * Briefing with analysts and fund managers

FUs - TN SE AR Post Results Roadshow in HK and Singapore
A T ER AT 2R 3 Jiw O b B A 3rd HSBC Annual Asian Property Conference
April
fiH BRI R — E R IEEE Macquarie Greater China Conference 2012
May AE SR AT 0K 78 4% i o ik CITI Asia Pacific Property Conference

R B B A/H A B BOCI Conference A/H

BB R IR A 17 Je v I B A 17th CLSA China Forum

UL 5e A6 V7 ol A 4R Barclays Capital Pan-Asia Real Estate Conference
7S H JEE R R 388 5 8 Jiw o B J.P. Morgan’s 8th Annual China Conference
June WG Gk China Merchants Securities Investors’ Conference
tH fEHESRAT — T — ARk / P B G H Ek Citi HK/China Conference 2012 (Property)

(Hh )

July FEREMOK L E H BofAML Greater China Property Corporate Day
J\H I R AR A SEAR Announcement of the 2012 interim results
August o BT [ B A g * Press conference

o FL 4 S8IRN 43 A7 B i g * Briefing with analysts and fund managers

ARUE ~ BTN B R A

Post Results Roadshow in HK, Singapore and Europe

ST AR
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JLA By - SRAT A s / R B E A e UBS HK/China property Conference
September BB 19 | 5 A 19th CLSA Investors’ Forum
+H 2% B RE 55 v I 7 Macquarie China Property Corporate Day
October R — TR #E R CEO W & GS Greater China CEO Summit 2012
+—H TEHESRAT B — P EE e Citi China Investor Conference 2012
November — FEFRHTIHFEE 11 & 06 K16 & Morgan Stanley 11th Annual Asia Pacific Summit
KREMIRGEF e Bank of America Merrill Lynch annual
Investor Conference
KAF R EE Gk Daiwa Investment Conference in HK
B R S H CLSA Property Access Day

ARAR A A LT3 A B i o B 5 3 B
BREE > BEEERAIEEZRE THA
GESRNCIGE VACIKESI S U Ty
AT S5 3 8w BEOR > DL B /]
R BN BRI AR B v o

P 8 B 4

o A B ) O A B A R A DL LB R
A BB A B A - IR Sy E A
MEATEAL > R IORETIALEBCT
A 2E5 HEL A JL B Ak o M9 ot T AT BOR
TAEFF > ELG S E BOAERG R > FEDId ST
— A Dl fife 37 B BE R B O A o E R
I [ % B 5 1A T B AR AT I R > LA
R FIT RS S B RS B R R A Y

AT T T A% T B AT Al AR R L P R
SRk A N TR N U DS S48
AP G &5 R AL 2R B~ T B R A
i e > [ TR B BB BT A i o DABREDR
P A )RR LA [ T R R o e Sh > R RRE
A% AR 1 25 B A A [ 1 S A% A E
> Ry T MY AE R B FLAH B AR
P IONTSE N T SN = et b
AR ] A P B4 AR A A A

S AR
Annual Report 2012

Looking ahead, we will continue to improve and perfect the
communication with investors and to provide them with more
opportunities to understand the business of the Company as well as to
enable the management of the Company to have a better understanding
of the requirements of the market on the Company, with an aim to
continue to enhance the internal management, profitability and
governance of the Company.

Internal Controls

The Board has overall responsibility for and is highly concerned with
the Group’s system of internal control and assessment and management
of risks. In meeting its responsibility, the Board seeks to increase risk
awareness across the Group’s business operations and has put in place
policies and procedures, including parameters of delegated authority,
which provide a framework for the identification and management of
risks. It also reviews and monitors the effectiveness of the systems of
internal control to ensure that the policies and procedures in place are
adequate.

Internal Audit Department is responsible for assessing the Group’s
internal control system, formulating an impartial opinion on the system,
and reporting its findings to the Audit Committee, the Chairman and the
senior management concerned as well as following up on all reports to
ensure that all issues have been satisfactorily resolved. In addition, a
regular dialogue is maintained with the Group’s external auditor so that
both are aware of the significant factors which may affect their
respective scope of work. During the year under review, the Board has
conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
system.
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The directors have pleasure in submitting to shareholders their report
and audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2012.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
activities of its principal subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities are
shown on page 160 to 171.

The segment information of the Group is set out in note 5 to the
financial statements.

Group Profit
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income set out on page
89 shows the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2012.

Dividends

The Board of Directors of the Company recommends the declaration of
a final dividend of HK27.3 cents (2011: HK16.6 cents) per share,
together with the interim dividend of HK6.3 cents per share, dividends
per share for the year amount to HK33.6 cents. The final dividend is
payable on 26 June 2013 to shareholders whose names appear on the
Register of Members of the Company on 11 June 2013.

Property, Plan and Equipment
Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set
out in note 15 to the financial statements.

Properties
Schedule of the principal properties of the Group is set out on page 4
to 16.

Share Capital
Movements in share capital during the year are set out in note 33 to the
financial statements.

e
Annual Report 2012

J&W

67



68

o

Report of the Directors

J]HHI

AR w4y TE Z A A
$“ﬂ7ﬁ¢“ﬁ2ﬁﬁ&&%ﬁﬁ&%
@ﬂ HRPE B2 B BRI 5E =+ A
5 (B IEHT) E“?@%aﬁk%&“
1@%a$ﬂ%%izﬁ@T LRI
TE BB AT IR RS AR > HRES R H R
SRR PR A MIARAFZ
JBe A7y T A AT A 1) BBE SR S A A IR SR S
RAFIRZE—F A =+—HH
VE 1 34 IR 22 At 5 922 5 1 31,550,544,000
j‘Do

o

AAEBE R LB A & A SR

y

EN
FENSEAE

%%ﬂﬁ
Sl Rk

JERATES
e
R EAE
TEBREE
#}MoReA
I B e

(A —FE——FNH -+ - HEZRT)
bR S

(AT ——FNH -+ - HEZRT)
A EEEL

(A —F— 4N H .+ HEHME)
g% 96 M6 1 1

(A —F— 48 H .+ HEHME)

BLIEPTH
t Akt
[ s
T R
FHERE o
5 = SR

RRAEAR > ) AL =A% A0 B 5 L+ LR 2R
—— MR BB - TIER A - SR
Sk - BUEBEAE - BRI e - B AR
iﬁ@%%ﬁ%%@?%% HAEREIRIE
H &R

SR
Annual Report 2012

Distributable Reserves at the Company

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium and retained profits. Under the Companies Law (Revised)
Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company
is available for paying distributions or dividends to shareholders subject
to the provisions of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution or dividend, the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business. Reserves of the Company available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 December 2012 amounted to HK$31,550,544,000.

Directors
The directors who held office during the year and at the date of this
report are:

Chairman
Mr. Wang Yin

Managing Director
Mr. Wu Xiangdong

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yan Biao

Mr. Du Wenmin

Mr. Ding Jiemin

Mr. Wei Bin

. Huang Daoguo (appointed on 22 June 2012)

. Chen Ying (appointed on 22 June 2012)
Mr. Shi Shanbo (resigned on 22 June 2012)

Dr. Zhang Haipeng (resigned on 22 June 2012)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wang Shi

Mr. Andrew Y. Yan

Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco

Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter

Mr. Frederick Ma Si Hang

According to the Articles 99 and 116 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. Yan Biao, Mr. Ding Jiemin, Mr. Wei Bin, Mr. Huang
Daoguo, Mr. Chen Ying, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan and Mr. Ho Hin Ngai,
Bosco will retire and be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.
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The Company has received the annual confirmation of independence
from all the independent non-executive directors, and considers that all
the independent non-executive directors are independent of the
Company.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management
Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out
on pages 44 to 49.

Share Option Scheme

The Company operates share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of promoting additional commitment and dedication to the
objective of the Company by the participants.

The Scheme was approved by the shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 31 January 2002 and has expired on 31 January
2012. The Board of Directors of the Company may grant options to
eligible participants including employees, executive or non-executive
directors of the Group (or any proposed candidates), any discretionary
object of a discretionary trust established by any employee, executive
or non-executive director of the Group, any executive or employee (or
any proposed candidates) of consultants, professionals and other
advisors to the Group, chief executive, substantial shareholders of the
Company, associated companies of the Group, associates of directors,
chief executive and substantial shareholders of the Company, and
employees of substantial shareholders. The maximum entitlement of
each participant (including options to be granted to the directors, chief
executive or substantial shareholders or any of their respective
associates) is equal to the maximum limit permitted under the prevailing
Listing Rules. The exercise prices of the share options are determined
pursuant to the provision of prevailing Listing Rules.

At the annual general meeting held on 23 May 2006, shareholders
approved the ordinary resolution to refresh the mandate limit of the
Scheme, whereby further options can be granted to subscribe up to
313,138,369 shares.

As at the date of this report, the number of shares available for issue
under the New Scheme is 7,842,500 shares and represents 0.14% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Scheme may be
accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer upon the payment of
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.
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1A1H

R fofi it WA
Option

Exercise  outstanding

Date of Grant price  at 1/1/2012

Share options granted under the Scheme are exercisable for a period of
ten years from the date of grant. Certain share options are fully vested
or exercisable within ten years from the date of grant while part of
them are vested within four years after the date of grant.

Save as disclosed below, no other share options has been granted,
exercised or lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme during
the year in relation to each of the directors, chief executive, substantial
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates and
employees of substantial shareholders.

(a) Directors
As at 31 December 2012, none of the directors had any interests
in respect of option to subscribe for shares under the Scheme.

(b) Employees and other participants
Details of share options granted to the employees (other than
directors) of the Group and other participants by the Company
are set out below:

(i)  Employees (Other than directors)

AATIRBEKS
Sy
Tt A Price of Company’s share®
Number of share option” (HK$)

20124
PAREE  RAREE O RREE MREE nAnd ERERG  CHERG
i fifi s *% HATTE Mt i
Granted Exercised Cancelled Expired Option
during during during during  outstanding Option Option
the year the year the year the year at 31/12/2012 granted exercised

7/10/2002 0.96 350,000
28/4/2004 104 852,500
29/4/2005 14 1,750,000
3/1/2006 35 4105000
17/2/2006 3.965 375,000
26/6/2006 358 1350000
Mt -

1. RGHIFERE 1R B IIHEN R =
RSl ) e

2. BCCATRER G AT 35 28 2 A 43
il A 1% > 2 A A 77 1
H ] i — 1 25 57 H B 4 Bt 58 1
PR T A8 2 T 2 o
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- 150,000 200,000 - - - 16.17
- - - - 852,500 - =
- 150,000 = - 1,600,000 - 15.76
- 490,000 = = 3,615,000 - 15.28
= = = = 375,000 - -
- - - - 1,350,000 = =

Notes:

1. Number of share options refers to the number of underlying shares in

the Company covered by the share options.

2. The price for the Company’s share disclosed for the options exercised
during the year is the weighted average of the closing prices quoted on
the Stock Exchange immediately before the date of exercise of options.
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Gi) HAhz k1 (ii) ~ Other participants
ALTIRA TR
B
i G Price of Company’s share®
Number of share option” (HKS$)
20125 20124
LALH R RRRE RREE RAEE 2 kA Bt
R fife WA i fifi it K& WAME ROE RbER
Option Granted Exercised Cancelled Expired Option
Exercise  outstanding during during during during  outstanding Option Option
Date of grant price  at 1/1/2012 the year the year the year the year at 31/12/2012 granted exercised

4/3/200 159 820,000 - 140,000 480,000 - - - 1490
1/6/2005 13 1,525,000 - - - - 1,525,000 - -
ML - Notes:
1. J& 1 1 REBL H 15 50 B HE 8 Je 2 1. Number of share options refers to the number of underlying shares in
A2 ARG the Company covered by the share options.
2. B E 771 % 1 7 FE Py 56 ik & A 2y 2. The price for the Company’s share disclosed for the options exercised
R OHE s - 255 IR P B RETT (E during the year is the weighted average of the closing prices quoted on
H 3] i — 16 3 55 H R 037 B 38 o the Stock Exchange immediately before the date of exercise of options.
PR T A8 2 e 2 o
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Directors interests in securities

As at 31 December 2012, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) which have been notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO,
including interests and short positions which the directors and chief
executive of the Company are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO, or which are required to be recorded in the
register maintained pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
required to be notified to Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in the Listing Rules, were as
follows:

(a) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of the

Company:
it At p s
Bt H Ry H @ By Hakk®
Number of Approximate
Number of underlying percentage of
shares shares®  Capacity interest®

£ H L3
Wang Yin long position
S [ R wR
Wu Xiangdong long position
I LIDES
Yan Biao long position
HESCR LIy
Du Wenmin long position
[ wR
Chen Ying long position
Btk

(D 5L RG] — Btk E 42
JRAPHIREPT 15 AR 2 FlAH B R 07 - 7% %
B TR A2 Jig 1 T L i L) SEH Y B
ARFAETH

2 AP R AR 2 7] R A B i
A F - AE L = HE R
O3 C BT IR A0 T3 HE o
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3,530,000 - EHumfrAA 0.061
Beneficial owner
1,629,000 - EHufraA 0.028
Beneficial owner
1,992,000 - EH#iEAA 0.034
Beneficial owner
840,000 - EHufFaA 0.014
Beneficial owner
500,000 - EmFFAA 0.009
Beneficial owner
Notes:

(1) This refers to underlying shares of the Company covered by share options
granted as detailed above under the section beaded “Share Option Scheme”,
such options being unlisted physically settled equity derivatives.

2) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares and
underlying shares of the Company to the total issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 December 2012.
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(&) AL FAREGEE — SERASEAR ©
o] (THERAISE ) © 8475 8 B S A
IR e 4 v AT Y i
w4 LIS ATy
long position/
Name short position

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of China
Resources Enterprise, Limited (“CRE”), an associated corporation
of the Company:

FH B Py £

JBeAn 8 H JBeAn B H @ AL
Number of Approximate

underlying percentage of

Number of shares shares® interest®

[ iy
Yan Biao long position
HESCR A

Du Wenmin long position

(1) HE AR T A S A R e R )
T 3 T 3 T A0 SE AT B e A3 > 2% 5 e A5 JU
TR A I LT VR S R AR AT AE TR o

(2) TRV B e A 3 0 SR B B A
WOk T AR T A = BAG A2
OB T IR B T 23 L -

(P9) AN AIARBE B — FERIASRIER ©
A BR A A (1R SR ) (i A 2 )
B PR A 8847 5 8 B B B
b A AR

w4 R/ BRE
long position/
Name short position

500,000 = 0.021

100,000 = 0.004

Notes:

(1) This refers to underlying shares of CRE, covered by share option granted under
the Share Option Scheme of CRE, such option being unlisted physically settled
equity derivatives.

2) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares and
underlying shares of CRE to the total issued share capital of the CRE as at 31
December, 2012.

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of China
Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR Gas”, previously known as
China Resources Logic Limited), an associated corporation of the

Company:
HHEA ARz
Bt B et BH © B
Number of Approximate
underlying percentage of
Number of shares shares® interest®

EQup S 35}
Wu Xiangdong long position
AR R

Du Wenmin long position

ML -

(D RT3 O 12 11
1 RE T o T 5 I SRR B0 > %5
B 1 12 Jig i T _E T LB SEH R R
ARETA -

(2 TELF AT 5 I 19 S AR SRR 0 R A i
B —F— A H = —H A
B 2 FEFT A ALY B 50 HE -

45,000 = 0.002

54,000 = 0.002

Notes:

(1) This refers to underlying shares of CR Gas covered by share option granted
under the Share Option Scheme of CR Gas, such option being unlisted
physically settled equity derivatives.

2) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares and
underlying shares of CR Gas to the total issued share capital of CR Gas as at
31 December, 2012.
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(T) JAAL ARKS % 1 — 2R 8 ik
AR R (TR E S ) B 8T 5@
B AR BR Ay rh AT O R4
w4 LIS ATy
long position/
Name short position

(D

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (“CR Power”), an
associated corporation of the Company:

FH B Py £

JBeAn 8 H Bty B H @ AL
Number of Approximate

underlying percentage of

Number of shares shares® interest®

[ iy
Yan Biao long position
HESCR A

Du Wenmin long position

(D FERIFHE B g O HE R 2 2 4% 11 i
1 BHE T I T 4 i 7 T R B0 - %
TR B HER Jig i FF L 1T L BT S IR
AT A -

2 TEUFR P R 19 3 I 7 K A B I
B —FE— A A= — A
PR ) O BTN FT 0

(I0) ALY mIARME 5 1 — SER K Y 5 1
A FRZA A (THER K8 )) B 37 83l
Lo AR B e b A RO AR

w4 WA
long position/
Name short position

(e)

= 570,080 0.012

480,240 - 0.010

Notes:

(1) This refers to underlying shares of CR Power covered by share options granted
under the Share Option Scheme of CR Power, such option being unlisted
physically settled equity derivatives.

2) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares and
underlying shares of CR Power to the total issued share capital of the CR Power
as at 31 December 2012.

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited (“CR Cement”), an associated
corporation of the Company:

il
Bt BH By BH @ ARERR 4 e @
Number of Approximate
underlying percentage of
Number of shares shares® interest®

BE LIy
Chen Ying long position
Bt

(D TERIETEB KO St 3 2 42 1 A
1 BRI I T SRR e B IR0 > %5
B T A2 Jig 1 T L T LT SEHL HY R
KAFETR -

2 TEFA PRI R0 IR K VR R A
BB = — A H = HAb
HPERK G OB TIR AN AT E 7 L

.
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230,000 = 0.004

Notes:

(1) This refers to underlying shares of CR Cement covered by share options
granted under the Share Option Scheme of CR Cement, such option being
unlisted physically settled equity derivatives.

2) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares and
underlying shares of CR Cement to the total issued share capital of the CR
Cement as at 31 December, 2012.
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Name Capacity

Interests in Underlying Shares of Associated
Corporation

As at 31 December 2012, a director had interests in options to subscribe
shares granted under the share option scheme of CR Power, such
options being unlisted physically settled equity derivatives:

AR 2012412 A 31 H

B2 A W W ARAT B
Exercise Price  Option outstanding

Date of grant (HK$) at 31/12/2012

B & EaEA A
Yan Biao Beneficial owner
BitaE

D ROPIIRER 50 T AR 20% - AT B 2
FPGAF ~ DEEFAF - DEENF S DEZTL
ER EENESHNAE FE =4 AT
H 771

Q) JROGHIRER] 3 5 T B 20% - AT H
FTNAF ~ ZBEBLAF » DB NAFE - ZEL,
FR FEFEZHFNAE - F—HFE=H
+& H AT -

(3 LAERIREZ A HARERT (LA 25 1.00 7T

B SR Gh it S

Ty A AR S5 1 Fp AR A S e > AR A ml o
FER_FENELA=+TH(RKHA
S99 1) 200 A R R A B ey R 7 B 35 it )
(T B w380 1) 1) D - ) D s % 456 B B
Too HARBMmEEEIR —FFIFE+ AN
HACIERT « BROFAEE F@ e i Ak

5 IO w1 3 PR A FBEE AR A R

RRAEFE F & > ZFE AR TS b DIA
B 2 B A R ZAG A A R R A H
MO BAITIRA T 2 Z B 2 B R

A LAE REE AACHH B AL B2 i B A > &
2% S A R 5 2 A S A B 6
MR ML -

12/11/2003®
18/3/2005%

2.75
3.919

244,320
325,760

Notes:

(1) Options are exercisable in 5 tranches of 20% each, from 6 October 2004, 2005, 2000,
2007 and 2008 to 5 October 2013.

(2) Options are exercisable in 5 tranches of 20% each, from 18 March 2006, 2007, 2008,
2009 and 2010 to 17 March 2015.

3) Consideration for each of the grants mentioned above is HK$1.00

Strategic Incentive Award Scheme

As an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for the continual
operation and development of the Group, the Board of the Company
resolved to adopt an incentive scheme, which is presently named as
Strategic Incentive Award Scheme (the “Scheme”) on 30 May 2008 (the
“Adoption Date”). The Scheme was subsequently amended on 8
December 2009. Unless sooner terminated by the Board of Directors,
the Scheme shall be effective from the Adoption Date and shall
continue in full force and effect for a term of 10 years. According to the
Scheme, shares up to 2.5% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the Adoption Date will be purchased by the Trustee from the
market out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for
the relevant selected employees until such shares are vested with the
relevant selected employees in accordance with the provisions of the
Scheme.
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BE-F—-"F+H=1+—H> %ZiA
ST EDAARE (B 5 8 BT
536,234,727.81 G [ A 51,310,000 & 4 2
Bty > AG AN R R BRAN H B C 81T A
1.2715% > i (5] A A oA SIf7 406 A2 5% 3 Jgh =1 1)
WA REE _F—-_HF1+_H
= t—HILFERN > Ao w I AEHES
&ﬁ,au%ﬂfﬁﬁ&:./\17747059}&}1;4
1y > Hoop 17,747,059 IR 43 17 [B] AT 1A B
J& - MR BT E R HE LB
13 BT A5 K E O 88 KA & 0 B AG AR B 58 1L
=

FEE A SR I R

Ay m B MR A F R AR T — A
A=t HIRFER > BEEE - W
B T ] AR R A L T R o

%%Zﬂﬁﬁﬁnﬁ

R-FE—-_HFL A=+ —H FHERE
LA 7 ) BCHCAT AR B J 2 W) 2 R T AT A AN )
A — 4 R S AR (58 R RR Ah) T3 A
AL Z B 54

BB 2 R L

TR 46 L S5 40 I 7 AT > 30 304
{7 2% 7 3 AR A 26 7 SR B 8 7 2 AT
{1 T 45 461 e A A7

ﬁ]io
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As of 31 December 2012, the Company had through Trustee purchased
51,310,000 shares, representing 1.2715% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the Adoption Date, from the market at an aggregate
consideration of HK$536,234,727.81 (including transaction costs).
During the year under review, there was no purchase of shares under
the Scheme. During the year ended 31 December 2012, a total of
17,747,059 shares of the Company had been awarded to the directors
and employees of the Group at no consideration and a total number of
17,747,059 shares were vested. The sale proceeds of the vested shares
have been and will be transferred to the relevant directors and
employees in accordance with the amended provisions of the Scheme.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed

Securities
Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2012.

Directors’ Service Contracts

As at 31 December 2012, none of the Directors has any service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not terminable by
the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contracts of significance to which the Company or its subsidiaries
were a party and in which any director of the Company had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.
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Shareholders with Notifiable Interests

As at 31 December 2012, the following persons (not being a director or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provision of Division 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

H 20124
12 31 Hffif¥
TR A B - A M
A A F BB AT

IR A AR S B R R WR/RE et ¥ E JReAH T 43

Percentage of
the aggregate
long position

in shares to

the issued share

capital of
long position/ Number of the Company
Name of shareholders Capacity Nature of interest  short position shares as at 31/12/2012
]
CRH (Land) Limited £ EE2EUN it i A 3,959,501,021 67.95%
(“CRHL”) Beneficial owner Beneficial interest long position
i (SR 1) A R A ee il £ gl £ LD 3,962,331,021 67.99%
(FFEMERE)© Controlled company’s Corporation interest — long position
China Resources (Holdings) interest
Company Limited (“CRH”)
CRC Bluesky Limited SZHE A A HE 45 NGk TR 3,962,331,021 67.99%
(‘Bluesky”)™ Controlled company’s Corporation interest  long position
interest
BB A RA TR By lyali £ gl £ WA 3,962,331,021 67.99%
(M et ) © Controlled company’s Corporation interest ~ long position
China Resources Co., interest
Limited (“CRC™)®
B A A peilvaGll o Al & LiYE] 3,962,331,021 67.99%
(e ) © Controlled company’s Corporation interest —long position
China Resources National interest

Corporation (“CRNC")®

(1) CRHL KK Commotra Company Limited 73 Ef
FEFF A R 23 7] 3,959,501,021 /% P K 2,830,000
J& > T [ 25 CRHL LA X Commotra Company
Limited Z PfE— R - i 2 1 4 [3] /2 Bluesky 19
2 G KB 4 A > Bluesky /2 05 19 2 & T
JEFLNF] o T R O U o I T 1
oyi] o L HEBAE ] - Bluesky ~ FEEEG
o[k 3 T 40 2 BT 2 7 3,962,331,021 IR
g

Notes:

(1) CRHL directly beld 3,959,501,021 shares of the Company, and Commotra Company
Limited directly beld 2,830,000 shares of the Company, CRH is the sole sharebolder of
CRHL and Commotra Company Limited. Moreover, CRH is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRC. CRC is wholly-owned by CRNC.
Thus, CRH, Bluesky, CRC and CRNC are deemed to be interested in an aggregate of
3,962,331,021 shares in the Company.
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Save as aforesaid, as at 31 December 2012, no other person had any
interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO.

Subsidiaries and Jointly Controlled Entities
Particulars regarding the subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities are
set out on pages 160 to 171.

Financial Derivative Instruments

During the year 2008, the Company timely seized the opportunity of
current subdued interest rate level caused by the sub-prime mortgage
crisis outbreak in the United States, and has fixed the interest costs of a
portion of its HK$ loans at relatively low levels by entering into interest
rate swap transactions. The swap transactions involved HK$3.0 billion
in total, of which HK$1.0 billion had a swap period of four years and
the rest in a five year period. During the year under review, HK$1
billion four-year swap transactions reached maturity and expired. As at
31 December 2012, there was HK$2 billion swap transactions remained
in validity, and due to increase in swap rates in the market during the
year under review, the Company recorded a mark-to-market gain in its
2012 annual results.
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(D)

(iii)

@{iv)

W)

(vi)

AR BRI A AL - R REE
HE L REGESE AR

(viii) FE {8 52 0 e iy A2 15 L2l 2 4 A 1O L
FRAEEA ~ 5 A SO A 7 50
A A R SRR A W] R 8 RN EORE o

Mo E -4 A=+ —H - AZHIR
Bl AR A 2 A R SRR 2 TS U 29,592,842,500
JC o w% S ARG A 2013 4 2 H £ 2016 4
5 H & ©

(vi)

Specific Performance Obligations on
Controlling Shareholder

Certain loan agreements of the Group include a condition that imposes

one or more of the following specific performance obligations on the
Company’s controlling shareholder:

®

(i)

(iii)

@iv)

)

(v

(vii)

(viiD)

CRH remains the single largest shareholder of the Company
which has an aggregate beneficial ownership (directly or
indirectly) of not less than 51% or 35% (as the case may be);

CRH maintains the direct or indirect ownership of at least 35% of
the shares of the Company;

CRH remains the single largest shareholder (whether directly or
indirectly through its subsidiaries) of the Company;

CRH remains to be beneficially owned as to more than 50% by
the central Government of the PRC;

CRH retains the power to appoint the majority of the Board;

CRH retains the ability from a practical perspective to control the
appointment by the Company’s shareholders of directors to the
Board;

CRH retains the right to appoint, and terminate the appointment
of, the majority of the directors constituting the Board,

CRH retains the power to direct the management and the policies
of the Company whether through the ownership of voting capital,
by contract or otherwise.

As at 31 December 2012, the aggregate amount of the facilities subject
to the above conditions were HK$29,592,842,500. Such facilities will
expire from February 2013 to May 2016.
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Connected Transactions and Continuing

Connected Transactions

Intra-Group Lending Between Members of the China Resources
Group

On 22 November 2010, CRH, the holding company of the Company,
China Resources Group listed companies (including the Company) and
unlisted companies entered into the HK$ and US$ master loan
agreement. At the same time, CRC, an intermediate holding company of
the Company, and China Resources Group listed companies (including
the Company) entered into the RMB master loan agreement in order to
give the Group greater flexibility in the management of its surplus cash
resources. Under the Listing Rules, the above master loan agreements
constituted non-exempt continuing connected transactions and were
approved by the Company’s independent shareholders at the general
meeting held on 23 December, 2010. The above master loan agreements
became effective on 1 January 2011. During the year ended 31
December 2012, there was no lending made by the Company under the
agreements. During the year, the Company’s borrowing details pursuant
to the above master loan agreements are set out as below:

720124

A 12331 A%

fEAA HHA BRA Wl (m#x) W AR (FH#c)
Balance at

Principal 31 December

Amount Interest rate 2012

Borrower Lender Guarantor Currency (Rmb million) Duration per annum (million)

W E A RA R EWAEARA R I (EE) ARAR  HKD 800 12/10/2012- 2.85% 660
China Resources China Resources China Resources 12/04/2013
Land Limited Enterprises, Limited (Holdings)
Company Limited
HHE A RAR HHAEHRAR 1 (RM) FRAR HKD 300 7/11/2012- 2.85% 300
China Resources China Resources China Resources 7/05/2013
Land Limited Enterprises, Limited (Holdings)
Company Limited
ERENARAF EWAEARAR I (EE) ARAR  HKD 720 14/12/2012- 2.85% 720
China Resources China Resources China Resources 14/06/2013
Land Limited Enterprises, Limited (Holdings)
Company Limited
HHE A RA R HHAEHRA R #H(EM ARAT  USD 100 14/12/2012- 2.81% 100
China Resources China Resources China Resources 14/06/2013
Land Limited Enterprises, Limited (Holdings)
Company Limited
e
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Strategic Cooperation Agreement between Members of China
Resources Group

On 22 November 2010, a strategic cooperation agreement for a term of
three years ending 31 December 2013 was entered into between certain
subsidiaries of CRC, namely, Zhuhai Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. (now
known as Zhuhai China Resources Bank Co., Ltd., “CR Bank”), China
Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. and the Company, CRE, CR Power, CR
Cement, CR Gas and China Resources Microelectronics Limited
(collectively “China Resources Group listed companies”), pursuant to
which, among other things, (i) CR Bank shall provide general banking
services including deposit services to the China Resources Group listed
companies and their subsidiaries; and (i) China Resources SZITIC Trust
Co., Ltd. shall provide trust services including cash management,
investment trusts, asset management structured finance underwriting of
bonds and shares to the China Resources Group listed companies and
their subsidiaries. Provision of these services will be charged at a rate
no less favourable than that for customers of CR Bank and China
Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd, and any deposit made with CR Bank
under these arrangements will bear the same interest and be on the
same terms and conditions as would apply to a similar deposit made by
any other customer of the bank, which rates are presently determined
by the People’s Bank of China. The maximum exposure in relation to
the Group’s deposits with CR Bank, inclusive of interest paid and
anticipated to be paid is RMB700 million. During the year ended 31
December 2012, the maximum daily aggregate amount of exposure in
relation to the Group’s deposits with CR Bank was RMB699,573,643.12,
and the aggregate interest income arising from such deposits was
RMB3,482,429.73.

Acquisition of property from CRH

On 30 November 2012, the Company and Central New Investments
Limited (“Central New”) entered into the sale and purchase agreement
pursuant to which the Company has unconditionally agreed to acquire
and Central New has unconditionally agreed to sell the entire issued
share capital of Ocean Cosmos Investments Limited (“Ocean Cosmos”)
for the consideration of HK$2,117.0 million in cash. Ocean Cosmos is
an investment holding company and its principal asset is its indirect
55% interest in the Nanning City Crossing Site located in Nanning,
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, PRC. The Directors believed that
the acquisition represents an excellent opportunity for the Group to
increase its land bank in Nanning. Central New is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRH which is the controlling shareholder of the Company.
As such, Central New and CRH are both connected persons of the
Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules and therefore, the
entering into of the Sale and Purchase Agreement constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company.
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Establishment of a joint venture in relation to a property project
located in Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, PRC

On 10 December 2012, China Resources Land (Taizhou) Limited (“CRL
(Taizhou)”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Shenzhen
Runxin No.l Investment Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership)
(“Shenzhen Runxin I”) entered into the cooperation agreement in
relation to the establishment of a joint venture for the development of a
residential-commercial complex located in Kunshan, Jiangsu Province
PRC (“Kunshan Project”). The joint venture arrangement will result in
Shenzhen Runxin I sharing both the risks and financing of the project.
Pursuant to the cooperation agreement, the joint venture company is
expected to be owned as to 51% by CRL (Taizhou) and 49% by
Shenzhen Runxin I. CRL Taizhou and Shenzhen Runxin I are expected
to commit RMB637.50 million (equivalent to approximately HK$796.75
million) and RMB612.50 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$765.50 million) respectively into the joint venture company.
Pursuant to the cooperation agreement, the pre-project work
compensation amounting to approximately RMB35.87 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$44.83 million) will be payable to CRL
(Taizhow) (or its affiliates) within one year from the date on which all
land use rights certificates of the underlying land of the Kunshan Project
have been obtained by the joint venture company. The pre-project
work compensation serves to compensate CRL (Taizhou) for startup
works in relation to the establishment of the joint venture and the
Kunshan Project.

CRH is the controlling shareholder of the Company and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CRC and CRC beneficially owns 51% of the
registered capital of China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd., who has
effective control of Shenzhen Runxin I, who is in turn interested in 49%
of the joint venture company, thus both Shenzhen Runxin I and the
joint venture company are likely to be deemed as connected persons of
the Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules. The joint venture
and the payment of the pre-project work compensation are expected to
constitute connected transactions of the Company.
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(b

Provision of Property Leasing, Construction Services, Decoration
Services, and Furniture Services

On 20 September 2010, the Company entered into the provision of
construction services, decoration services and furniture services
framework agreement with CRH to govern the principal terms of the
provision of construction and decoration services and furniture
manufacturing and sale in the PRC by the Group to CRH and its
subsidiaries for the three financial years ending 31 December 2013.
Such transactions constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company and each contract governing them will be entered into on
normal commercial terms and the prices will be either at market prices
or at prices no less favourable to the Group than those available from
independent third parties.

On 20 September 2010, the Company entered into the leasing and
concessionaire framework agreement with CRH to govern the principal
terms of the leasing and concessionaire arrangements regarding its
property portfolio with members of the CRH Group and associates of
CRH from 20 September 2010 to 31 December 2012. Such arrangements
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company and shall
be conducted on the following terms:

(a) each arrangement will be documented in a separate written
agreement with a lease term of not exceeding twenty years (for
retail purposes or purposes ancillary to retails purposes) or three
years (for any other purposes); and

(b) each arrangement will be entered into on normal commercial
terms with the rents management fees and other charges received
by the Group from any members of the CRH Group or associates
of CRH being either at market prices or at prices no less favorable
to the Group than those available from independent third parties.
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The 2012 annual cap and the actual amount of the above continuing
connected transactions are shown as follow:

B BT

Unit: HKS

5 2012 4F4F e IR 2012 F WAL Z#
The actual

The annual cap transaction

No. E 973 Eil| Business Type in 2012 amount in 2012
e
1 GENE 7S Leasing 200,000,000.00 163,233,650.72
2 B Construction 1,889,000,000.00 42,388,508.01
3 L ES Decoration 458,000,000.00 385,096,823.10
4 FILZETS Furniture 21,000,000.00 17,249,559.44
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On 30 November 2012, the Company and CRH have further entered
into the leasing and concessionaire framework agreement to govern the
principal terms of the leasing and concessionaire arrangements for a
term of one year (i.e. from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013, both
days inclusive). Such arrangements constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company and shall be conducted on the following
terms:

(a) each of the leasing or concessionaire arrangements to be entered
into by a member of the Group with a member of the CRH Group
or an associate of CRH will be documented in a separate written
agreement with a lease term of not exceeding three years; and

(b)  each leasing or concessionaire arrangement will be entered into
on normal commercial terms with the rents, management fees and
other charges received by the Group from any members of the
CRH Group or associates of CRH being either at market prices or
at prices no less favourable to the Group than those available
from independent third parties.

The annual cap for the leasing and concessionaire arrangements for the
year ending 31 December 2013 is HK$280 million.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules, independent non-executive
directors have reviewed the above connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that:

1. these transactions were in the Company’s ordinary course of
business;

2. these transactions were entered into on normal commercial terms;

3. these transactions were carried out in accordance with respective

agreement terms which were fair and reasonable, and in the
interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor PricewaterhouseCoopers was engaged to report
on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing his
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group on pages 83-84 in accordance with
Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been
provided by the Company to Stock Exchange.

The related party transactions as disclosed in Note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements also fall under the definition of
connected transaction or continuing connected transactions within the
meaning of the Listing Rules, and the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Model Code Regarding Securities

Transactions by the Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rule as code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the directors. Having made specific enquiry with all directors, the
Company confirmed that all directors has complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during the year under review.
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Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report,
there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year under review, the Group’s five largest suppliers and
customers together accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s
purchases and sales respectively.

Charitable Donation
In 2012, the Group’s charitable donation amounted to approximately
HK$12.0 million.

Five Year Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 180.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and there are no restrictions against such rights
under the laws in the Cayman Island.

Audit Committee

The audit committee comprises Mr. Wang Shi, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr.
Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, and Mr. Frederick Ma Si
Hang, all of them being independent non-executive directors of the
Company. The audit committee has reviewed, together with the
management and the Company’s auditors, the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal
control and financial reporting matters including the financial statements
for the year.

Auditors

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 21 June 2012,
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu retired as the auditor of the
Company and Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as the
new auditor of the Company.

Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire at the end of the
forthcoming annual general meeting and is eligible for reappointment.
By order of the Board

Chairman
Wang Yin

Hong Kong, 15 March 2013



Mg S A% B R

Independent Auditor’s Report

i
pwec

B B A R A BEOR
(1% B 2 7 5 7 WAz B9 A IR 23 )

AAZ BT (LA AR [ 347 )) 2 #8300
5589 % 179 B i B M A R /] (DL il
[ B ] 1) R Jag 2% m] (SEhs[ E 5 1))
&5 & BABE R > BLAR & RS TR A 4
SR T A=t HBEA AT
AR AR DL AR B 22 3% H 1R 4F S B0 A5 22 T
Wedh 3% ~ ARG AR B R AR S BB R
o DL T B EOR A AR R

%ﬁﬁﬁé%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ%%
H

B2 ) R SRR AU A A
0 5 185 Bt T 0 4 2 ) 8 V2 ) 1)
Fl B 5 A5 A B A B S TR 0 LSRR
BB A ) LRI 20T B S > Rk g
LR A A WA R T A B 4 T
il > LA 2 B 90 S A7 A RO
S A T B0 TR SRR B -

A% B fil Y AT
T b 2 AF AR PRI 119 7 B 6 5
s O oS S G 1 A R
e BRILZ SN T LA F i) o A
AR LA R 0 07 1 A (T Hof A T
SRS BT -

B R Rk E

To the shareholders of China Resources Land Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 89 to 179, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as at 31
December 2012, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

| EmREATAEL 2

B FE: +8522289 8888  {HHE: +852 2810 9888

22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2289 8888  Fax: +852 2810 9888
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
31 December 2012, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 15 March 2013
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Year Ended 31 December

Bt iE Notes
Wi
HK$'000

44,363,629
(27,667,217)

16,696,412
4,000,974
27,381
736,436
(1,901,711
(1,809,059)
414,183
(669,582)

17,495,034
(6,298,044)
11,196,990

177,683
8,306

185,989
11,382,979

10,730,461
652,518

11,382,979

10,568,598
628,392

11,196,990

181,94
HK181.9 cents
s 18161l
HK181.6 cents

A o0 H B 179 H 2 M 5E By M5 45 4 MBS $Ro 2 A The notes on pages 96 to 179 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
Wy o

FEAARAE BE Ui B 2 BEAT AR A RS RES HOR B 12 - Details of dividends payable to owners of the Company attributable to the profit for the year

are set out in Note 12.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

T T
HK$'000

4,971,467
1,552,677
44,356,899

2,353,056
177,506
300,231
431,385

54,143,221

136,789,703

287,044

13,033,330
240,878
94,139

50
611,806
1,102,375
21,952,957

174,112,282

23,910,202
51,631,394
194,023
4,731,509
2,688,738
62,713
3,665,999
6,746,386
5,283,044
33,195

98,947,203
75,165,079
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Btk Notes
W T
HK$'000

582,740
68,525,919

69,108,659
7,391,125

76,499,784

39,884,031
7,735,149

5,188,736

52,808,516

129,308,300

5596 ELA G 179 ELZ Mtk 2y M 55 45 & B R 2 S 4 o The notes on pages 96 to 179 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

IR SO H M 179 HZ A MBS IR N —F—=4=H The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 179 were approved by the board of

THHBALFERG (THERE ) kIR REE - directors of the Company (the “Board”) on 15 March 2013 and were signed on its behalf.
EH ‘Wang Yin

£ Director

B Wu Xiangdong

£ Director
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Statement of Financial Position

31.12.2012

T T
HK$'000

27,562,195
10,736

27,572,931

92,766
52,109,544
451,208

52,653,518

630,655
3,339,626
4,582,181
2,454,277
1,530,000

33,195

12,569,934
40,083,584
67,656,515

582,740
31,675,197

32,257,937

27,663,429

7,735,149

35,398,578
67,656,515

5596 HL R 179 H Z sk £ WA 454 MATS M 2 G40 © The notes on pages 96 to 179 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

NSO H M 179 H 2 4 MR Lt —F— =4 =H The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 179 were approved by the board of

THAEAAAERG ((EHG) MR REE - directors of the Company (the “Board”) on 15 March 2013 and were signed on its behalf.
EE Wang Yin

HF Director

e ) Wu Xiangdong

HF Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity @

EYATE 2N A1
Attributable to owners of the Company
B
B BARR

Shares held L Hti

for Strategic Employee 14

e (i Incentive [ESRME  sharebased Hibl HAbRe gl Non-
Share Share Award Translation  compensation Hedging Other Retained it controlling it
capital premium Scheme reserve reserve reserve feserves profits Total interests Total

BETRL BETR BETR A PTIN -+ S PN | 4 P BT BT BT BT BT
HKS 000 HES 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HES000 HKS 000 HES 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity

EYATE 2N 1]
Attributable to owners of the Company
EUSChi]
Frf BRRR

Shares held L] N

for Strategic Employee i

ie3 ey Incentive TSGR sharebased Hibl HAbRe TREHA Non-
Share Share Award Translation  compensation Hedging Other Retained it controlling it
capital premium Scheme reserve reserve reserve feserves profits Total interests Total
BT BT T T ERTIT ERTIT EHTIL EHTIL BB BB BB
HK$000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

5596 E A 179 B2 Mk 7y M S5 45 & B R 2 ARG 4 o The notes on pages 96 to 179 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Year ended 31 December

5596 H 25 179 H Z Mt sk £ WA 45 4 M TS R 2 LR - The notes on pages 96 to 179 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”). The intermediate holding company as at 31 December 2012 is
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”). The ultimate holding
company of the Company is China Resources National Corporation (“CRNC”), a
company incorporated in the Chinese Mainland. The address of the registered office
and principal place of business of the Company is disclosed in the corporate
information of the annual report. The principal activities of the Group are
development and sales of developed properties, property investments and
management, hotel operations and the provision of construction, decoration and
other property development related services in the People’s Republic of China (the

“PRC™).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”),
unless otherwise stated. The Company is a public company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with its shares listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange where most
of its investors are located in Hong Kong and therefore, the directors consider that
HK$ is preferable in presenting the operating result and financial position of the
Group. The majority of the Company’s subsidiaries are operating in the Chinese

Mainland with Renminbi (“RMB”) as their functional currency.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board on

15 March 2013.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied

to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS™). The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain financial

instruments and investment properties, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires
the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the accounting policies
of the Group. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the

consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2

Merger accounting restatement

The Group acquired the entire issued shares of Ocean Cosmos Investments
Limited (“Ocean Cosmos”) from a subsidiary of CRH on 30 November 2012,
at a cash consideration of HK$2,117 million. Ocean Cosmos is an investment
holding company and its principal asset is its indirect 55% interest in the

Nanning City Crossing Site located in the Chinese Mainland.

The above acquisition is considered as business combination involving
entities under common control and has been accounted for using merger
accounting method, in accordance with the guidance set out in Accounting
Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting for Common Control Combinations” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. As a result, the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and
cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2011 and the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 1 January 2011 and 31 December 2011
have been restated, in order to include the profits, assets and liabilities of the

combining entities since the date of which first come under common control.

The adoption of merger accounting has resulted in an increase in the Group’s
total comprehensive income attributable to the owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2011 of HK$98,497,000 and an increase in the
Group’s profit attributable to the owners of the Company for the year ended

31 December 2011 of HK$51,110,000, respectively.
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2 EEEEHEORBE () 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 AOrEEIEES () 2.2 Merger accounting restatement (continued)
oz g R ESN R E F The effect of the merger accounting restatement described above on the
—— 4+ A=t —HINEEZ LS consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31
T s 3 A THZ SRR December 2011 by line items is as follows:
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Year ended Merger accounting Year ended

31 December 2011 restatement 31 December 2011
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2 EHEEFBORME () 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 SOreErEES () 2.2 Merger accounting restatement (continued)

The effects of the merger accounting restatement described above on the

bt 2 G e EHE I R
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consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 January 2011 and 31

December 2011 by line items are as follows:

T
4l N I B
CE-E gEhEER R4 T2 EEHEES T2
—H—H Merger —H—H =t—H Merger =10
1 January accounting 1January 31 December accounting 31 December
2011 restatement 2011 2011 restatement 2011
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2 BEGHEIBORME () 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 AOrEEIEES () 2.2 Merger accounting restatement (continued)
L “E——fF Bl SEF &
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—A—H Merger —A—H =+—H Merger =+—H
1 January accounting 1January 31 December accounting 31 December
2011 restatement 2011 2011 restatement 2011

2.3 WETBURSE RIKE 2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(@)  RAWERZ 57T 2 5% (a)  Effect of adopting amendments to standards

AAEHNK -F— 44 —H—H The following amendments to standards are mandatory for the
Bk 2z WA A BE 5 R BR A N 1) v A Group’s financial year beginning 1 January 2012. The adoption of
ZHERT o RN EZ A ME R 2 B ET these amendments to standards does not have any significant impact
e 3 AR 4R (3] 2 S A5 TR DR AT to the results and financial position of the Group.
EwNZ 1
FRBTREERS 7Y SRTH W% — s HKFRS 7 (Amendment) Financial instruments: Disclosures —

(T %) SEYE Transfers of financial assets
FRMBRGENE 19 BESEEIIRER HKFRS 1 (Amendment) Severe hyperinflation and removal of

(i) G IEE RS fixed dates for first-time adopters
FilbGHES 129 SEIERUE ¢ R HKAS 12 (Amendment) Deferred Income Tax: Recovery of

(%) 4 Underlying Assets

Annual Report 2012



A U s R M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 EHEGHEHBORME ()
2.3 frtEREEN) K (0

(b)

A M {8 i A 25 30 22 A AT HER
15T T BRI 19 i FE

N ST —

A HHBE

fi 2 AR R ST R L R 4 T B
0L L o oA A 28 22 T T 2B )

R Bk e -

Fib a5 HRHbE AR
(3T FHB AR 271!

FHUBREENSE 1S e
(BiT%)

FEMFREENRIE  ERERUERERAR
(BiT%)

FEUBREENS R

FEMHRERNE 0 HANERE

FRUBEREENE NS AR

FEMBREENA LY BERERES:

FRUBREENE 3% ATEdE

Bkt 0% R &R
(ZF——F)

Bk et BiMHRE:
(ZF——F)

Fib et 8% REEATRAEAT
(ZF——F) bais &

Fib N 25 RS MER LEH
(BT%) ffE

Fib (RBHER LR FRBSAE EEL
ZEE) R0 A2

FEMEREENEE  REMHREENS %
0% (BiT4) R ik 2

A
FEMFREENS 08 REEE
BB RN 1258
RGNS 275
(2% ) (f57)
FEMFREENS 05 GAMHRE AT
BT RN JHER M ER
BURREBIT RS i«
A3 (BT
s ] “ETNEECFF
(3T B AR
1 W ZFE AL H - H 2 # %
ZAEFEMIHIAERL -

2 W ZF—ZAaE—H— A Z %G
ZAEFEWIHIERL -

3 W FE—AE—H — H 82 %G
ZAEFEIHIAERL -

4 W F L AFE—H— A2 %G
AR

R R~ 4B ET AR SR A S
TR AE BE N AR AR > T A A [ BLIE
WAL ER AV RZ A E A B RT A TG
TR oA B w0 R P 2 28 -

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(continued)

(®)

New standards, interpretation and amendments to standards that

have been issued but are not effective

The following new standards, interpretation and amendments to

standards have been issued but are not effective for the financial year

beginning 1 January 2012 and have not been early adopted by the

Group.

HKAS 1 (Amendment)
HKFRS 1 (Amendment)
HKFRS 7 (Amendment)
HKEFRS 9

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

HKAS 19 (201D

HKAS 27 (2011)

HKAS 28 (2011)

HKAS 32 (Amendment)

HK(IFRIO)-Int 20

HKFRS 7 and 9
(Amendment)

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 27 (2011)
(Amendment)

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12 (Amendment)

HKFRSs (Amendment)

Financial statements presentation
regarding other comprehensive income !
Government Loan *

Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities 2
Financial Instruments *
Consolidated Financial Statements *
Joint Arrangements *
Disclosures of Interest in Other Entities *
Fair Value Measurement *
Employee Benefits *

Separate Financial Statements *
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures *

Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities

Stripping Costs in the Production
Phase of a Surface Mine ?

Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS 9
and Transition Disclosures *

Investment Entities *

Consolidated Financial Statements,
Joint Arrangements and Disclosure of
Interests in Other Entities:
Transition Guidance *

Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle *

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.

The above standards, amendments or interpretations will be adopted

in the years listed and the Group is in the process of assessing the

impact on future accounting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the

Company and all its subsidiaries made up to 31 December 2012.

(a)

()

(c)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a
shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence
and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-

consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Profits and
losses resulting from inter-company transactions that are recognised
in assets are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the

policies adopted by the Group.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of
control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of
control are accounted for as equity transactions — that is, as
transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The
difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the
subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-

controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Investments in subsidiaries

In the Company’s statement of financial position, the investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and

receivable.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair
value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are

generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities

assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. Deferred income tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee

Benefits respectively;

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment arrangements
of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the

accounting policy below); and

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that

standard.

If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquire (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a

bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made

on a transaction-by-transaction basis.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statement
items of the combining entities or businesses in which the common control
combination occurs as if they had been combined from the date when the
combining entities or businesses first came under the control of the

controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are consolidated using
the existing book values from the controlling party’s perspective. No amount
is recognised in respect of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net
fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities over cost at the time
of common control combination, to the extent of the continuation of the

controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income includes the results of
each of the combining entities or businesses from the earliest date presented
or since the date when the combining entities or businesses first came under
the common control, where this is a shorter period, regardless of the date of

the common control combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial statements are
presented as if the entities or businesses had been combined at the end of
the previous reporting period or when they first came under common

control, whichever is shorter.

Business combination related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss

as incurred.

Investment in jointly controlled entities
Joint venture arrangement that involve the establishment of a separate entity
in which venturers have joint control over the economic activity of the entity

are referred to as jointly controlled entities.

The result and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entities are
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. Under the equity method, investment in jointly controlled
entity is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of the jointly controlled entity. When
the Group’s share of losses of jointly controlled entities equals or exceeds its
interest in that jointly controlled entity (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
jointly controlled entity), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on

behalf of that jointly controlled entity.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Investment in jointly controlled entities (continued)

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entities
recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is

included within the carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is
necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s
investment in jointly controlled entities. When necessary, the entire carrying
amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its
carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the

investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity, profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the jointly controlled entity are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent

of interests in the jointly controlled entity that are not related to the Group.

Segment information

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal
reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the executive

directors of the Company.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold and services

provided in the normal course of business.

Revenue from sale of properties held for sale in the ordinary course of

business is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfied:

. the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the properties, which is when the
construction of relevant properties has been completed, upon
delivery, and collectability of related receivables is reasonably

assured,;

. the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the
degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over

the properties are sold;
. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

. it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the

transaction will flow to the Group; and

. the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can

be measured reliably.

Deposits and installments received from purchasers prior to meeting the
above criteria for revenue recognition are included in the consolidated

statement of financial position under current liabilities.

Revenue from room rental, food and beverage sales and other ancillary
services in the hotel are recognised when the relevant services have been

rendered.

Revenue from construction and decoration service is recognised in the
accounting period in which the services are rendered, by reference to
completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual

service provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided.

Revenue from sale of goods (including furnitures and other inventories) are
recognised when goods are delivered to the customer, the customer has
accepted the products and collectability of the related receivables is

reasonably assured.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9

2.10

Revenue recognition (continued)
Property management income and service income are recognised when

services are rendered.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying

amount on initial recognition.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than construction in progress as described below) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, other than construction in progress less their estimates
residual values, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method, as follows:

Hotel properties and buildings 20-40 years
Leasehold improvements, furniture and equipment 5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes

in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost less any recognised impairment
loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing cost
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties
are classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are

ready for their intended use.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

2.11

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is

recognised in profit or loss.

When buildings are in the course of development for production or for
administrative purposes, the amortisation of land use rights provided during
the construction period is included as part of costs of buildings under
construction. Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any
identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings commences when
they are available for use (i.e., when they are in the location and condition
necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by

management).

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital

appreciation (including properties under construction for such purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values, representing open market value
determined at each reporting date by external valuers. Fair value is based on
active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature,
location or condition of the specific asset. If the information is not available,
the group uses alternative valuation methods such as recent prices on less
active markets or discounted cash flow projections. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit

or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under construction are
capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the investment properties under

construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the assets (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit

or loss in the year in which the item is derecognised.

Properties for sales are transferred to investment properties when it is
evidenced by the commencement of an operating lease to another party. Any
difference between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer and

its previous carrying amount shall be recognised in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Impairment losses on tangible assets and investments

in subsidiaries

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts
of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units

for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is
declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial

statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for

which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment

loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a cash generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an

impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Construction contracts

Where the outcome of a construction contract (including decoration contract)
can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference to
the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of reporting period,
as measured by the proportion that contract costs incurred for work
performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs. Variations in
contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that

the amount can be measured reliably and its receipt is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that it
is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in

the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract

revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown as amounts due from
customers for contract work. For contracts where progress billings exceed
contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses,
the surplus is shown as amounts due to customers for contract work.
Amounts received before the related work is performed are recognised as
advances received in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid by the customer are
included in the consolidated statement of financial position recognised as

trade receivables.
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2 EEEHBURME (48) 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

214 % 2.14 Leasing
AR G SRS 48 K 7 23 BT A HE JEL B B [l Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
R > A B 54 g A transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All
#) o P HALFH A SRS AL - other leases are classified as operating leases.
A [ E 25 i A The Group as lessor
K& 2 A E AR A BT A 3 A Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the profit or loss on a
DIE SR A B - straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
I [ 2RI The Group as lessee
RO AT 2 ME AR 8 4 A1 B AL 46 1 1Ay Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
T H SRR R S o AR T SL AR T basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as
#) 22 Tl B BRI 25 7 T A AR A DL an incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised as a reduction of
BRI ERR 2 A A B S D - rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

2.15 FLE b R p 2.15 Leasehold land and building
QAR A9 4G 1 S AR TR Ay AR [T When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group assesses
B TR AR B 43 2 JE o B I 2 1 A the classification of each element as a finance or an operating lease
VRORS S A AR [ > Sl 4R L AT A I separately based on the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks
oy R E A SR E A - BRIEER Y and rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been transferred
EMEY BREHE > EHIFWT - % to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
TEAH &0 i 1 2 SO A& o LR > Boh which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the
JFEATHH 4 (B AL ] — R PEFE A 300 727 minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are
ORI > TR E T S 2 allocated between the land and building elements in a proportion to the
FHETHE £ 2 A P{E 2 L4 O - relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and building

element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

AT KRB AT S Hh > WL 0 AR A To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably,
ST A 2 TG - A 5 BT 45 & WS interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating lease is
SRR B By T b FHE | > 05 B 43 presented as “land use rights” in the consolidated statement of financial
TRAE ) T R AR M E A ST (E A S IE position and is released over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for
FABRSNERE W EE BRI - EHE those that are classified and accounted for as investment properties under the
AF AR BEME AE 1 Hh A A 52 2 P AT 5E by fair value model. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
WIS > B TEFH 4 — A 2 BlE R4 > NI between the land and building elements, the entire lease is generally
TELWIZE ~ WS B sk HIBR - classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and
equipment.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are translated to the respective functional currency (i.e.,
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost

in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the
retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the
period except for exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly
in other comprehensive income, in which cases, the exchange differences are

also recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e., Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling

interests as appropriate).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17

2.18

2.19

2.20

Cash and cash equivalent
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term

highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they are incurred.

Government grant
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that

the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over
the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses that the related costs
for which the grants are intended to compensate. Government grants that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they

become receivable.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and

deferred income tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of

the reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Taxation (continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred income tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred income tax assets are generally
recognised for deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the

accounting profit.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred income tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and

they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the end of
the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset

to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred income tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying

amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred income tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when
it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred income tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
When current tax and deferred income tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for

the business combination.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.20

2.21

2.22

2.23

Taxation (continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net

basis.

Properties for sale
Properties for sale includes properties under development and properties

held for sale which are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

The carrying value of properties for sale comprises the costs of land use
rights together with development expenditure, which includes construction

costs and borrowing costs capitalised.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for the properties

less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

The Group transfers a property for sale to investment property when there is
a change of intention to hold the property to earn rentals or/and for capital
appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business, which is
evidenced by the commencement of an operating lease to another party. Any
difference between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer and

its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Other inventories
Other inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost

is calculated using the weighted average method.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position when a group entity becomes a party to the

contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are

recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Financial instruments (continued)

2.23.1

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and receivables
and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on
the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at

the time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter

period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt

instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade receivables, other receivables, amounts due from an associate,
fellow subsidiaries, an intermediate holding company and jointly
controlled entities and cash in banks) are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets

below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated or not classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVIPL"), loans and receivables or held-to-maturity

investments.

Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value

plus transaction costs and subsequently carried at fair value.



A U s R M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 EHEEEBUORME ()

2.23 &/ T H (4)
ﬂ%ﬁ()
i

2231 %

ﬁM@*E&%@%A%
MQE%MmM$%%Xﬂﬁﬁ&
REAEATREAL o AT Z B PR RUR
PRI 1 U T 32 4 FAl ¥ P 1R 3 A 2
— A B 22 TE 10 5 | 3048 R
ZAhFERACH 4 R 2 B

G A T R A A tE BB o

LTk B AR BT A o AT B
B A TR IR SR T =
AR H A > THHAR A Wil 2 %
BB -

LT AT HA < T - (E
H BT

. BT AR DB FH R E
HA IR 4 5 5%

. BIA K > BN -
Hi K S A FLE BAR 4 5 B

. 8 3N W] RE R 7 s AT
WHEA ;5 5

. PR B I R 2 0 5% 4 L
FEZ GRS R -

AT T < U (B AR TR SR
TR~ WAL 2% I AR ) el B )
ﬁ%yﬁ%f%%%@ﬁ”ﬁﬁ
FAL o BEMOIR A& 2 & B (E
é%?@ﬁﬁ%lzﬁ&% AL
B~ AL A A 2 R T AT Y
o BRI 2 UK > DA T B 0
ML%%%Z%@&%% 8

L B AR ) IR 2 4l T
o R T e AR A R (E
<6l T 7 G UL B ) S T BLAG
R AC B < ik e B ML ] 2 22 A T

=X
H ©

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Financial instruments (continued)

2.23.1

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators
of impairment at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial

assets have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered

to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could

include:
. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
. breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest

or principal payments; or

. it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial reorganisation; or

. the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset

because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average
credit period, observable changes in national or local economic

conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash

flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Financial instruments (continued)

2.23.1

Financial assels (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at
the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such

impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade receivables and other receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the
carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or
loss. When a trade receivable or other receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited

to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
losses was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not

been recognised.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Financial instruments (continued)

2232

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and

the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds

received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter

period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts due
to fellow subsidiaries, amounts due to intermediate holding
companies, amounts due to non-controlling interests, bank
borrowings and senior notes are subsequently measured at amortised

cost, using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair
value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the
timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of

the hedge relationship.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Financial instruments (continued)

2233

Hedge accounting
The Group uses derivative financial instruments (primarily interest

rate swap contracts) as hedges of the floating-rate bank borrowings.

At the inception of the hedging relationship the entity documents the
relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged item, along
with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge
and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging
instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective in

offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that
are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in hedging reserve.
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in hedging reserve are reclassified to profit or loss in the
periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss, in the
same line of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as

the recognised hedged item.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the
hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer qualifies for hedge
accounting. Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and
is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in
profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to
occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Financial instruments (continued)

2234

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts in the scope of HKAS39 Financial
Instrument: Recognition and Measurement are accounted for as
financial liabilities. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial guarantee
contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contracts at the higher of the present value of the
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation and the amount initially recognised less cumulative

amortisation.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity

is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.24

2.25

Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value
of share options and awarded shares granted at the grant date is expensed as
staff costs on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a

corresponding increase in employee share-based compensation reserve.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the
number of options and the awarded shares that are expected to ultimately
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates during the vesting
period, if any, is recognized in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to employee

share-based compensation reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in
employee share-based compensation reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
employee share-based compensation reserve will be transferred to retained

profits.

When awarded shares are vested, the amount previously recognised in shares
held for Strategic Incentive Award Scheme reserve and the amount
recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve will be transferred

to retained profits.

Retirement benefit contributions
Payment to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as
an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the

contributions.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENT

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors of the Company
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these

estimates.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year.

3.1 Estimated allowance for doubtful debts

The Group makes allowance for doubtful debts based on an assessment of
the recoverability of trade and other receivables taking into consideration the
estimation of future cash flows. The allowance is measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the assets and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
Allowances are applied to trade and other receivables where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible.
The identification of doubtful debts requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the expectation on the recoverability of trade and other
receivables is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact
carrying value of trade and other receivables and allowance for doubtful debt
in the year in which such estimate has been changed. As at 31 December
2012, the carrying amount of trade receivables was HK$2,539,744,000 (net of
allowance for doubtful debts of HK$146,616,000) (2011: HK$1,536,841,000
(net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$161,136,000)) and the carrying
amount of other receivables was HK$1,370,787,000 (net of allowance for
doubtful debts of HK$266,562,000) (2011: HK$1,168,717,000 (net of
allowance for doubtful debts of HK$346,309,000)).
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENT (continued)

3.2

3.3

3.4

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties, including those completed investment properties and
investment properties under construction, are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at their fair value, details of which are
disclosed in note 17. The fair value of the investment properties was
determined by reference to valuations conducted on these properties by
independent firms of property valuers using property valuation techniques
which involve certain assumptions of prevailing market conditions.
Favourable or unfavourable changes to these assumptions may result in
changes in the fair value of the Group’s investment properties included in the
consolidated statement of financial position and corresponding adjustments
to the changes in fair value reported in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.

Income taxes and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the PRC. Significant
judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such difference will impact the income tax and deferred income
tax provision in the year in which such determination is made. Deferred
income tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and tax losses are
recognised when management considers to be probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences or tax losses

can be utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation may be different.

Land appreciation taxes

The Group is subject to land appreciation taxes in the PRC (“LAT”). However,
the implementation and settlement of LAT varies among various tax
jurisdictions in cities of the PRC, and the Group has not finalised its LAT
calculation and payments with most of local tax authorities in the PRC.
Accordingly, significant judgment is required in determining the amount of
LAT. The Group recognised the LAT based on management’s best estimates
according to the understanding of the tax rules. The final tax outcome could
be different from the amounts that were initially recorded, and these
differences will impact the taxation and tax provisions in the years in which

such taxes have been finalised with local tax authorities.
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4 Wik 4 REVENUE
AR A AT Z W g TR An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

BEF A= HIEFE

Year ended 31 December

T T
HK$'000

38,521,782
2,674,054
1,045,864

574,214
1,547,715

44,303,629

5 SHEER 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

N ] - 5 3 3
A28 Rl UTH S (A S ) iR ([ & Information reported to the executive directors of the Company, the chief operating
FEBPRH ) B EORHE R O 5% decision makers of the Group (“CODM”), was specifically focused on the segments

N AR LY A% N
JEMZE - W EAE SRR - AR SR of sale of developed properties, property investments and management, hotel
AME MRS B A K80 > AR IROY B SR BLaY operations and construction, decoration services and others for the purpose of
Tl - resource allocation and performance assessment.
5.1 5 BMas JoE R 5.1 Segment revenues and results
p Y%
ES LIRS VS vt bralie The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable
YES G U and operating segments.
BEZF-ZFF A= HIEFE Year ended 31 December 2012
JUE= 4 8 A 3
i L s R Al
CREYE Property Construction,
Sale investments T G 48 decoration
of developed and Hotel services and foes
properties management operations others Consolidated

SE AR | 125
Annual Report 2012



126

Aok o B 2 e R B i

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 EER ()
5.1 MR R A (fg0)

wE - F—-—F A=t HIEFEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

5.1 Segment revenues and results (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2011

S
[&E:9537ES
Sale

of developed
properties

fUE< 33
LA
Property
investments
and
management

W R
Hotel
operations

- HlE
s K HoAls
Construction,
decoration
services and Ny
others Consolidated

W 25 B W) AR PR 25 A B B A - AR
IR B O SR S T B 2 T A
Ak 2 G EEOR AR o BRI E 25
ST R 2 B BT v A s A 2 A H
07 488 T 9 A6 1 T L A
SR R A SR ) 2 KO AR A
EAEERRUNIES -7 E NSt LR
ARATHBORA ~ B H EAG LR A
AEEEER MBI o B &
SEAA VR 2 B B R LR A T 1)
BRI A 77 5 o

A AR AR
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Except for investment properties which were reviewed based on the initial

cost, the accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the

Group’s accounting policies described in Note 2. Segment result represents

the profit earned or loss before taxation incurred by each segment without

allocation of incomes or expenses which are not recurring in nature or

unrelated to the CODM’s assessment of the Group’s operating performance,

e.g. fair value changes on investment properties, central administration costs,

directors’ salaries, share of results of jointly controlled entities and finance

costs. Segment revenues and results are the measure reported to the CODM

for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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5 EEF ()
5.2 HflsEEER

BE E— ST HA=1T—HILEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

5.2 Other segment information

Year ended 31 December 2012

fUE< 33 - HlE

e sl s K HoAls

[i3EL7ES Property Construction,

Sale of investments G K8 decoration
developed and Hotel services sk
properties management operations and others Total

BE - E——4F+ - HA=1+—HILEE

Year ended 31 December 2011

LUE 138 = A

e pis-¢:1 s K oA

BRYIE Property Construction,

Sale of investments iph o decoration
developed and Hotel services At
properties management operations and others Total

5.3 mﬂ$%ﬁﬁﬁ%%MW§ﬁma¢!

HhFR A T RE A F > SAh s AR

%Eﬁﬂ%%%#ﬁﬁﬁé B TR S

T 15 Bl T S 7 T 53,711,836,000 78

(=& ——4F : #544,990,763,000 7T ) )

DS F B A b s RO ST e S ) i 3
oy 2 A EUER -

5.4 4 B — % 5L A SR R A B AR
W5 109%LA 1 > SR SE N AR EER o

5.3 No geographical segment analysis is shown as more than 90% of the Group’s
revenue are derived from activities in, and from customers located in the
Chinese Mainland and more than 90% of the carrying values of the Group’s
non-current assets excluding deferred income tax assets amounting to
HK$53,711,836,000 (2011: HK$44,990,763,000) are situated in the Chinese

Mainland.

5.4 The Group does not have major customers as no single customer contributes

more than 10% of the Group’s revenue of respective years.

T TAEJEER
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6 AU A 6 OTHER INCOME

BEF A= HIEFE

Year ended 31 December

7 HEHMe 7 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
O EEMN 7154 (R ——4 1 134) #iH The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 15 (2011: 13) directors were as
AT follows:
BEF—"Ft+HA=T—HILFE Year ended 31 December 2012
i HAbEN S
Fees Other emoluments
BIRAEF
WAL IEPATHES Frd GG
AT H R ot Independent HoAth 4z F] Contribution
Executive Non-executive non-executive Salaries and to retirement skl
directors directors directors other benefits  benefit schemes Total

Bitat Note:
(@ B TAEAN A A T HEHT - (a) Resigned on 22 June 2012.
(b) BT EAN A A AR - ) Appointed on 22 June 2012.

Annual Report 2012
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== .
7 HEHEME () 7 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
BE-E——F+ A= —H 4R Year ended 31 December 2011
M FEAl
Fees Other emoluments
BRI
Ein kN
WS I RATE S #e M Contribution to
AT AT Independent HoAb g A retirement LA B AT 3K
Executive Non-executive non-executive Salaries and benefit Share-based skl
directors directors directors other benefits schemes payments Total

BEZEZ-CFTZH=1T—HIFEER > % During the year ended 31 December 2012, none (2011: none) of the directors have
M fEHE RS (T ——F %) > JRIE waived the directors’ emoluments. None of the directors have received any
PRI BRI AL w T SO A 88 4 inducement pay for joining or upon joining the Company.

AP | 129
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8 RBEM%& 8

ES L FIRATE 0 PNSROR TR A e Sy
W) AN EES > I R b SO
7o Hfp =M (CF——4F 0 =) A b 2Bl
W

EMPLOYEE’S EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two (2011: two)
were directors of the Company whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in
note 7 above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2011: three) individuals were

as follows:

BEF A= HIEFE

Year ended 31 December

ZHN Lz e TSR

The emoluments of these three individuals were within the following bands:

BEF A= T—HILFE

Year ended 31 December

9o WMEHEM 9

A AR AR
Annual Report 2012

FINANCE COSTS

WETF A= HILEE

Year ended 31 December

BT
HK$'000

(2,291,583)

(196,619)

1,942,142

(546,060)
(123,522)

(669,582)
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(@)

(b)

©

10 FrfgBibd X

e g > 3 P 4 A

WHE - F T ZH=1+—HILF
FE o A B2 A AP I A 2 N W 2R
25% (& ——4F 1 25%) Z B R
B 2T AL

B A B

[ =B NAE— H— H R o B E
F 2 T ) L 5 5 S A f 5
10% 9 BL 3 AN o B T4 BT3B - e
B 2 0 8 S A £ o B
Vi T ST 0B 22 B AL 1 B
TR > R PR 5% HY 24 T 4 BB
o

AL

RAE A — U4 — 7 — B Az Ch
B s (BB AT e 1) 2 MR B A
—RREE A+ E AT H
(R W AT A A0 A R A D
S8 R o I A R
L W6} J st 2 BT AT WA A I 2
30% 7 60% F HER A Bk 1 g (E B
e 2 A 55 4 2 2 WSS B R AN
A AT AN B B S # 20% > Qe TR
G o

AL T2 bt BOE R AR08 1 2wt
B (B A > M AR IR B 1 Bl A
2 GBI AR B A A L g
Btz TAEE A FIRAN -

(a)

(b)

(©)

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSES

BEF A= HIEFE

Year ended 31 December
T
HK$'000

(790)
(2,871,317)
(316,793)

(3,188,900)

(2,090,654)

(1,018,490)
(6,298,044)

PRC corporate income tax

The Group’s subsidiaries in the Chinese Mainland are subject to PRC
corporate income tax at the rate of 25% for the year ended 31 December
2012 (2011: 25%).

PRC withholding income tax

PRC withholding income tax of 10% shall be levied on the dividends remitted
by the companies established in the PRC to their foreign investors starting
from 1 January 2008. A lower 5% withholding tax rate may be applied when
the immediate holding companies of the PRC subsidiaries are established in
Hong Kong and fulfil the requirements to the tax treaty arrangements

between the PRC and Hong Kong.

LAT

Pursuant to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations of the PRC on
LAT effective 1 January 1994, and the Detailed Implementation Rules on the
Provisional Regulations of the PRC on LAT effective on 27 January 1995, all
income from the sale or transfer of state-owned land use rights, buildings and
their attached facilities in the PRC is subject to LAT at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% of the appreciation value, with an exemption
provided for sales of ordinary residential properties if their appreciation

values do not exceed 20% of the sum of the total deductible items.

The Group has made provision of LAT for sales of properties according to
the aforementioned progressive rate, except for certain group companies
which calculate the LAT based on deemed tax rates in accordance with the

approved taxation method obtained from tax authorities.

T AR
Annual Report 2012
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10 FrfsBiba > (4F) 10 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

@ FHBHHH (d) Hong Kong profits tax
hEE F - F+ A=+ —HILF The applicable Hong Kong profits tax rate is 16.5% for the year ended 31
BE o BN BRI BIB RS 16.5% (% December 2012 (2011: 16.5%).
— 4 116.5%) ©

(e) WHMIEHL (e) Overseas income tax
ARNF A S BRI ST SR SRS The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
22 )N ) 1 EE R ST A MR A PR A company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 of Cayman
o R o A R B AN B2 T T S Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax. The
B o AN W B o BE IS Mo 2 H A Company’s direct subsidiary in the British Virgin Islands was incorporated
T AR AR 5 B R LTI I R 2 under the International Business Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands
R AR ST o UL SRR S AN B JE iR and, accordingly, is exempted from British Virgin Islands income tax.
LR AR o

(f) 4R A0 B S Bt 45 & 4 Tl Wi o 32 0T (f)  The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
BB A Bl SR AT taxation per the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as follows:

BEF A= —HIEFE

Year ended 31 December

17,495,034
(414,183)

17,080,851

(4,270,213)

(53,684)

(118,928)
23,766

(27,331
22,495

20,353
522,664
9,719

(3,890,597)
(2,090,654)
(316,793)

(6,298,044)

132 | % EE
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11 4E %A 11 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

BEL A=t —HIEFE

Year ended 31 December

T T
HK$'000

1,440
22242

1,805,754
187,250

2,016,686

(513,039

1,503,647

22,409,386
1,559
52,577

(86,987)
331,942
7,614

Bifat - AR AR R TR 2 A 1 i 1,339,575,000 7C Note:  Loss of the Company for 2012 amounted to approximately HK$1,339,575,000 (2011:
(=3 ——4F 17 496,442,000 7C) HK$496,442,000).

AR
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12 A

®)

W E T AEANH = A H AN B AR
IR WEC.3 M - R ET A9 9 362,877,000 0T (B E =%
——FENH = HIEAFEE R R 0.5l
T A 0 8 551,696,0007C) + B ZAE AN
1L H2Z fri EHEH A

ROFE—ZEZA I AR kL HEH
IRIf# 3 A = A HIEAF R R B’
LR 2 R W 27,311 > AT A9 75 K 1,590,880,000
TC o R EI RN E S E A=A
IEAEJE R 5 B P B BRI W HE (T REL > (A%
T DR A H AR EE R W

T AE D Z A H IR B A
BRI TS R 16,6 M1l - A 967,330,000 7C  E
TR TAEN H o H 2 AN AR R AR
ErHIE IR A AT o

A AR AR
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()

12 DIVIDENDS

BEL A=t —HIEFE

Year ended 31 December
2012
T
HK$'000

362,877

1,590,880

1,953,757

An interim dividend for the six months ended 30 June 2012 of HKG.3 cents per ordinary
share, totalling approximately HK$362,877,000 (six months ended 30 June 2011: HK9.5
cents per ordinary share, totalling approximately HK$551,696,000) has been approved in
a meeting held by the Board on 17 August 2012.

At a meeting beld on 15 March 2013, the Boad proposed a final dividend of HK27.3 cents
per ordinary share, totalling approximately HK$§1,590,880,000 for the year ended 31
December 2012. This proposed dividend is not reflected as a dividend payable in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012, but will be
reflected as an appropriation for the year ending 31 December 2013.

A final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2011 of HK16.6 cents per ordinary share,
totalling approximately HK$967,330,000 has been approved at the Company’s Annual
General Meeting on 21 June 2012 and paid during the year.
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13 HFR AR 13 EARNINGS PER SHARE
AR FHEAT A B B B 1 3 2 R4 DA The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners
BERIA of the Company is based on the following data:

BEF A= HIEFE

Year ended 31 December

T
HK$'000

10,568,598

BE A= —HIEHE

Year ended 31 December

5,810,018,346
8,606,650

JIVRE - 149 38 788 Fe S5 S S8 A 2 ) S SR The weighted average number of ordinary shares has been arrived at after deducting
FHE A FEAF — R B AR R e the effect on 2,090,000 shares (2011: 18,172,000 shares) held by BOCI — Prudential
FR 2 Al 45 2 2,090,000 B Ay ( 2 — —4F - Trustee Limited, a trustee company for the Company’s Strategic Incentive Award
18,172,000 [ fir) 2 R BAR T B AT H o Scheme.

14 RAMBATF 22 — A4 14 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES — THE
HJ COMPANY

31.12.2012
T T
HK$'000

27,562,195

B A 7 2 B e A EC R > Bl A E Y Investments in subsidiaries are recorded at cost, which is the fair value of the
NFAH o BAANFIWEAFIN - F—4F+_H consideration paid. Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2012
S — B 2 RSN 43 o are set out in Note 43.

AP | 135
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15 W3k - s Kkt

THE
HAE 1R
P&
Leasehold
improvements,
furniture and
equipment

WEYE
Hotel
properties

T
Buildings

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

TR TR
PR Construction Mt
Motor vehicles in progress Total

Wit

Notes:

(@ RIE AR CFE——AE A D = H 2 HIE LK (a)
o 2] [ B o 2 3 )
e St 8

Annual Report 2012

The amounts as at 31 December 2012 and 2011 mainly represented the hotel properties
which are under construction in the Chinese Mainland.
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16t b fdi

AR 2 A T RE 95 B A 7 R B 2
Hb o SIF DA (1047 28 50 4F ) 3 (238 50 4F)
FHA FEAT o b b R RE DA B 4005 45 39 & 70 4F
R BB A O
37,382,000 7C ( — F — — 4F ik #36,067,000
Jt) > HA i 29,768,000 70 (- F——4F : ik
¥ 28,405,000 ) EAML e TREGEAS > 5EA
W~ RRE BkAts o SRS T

16 LAND USE RIGHTS

The Group’s land use right relate to land situated in the Chinese Mainland and held
under medium term (10 to 50 years) or long term leases (over 50 years). The land
use rights are amortized over their lease terms of 39 to 70 years on a straight-line
basis. The amortization for the year is HK$37,382,000 (2011: HK$36,067,000), of
which HK$29,768,000 (2011: HK$28,405,000) is capitalised in construction in
progress included in property, plant and equipment. The terms of leases are set out

as follow:

T
HK$'000

488,680
1,063,991

17 BEW*E

1,552,677

17 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

B A [i3isiacVES
Completed Investment
investment properties under st
properties construction Total

Btk . AEEC L TE THHEZE > GRS
DRAG BRSNS AR Sr ACERIAT o 1A 7 B 2 ol (475
B2 A A A o TETR AR AR
B A7 7 A EE ) AT WA 0 2 2P (EL 1 A 7
1,578,132,0007C ©

Note:  The Group had changed the use of certain properties, of which bhad commenced the
operating lease to outsiders during the year. Accordingly, it results in a transfer from
property for sales to investment properties. On the date of reclassification, the amount

ipleted i, properties of

included an increase in fair value upon transfer to co
approximately HK$1,578,132,000.

T AR
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17 BEWE (F) 17
AREHBEYER _FT——"F+_A=+—H
N FEFEE - M i SR A B AL A BR A ] B
Ay > 5408 A By ST J S EE A RS A (B AT -

BOEW) L NPH T e IR DA HEHE R E

EiR7ES — ZEFOMERLYEZZS
e i B
CiEmsE  —  Z2BBLBESILUR KB

Wiz 2 m a0 i i 3
(fi 78 111 ) 225 BT ALAY 1 A
LA B i %5 W) 2 F AR AT
P

EEYE  — Z2EFOLENBUYEZ L
Dy fEAE T AR - BOR LAl
A R A5 [

AL B R 3 2 BB SE DL LA R A -

18 RILFEERH G EEEZELR 18

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The Group’s investment properties are measured at fair value as at 31 December
2012, which have been assessed by CB Richard Ellis Hong Kong Limited, a firm of

independent and professionally qualified valuers.
The fair values of the investment properties were determined on the following basis:

Vacant properties — by reference to market evidence of transaction
prices for similar properties in the similar locations
Occupied properties — by reference to market evidence of transaction
prices for similar properties in the similar locations
and conditions or, where appropriate, by reference
to capitalised income to be derived from the
existing tenancies and the reversionary income

potential of the properties
Properties under — by reference to market evidence of transaction
construction prices for similar properties in the similar locations,
less estimated costs to completion and investor’s

return

The investment properties are situated in the Chinese Mainland under medium term

leases.

INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES

e sz

T T T
HK$°000 HK$’000
AL e A E R Y I T Unlisted investment in jointly controlled entities 2,353,056 8,131

A FEIR ZE A B T 2 s E R DI
FEARAT ([ LW 1) 2 50% HAE o RAAE
BE > A LB AUE N R 1,008,000,000 76
(R B i H5 %5 1,237,000,000 76 ) Wi i 1 130 £
g R B R AR T -

i L]
~\1mu al Report 2012

Interest in jointly controlled entities mainly represent the 50% equity interest in
Shanghai Tong Yi Property Development Company Limited (“Shanghai Tong Yi”).
During the year, the Group acquired Shanghai Tong Yi at a cash consideration of
RMB1,008 million (equivalent to HK$1,237 million). Shanghai Tong Yi is principally

engaged in the property development business.
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o

o.
e

a”

18 P ILFPEHl 4 G HM 225 18 INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED

(%) ENTITIES (continued)
FHERS LRI 2 AL TN LR R S EEE The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s interests in jointly
WE 5 2 W BRI Z 5 A - controlled entities which is accounted for using the equity method is set out below:

BT T
HK$'000

2,328,569

1,637,305

(1,185,237)
(427,581)
616,838

(202,655)

163,395

AL E AL E R A E A F— A Particulars of the Group’s jointly controlled entities as at 31 December 2012 are set
= B Z R RO B 430) © out in Note 43(b).

19 Wt ERE 19 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

BfaE o AR R FE L TR AR RS SR 2 LT TS AR IR AR T AL 17 Note:  The fair value of unlisted equity securities in the Chinese Mainland are based on the cash
B3 T FF L 07 8 25 1 5 Vi 17 1 P 5 47 B B Slows discounted using a rate based on the market interest rate and the risk premium
BARME specific to the unlisted securities.

R AR
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20 JEiENE A AT OE

Wit -

AR 2 AR5 5 1 R A 1 - s (3 S A B
KBRS TG0 o i E = F AP A= —H
I I ARG+ AL o ER A A
A=A A A Ay Ay B

AERE P F B e (F11R)

ARG BRI R Z 2FIM & > 45 TR TG
B R B RC T MRS o TH1 R IR R
V1) 0 A0 JUT AT B 45 B AT

21

21

20 PREPAYMENTS FOR NON-CURRENT

ASSETS

31.12.2012
T T
HK$'000

1.1.2011

300,231

Note:

Amounts represent the prepayments made by the Group for the acquisition of land use rights in the
Chinese Mainland for the development of investment properties. The land use right certificates have
not yet been obtained by the Group as at 31 December 2012. The management expects that the land
use right certificates would be obtained in the coming twelve montbs after 31 December 2012.

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS
(LIABILITIES)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position,
certain deferred income tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is

the analysis of the deferred income tax balances at the end of the reporting period:

31.12.2012

T T
HK$'000

431,385
(5,188,736

A AR AR
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(4,757,351)
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21 EREFBUE E (FR) ()

VAR B AR AR BE T (47 B 2 O R T 2R AE
PrisBlEE (AR KA ZEH) -

Wit -

H Al 1 I 2 T B A M (8 2 S T R
[E 7 18 J% AUl 1 P 2 22 1136 T I 2

HoE— AR A= —H s AEEA RS
F ol T e 1R M W 2,149,012,000 76 (& ——4F
e 1,495,052,000 70 ) AT 44k FVEHREY H 56 F) >
oA 5 #01,670,896,000 TG (& — —4F ¢ s
1,056,352,000 7t ) £ 7 58 7 4% 4E 7 15 B & 7 o
F A AR ) 2 R LA TR R 2 S RS A ) H
15 1 ks R OB > T 4 R B T B T A 4R U
478,116,000 76 ( =% — —4F + & ¥ 438,700,000
JC ) e G AE 4 BT A5 Bl e o B TE R IR 2 T 4
PR o

Mo E— AR A= H s AR
rp ] A | R A R L 3 R s T 18,901,960,000 7T
(=& ——14F : #7%15,655,800,000 70 ) 72 1E
FIEFIT AR 7 1 945,098,000 TG (% ——4F
Wk W 782,790,000 7C ) » J5L AR A AR 13 3 AT )
A HR B 3R % S 3 )

21 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS

(LIABILITIES) (continued)

The followings are the major deferred income tax assets (liabilities) recognised and

movements thereon during the current and prior years.

IR HABE R

Allowance K
for doubtful b S (B BiH I Other temporary st
debts LAT Tax losses differences Total

Note:

Other temporary differences mainly represent the deductible temporary differences arising from the
and other

write down of properties for sale, impairment loss of ilable-for-sale i

expenses.

At 31 December 2012, the Group had unused tax losses of HK$2,149,012,000 (2011:
HK$1,495,052,000) available for offset against future taxable profits, of which
HK$1,670,896,000 (2011: HK$1,056,352,000) have been recognised as deferred
income tax assets. No deferred income tax asset has been recognised on the
remaining tax losses of HK$478,116,000 (2011: HK$438,700,000), as in the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the future profit streams of these subsidiaries are

uncertain. The tax losses could be carried forward for a maximum of five years.

At 31 December 2012, the Group has not made provision of deferred income tax of
HK$945,098,000 (2011: HK$782,790,000) for the unremitted earnings of the PRC
companies of HK$18,901,960,000 (2011: HK$15,655,800,000) as the Group does not

have a plan to distribute these earnings out the PRC.

T AR
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22 BLEEZ Y% 22 PROPERTIES FOR SALE

T T
HK$'000

122,691,709
14,097,994
B B 2 W ZE A T b 5 NG DL IR A R The properties for sale were located in the Chinese Mainland under medium term
oo HA LS B 2 ) ZETE I n] A S AR T lease. Properties for sale which are expected to be recovered in more than twelve
187 B W > 6 A 42 18] 1F W 8 5 A W] 2 TR A months after the end of the reporting period are classified under current assets as it
Bl WO Ry is expected to be realised in the Group’s normal operating cycle.
23 HAbfFE 23 OTHER INVENTORIES

31.12.2011 1.1.2011
T
HK$'000

18,931
268,113

287,044

24 JEWOIRK - AL MEWURIE - 24 TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
TN RIE M T & RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND
DEPOSITS

31.12.2011 1.1.2011

BT IT
HK$'000

2,686,360
(146,616)

2,539,744

1,637,349
(266,562)

4,915,531
13,033,330

A AR AR
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24 TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND
DEPOSITS (continued)

24 MEWCHR K~ L fth JE ORI -
TEAS KOH M T 4 (48)

Bitat - Notes:

(a) HELIR R

B2 N IR B I e PR KL o —
TR 5> A AT 1 sl M A 7 30 K 741 3 1B
A AT (5 1 -

B i 46 2 HENG KT ~ T W ATt 2 R B 49 2
TN IA S FRRAE A B s e 0 L A4 A5 o] —
AT H A 45 K091 51

DU R =% — 4t = A =1 — HE R R Z
HENCHR 3 2 RS T

7 5 1] JEE W TG K 45 1 €1 97 R T A48 (L 7 5 30,727,000 7C
(ZF——4F : 128,682,000 7C) W HEWC IR # » %%
JEWIE SKAR S 22 it —4F R R A A il MR
S 1 5IE SO 6 (6 AR o A5 S [ A7 RETR 772
TR AR 5 LA e s

IR US55 161 7 6k (6 2 JRE WM 378 1 146,616,000 78
(A JEHF 161,136,000 7C) 0 % FIENRH S
KRNI B B e A B A i ] o A 52 5l
JERELE S S IEFEAT AT ATHEST GG o BAF 2 BEOR R
TR B F I

(a)

Trade receivables

Proceeds receivable in respect of sale of properties are settled in accordance with the terms
stipulated in the sale and purchase agreements. Generally, purchasers of properties are
required to settle the balance within 30 days as specified in the sales and purchase
agreements or not granted with any credit period.

Except for the proceeds receivable from sale of properties, rental income from lease of
properties and proceeds from construction contracts which are payable in accordance with
the terms of the relevant agreements, the Group generally allows a credit period not
exceeding 45 days to its customers.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance of doubiful debts)
as 31 December 2012:

31.12.2011 1.1.2011

Lo T
HK$'000

2,405,177
134,567

2,539,744

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$30, 727,000 (2011: HK$128,682,000) which are all aged over one year and
past due at the end of the reporting period for which the Group has not provided for
impairment loss. The Group is entitled to take over the legal title and possession of the
underlying properties for re-sales.

Included in the allowance for doubltful debts are individually impaired trade receivables of
HK$146,616,000 (2011: HK$161,136,000), which have been in severe financial difficulties
and irrecoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. Movements
in the allowance for doubtful debts for trade receivables are as follows:

31.12.2012

T T
HK$'000

161,136
Q@D

1,709
(14,687)
(1,521

146,616

T AR
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24 JEWE - HMbEIHRTE - 24 TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER

E 2
TEAT A ST 4 (A8) RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND
DEPOSITS (continued)

Bitat - () Notes: (continued)

(b) A L RE 2 T #OH ) Prepayments for acquisition of land use rights
%5 BEAC A BE ] 7 o [ R 2 R R BT The amount represents the prepayments made by the Group for the acquisition of land use
T A BETTT S5 2 T TR o AR R LE rights in the Chinese Mainland for property development for sale. The land use right
VI 5 A T A A ) S o certificates bave not yet been obtained by the Group at the end of the reporting period.

© oAl I TE (c) Other receivables
SR E R H R I H MBS The amount mainly includes temporary payments paid for potential projects and project-
B SCTE > AT S T 5 VAR I o related deposits which would be refundable upon completion of the development projects.
H Al JE (g SR T 1 (] 5 R K - TS P R 5 E There are no fixed repayment term for other receivables and the Group considers they are
W T Hy 351 H BTE F—4F 1A EZE R IR - repayable on demand and will be recovered in one year from the date of advance.
BUR 25 H MR IR =% —— 4 =] = +:HZ The following is an aging analysis of other receivables (net of allowance for doublful debts)
HRHETIAT (2 AIBRRARIEN) - 25 AR A - as at 31 December 2012 which are all past due but considered not impaired:
1E 1 R e 2 2 -

31.12.2012 31.12.2 1.1.2011
T T
HK$'000

1,109,315
261,472

1,370,787

144 | == —wEEg
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24 MEWCHR K~ L fth JE ORI -
e WS AL )

Mtk ()
(© HALHECHIRIA (480

I S I S A 60 9 18 9 D6k B 2 L Al M AR T
266,562,000 7C (& ——4F : {#¥346,309.000 7C) > 3%
SEFC M AR IE 2 R 4 L I I T IR e e
AT i [a] o 745 5 [0 00 e AL 5 SR TELF AT AL AT HE 7 » LA
T A3 A HE A AR TE R B M 2 A2 B RN

Notes:

24 TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER

RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND
DEPOSITS (continued)

(continued)
(c) Other receivables (continued)

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired other receivables of
HK$266,562,000 (2011: HK$346,309,000), which have been in severe financial
difficulties. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. Movements in the
allowance for doubiful debls for other receivables are as follows:

31.12.2012

T T
HK$'000

346,309
(0]
16,160
(90,169)
(5,677)

266,562

(d) I A TE 2 R e kAL ER o A A R B
R HABHECIRIAZ (5 BEE# a8 25 CR R AR M
HIIPER

25 g%(@ﬁ)%ﬁﬁ%Iﬁ?ﬂ

WHEF - A=+ HIEEE - A
#9025 W %9 1,010,427,000 00 ( = F — — 4F
841,985,000 # ) T Bl 58 Jy U 7 - R U I
619,346,000 76 ( & — —4F : ¥ 336,964,000
JC) A 1) [ 2R B 2 4R 2 H SR -

(d) The Group assessed the credit quality of trade and other receivables based on bistorical
default rates and the repayment records and considered adequate allowance has been
made at the end of the reporting period.

25 AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) CUSTOMERS

FOR CONTRACT WORKS

31.12.2012
T
HK$'000

31.12.2011 1.1.2011

3,599,997
(3,553,142)

240,878
(194,023)

During the year ended 31 December 2012, contract revenue of HK$1,010,427,000
(2011: HK$841,985,000) is recognised as revenue, of which HK$619,346,000 (2011:

HK$3306,964,000) arise from the construction services provided to fellow subsidiaries.

T AR
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27

FREAC R o 2 )~ () 2 B g 2 ) B — o o T
AR ZHIE > FEARGBIRSE - 5 IR
G R AR TR AE R o

JRE A ] 42 o 5 M 0 o AR BV 2

WA R - R ALE RS > f M R AT
I B M ok R (B -

ﬁé&ﬁ&'f h\nﬁ

B S SRAT 55 A7 A 45 4 BUAT A7 3K AFE R 22 0.35%
B 429 (ZF——4F 1 0.36% £ 5.3%) 7H & 2
WSRAT A7 30 P (45 B4 S 3 4 5 (B WS W
21,164,215,000 JG » LA B BR il 4R 47 77 5 s W
788,742,000 JC ° BRI SRAT A7 3k T 2248 &
x> Honl fEBIEA L M A 8 R H
2 X BARR -

B R ARAT R A He LU SR HE

it Hong Kong dollar
NG Renminbi

B United States Dollar
HAts Others

26

27

AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES/
FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES/AN
INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY/
JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES —
THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY

Amounts due from subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries and an intermediate holding

company mainly represent the current accounts which are unsecured, interest-free

and repayable on demand.

Amounts due from jointly controlled entities mainly represent short-term loan
advance which are with interest charges, unsecured and repayable according to

respective loan agreements.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash and bank balances comprise short-term bank deposits carry interest at
prevailing deposit rates which range from 0.35% to 4.2% (2011: 0.36% to 5.3%) per
annum, which included cash and cash equivalent of HK$21,164,215,000 and
restricted bank deposits of HK$788,742,000. The restricted bank deposits are mainly
funds designated for relocating existing residents on the lands of the Group’s certain

property development projects.

The cash and bank balances are denominated in the following currencies:

31.12.2011 1.1.2011

T T T T
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
(T 31) (H31)

(Restated) (Restated)

907,131 483,536 1,801,627
20,563,673 14,389,308 10,283,235
480,564 917,156 664,764
1,589 1,717 1,584
21,952,957 15,791,717 12,751,210

N B 45 B S0 20 A B DUAM I (B Y 1
A7 455 5 B R A e [ A 3 U S o LA
SR AT ) A R0 A1 REE 22 T AR R B i A o

A

~\1mu al Report 2012

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies and the
remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank balances and cash out of
the Chinese Mainland are subject to relevant rules and regulation of foreign

exchange control promulgated by the Chinese Mainland government.
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28 JEATHE 2k B I Ath FE ) B T8 28 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Wit -

(@) PUF AR A = A A AHR SR e i3
G

1.1.2011
T T
HK$'000

16,026,752
7,883,450

23,910,202

Notes:

(a) The following is an aging analysis of trade payables at 31 December 2012:

T T
HK$'000

13,299,753
2,726,999

(b) AT BT A~ E A B %~ Wk R T
#I1H -

29 FHEYSE CRRK

BT TR G A Bl < A o AR+ A 1%
TUBL o J A2 [ ) 15 B R 2 N BOR g

AT T 2 0 B ST 42 ) 5 T O AR
RIS F T - G RO R A -

JREART 7] 2% BB 2 )~ e T I 2 ) e R 2 e
di 2 BOE - E B AR R R R B
520 B HEHRAT BOJHAR IR AT B BRI AR AR -

16,026,752

) Amounts include mainly receipt in advance, other taxes payable, temporary receipts and
accrued salaries.

29 ADVANCES RECEIVED FROM PRE-SALES

OF PROPERTIES

The amounts which are expected to be realised in more than twelve months after
the end of the reporting period are also classified under current liabilities as it is

within the Group’s normal operating cycle.

30 AMOUNTS DUE TO SUBSIDIARIES/

FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES/
INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANIES/
JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES/NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS — THE
GROUP AND THE COMPANY

Amounts due to subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities mainly represent the

current accounts which are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, intermediate holding companies and non-
controlling interests mainly represent short-term loans with interest charges,

unsecured and repayable according to respective loan agreements.

T TAEJEER
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31 MITEE

AR B 2 SRAT R DLHE I S S8 TRt E -
T

RoE— AR A S MRS
FRT-15 [ RE AE R 6.779% (% ——4F 4R R
5.98%) wHE 2 i B BHE 8 423,129,000 7T (=
F——4F : # % 11,458,638,000 7C) K% HFRT-
PIERZ2.97% (ZF——14F 1 2.24%) 51 B K d%
T s SRAT (7] 36 4F B 54 SR AT [R] 245 B A7
0.85% % 2.8% ( % ——4F « FUsR1TIH] £ 47
BN0.34% % 2.4%) Z B HFE R R EZ R E
B8 #5 536,744,546,000 ( =% — —4F « i
42,771,167,000 7G ) o AR5 AH BH B0 17 7 T L 5k
Ao M EEZE S WO B TR — R fE g o

A S5 4 A B 15 29,162,842,000 70 ( &
——4F W ¥ 27,687,842,000 G) Z SRAT M BT
ERECEY 5 ¢ 47 A S Py
A BN AR R AN F B AT IR E D
35% 8 51% 5 A% 4 [ Z R AT B H P g
5518,871,000C( — & — — 4 # ¥
13,703,273,000 7G ) i JEAH BH 45 5K o ok 2 e

AR BSR4

A AR AR
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31 BANK BORROWINGS

T
HK$'000

10,808,090
34,359,585

45,167,675

5,283,044
11,628,940
25,981,210

2,274,481

45,167,675

(5,283,044)
39,884,631

The Group’s bank borrowings denominated in HK$ and US$ are set out below:

T
HK$'000

28,267,843

775,174

As at 31 December 2012, bank borrowings include fixed-rate borrowings of
HK$8,423,129,000 (2011: HK$11,458,638,000) which carry interest at average fixed
rate of 6.77% per annum (2011: 5.98% per annum) and variable-rate borrowings of
HK$36,744,546,000 (2011: HK$42,771,167,000) which carried average effective
interest rate at 2.97% (2011: 2.24%) per annum, that is contractual interest at HIBOR
or LIBOR plus a certain percentage ranging from 0.85% to 2.8% (2011: HIBOR plus
from 0.34% to 2.4%) per annum. The borrowings are repayable by installments or in
a lump sum upon maturity in accordance with the terms set out in the respective

loan agreements.

In respect of bank borrowings of the Group amounting to HK$29,162,842,000 (2011:
HK$27,687,842,000), CRH is required to hold not less than 35% or 51% of the issued
share capital of the Company at any time during the period of the loans in
accordance with the terms of the respective loan agreement; bank borrowings of the
Group amounting to HK$5,518,871,000 (2011: HK$13,703,273,000) are guaranteed by

the Company in accordance with the terms of the respective loan agreements.
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31 AT ()
ARON ) 2 SRAT R Ly KA - DAV S e
FHE > A TR T B AR R %2.03% (& ——
R0 1.38%) wHEL > K% E WS ERATIR] S 57 8 5 A
FOERAT R 2R B A T 0.85% F2.8% (- F
——AF S RAT R FE AR BN A T 0.34% &
2.4%) 2 K5 R , o MR B A K ek
kA o EEEE A IR B R — SR AR o

32 A4l TH

MRE : LARRTAE T RAG A E ] 7 09 R 3 2 AR
FEGE AR ST BB TG (4 AT A T T

K TRFIR P AR — A H = —HZ
4 &R 5 B 23 il 15 2,000,000,000 TC (=3 ——4F ¢ il
1#3,000,000,0007C) °

W R A ] = H o EE RIS F2.95%
349 (T ——4F 1 2.95% F 3.4%) > T EERHH
PEB) R 3 55 7 IR T I] R L o HAUFIZ$E I & 2
e T 2 3 15 27,381,000 TC (= ——4F : [3 3B
BT AR 7T TR P AL 70 2 2T (A2 B 2

T Al FY 3R] 2 T 6 A )G 5 A S
46,662,000 7C) E 7t AR s

31 BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

The bank borrowings of the Company are all unsecured, denominated in HK$ and
US$ and carrying average effective interest rate at 2.03% (2011: 1.38%) per annum,
that is contractual interest at HIBOR or LIBOR plus a certain percentage ranging from
0.85% to 2.8% (2011: HIBOR plus from 0.34% to 2.4%) per annum. The borrowings
are repayable by installments or in a lump sum upon maturity in accordance with

the terms set out in the respective loan agreements.

32 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

31.12.2012

W T
HK$'000

33,195

33,195

33,195

Note:  The above derivatives are measured at fair value which is estimated using valuation
technique of discounted cash flow analysis based on the applicable yield curve of interest
rates.

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 31
December 2012 were HK$2,000,000,000 (2011: HK$3,000,000,000).

At 31 December 2012, the fixed interest rates vary from 2.95% to 3.4% (2011: 2.95% to
3.4%), and the main floating rates are HIBOR. Gains on changes in fair value of the other
interest rate swaps of HK$27,381,000 (2011: Gains on changes in fair value of the
ineffective portion of the interest rate swaps designed as cash flow bedge together with the
gain on changes in fair value of other interest rate swaps totalling HK$46,662,000) is
credited to profit or loss.

T AR
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33 JRA 33 SHARE CAPITAL
Jic e A
Number of shares Share capital

31.12.2011 1.1.2011 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.12011

7,000,000,000 700,000

5,826,468,790 582,647
930,000 93

34 RS 34 SENIOR NOTES
AT F—— s RN E BT . A SR In 2011, the Company issued senior notes with principal amount of US$1,000,000,000
£41,000,000,000 % ¢ ([ e 548 1) - B e 548 (“Senior Notes”), which are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
TN 76 I3 28 2 T A BR A W) L7l o RS S Limited. The Senior Notes are unsecured and bear coupon interest at 4.625% per
Ty S S R AR A R 4.625% 51 Bk annum payable semi-annually in arrears and are due on 19 May 2016. The Senior
AR W T E—NERA LB o # Notes carry average effective interest rate of 4.779% per annum.

SER P H IR F 2 4. 779% 5T L -

BREEh -t A= —HZ AT The fair value of the Senior Notes at 31 December 2012 was approximately
i % 551,059,440,0005% JC > # H 7 W US$1,059,440,000, equivalent to HK$8,212,503,000 (2011: US$986,600,000, equivalent
8,212,503,000 7C ( — E— — 4 986,600,000 = to HK$7,668,023,000), which was determined based on the closing market price of
JC > AT W 7,668,023,000 78 ) 0 AR which at that date.

% H 2 BT 2 WOl E R E

A AR AR
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35 Ji IBoRE it

2!—"\1 AT W IR = (D[ st ) 1) B 7Em
2 BE EAN W ZRYE > DU AL
A H A o

TR B S A 2N T BR ARSI A SRR = AR
—H=E4 BB B2 E%E%E*Jr
W) o G AT ] A 2 B RO o
w2 SO REAT O 15 oh A 2 ) R O T@
MRIALLT =3 2 i Ao v B AR 7 B A e
PR E H 2T AR TE BRI S
I T AR 2 2 S R R e 9 i

HRAZ AR F T AL MR 2 A 2 A
A ARK S A AR e AE B
BRH o A R T RORE 1 B R AT I
A RE P15 155 . o AL TR 0 AT o e B B A
5 IR HE 2 AR FH 3 S S A5 388 0 47 %+
AF o i B B IR B o wir sl B A SR > A
FF 00 W R ME e R e i —F— A
= —H s ARPEE R E R A R AT
JBORE 1) A BRI 493 B H 45 9,317,500 I (—F——
AF 111,127,500 ) - AHE R A ENE H C T
A 0.16% ( 4$**$ £ 0.19%)

MEF - ZA=T 0 i ﬁ%%ﬁ
A FAE TR o (— % ——4 )

35 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company operates share option schemes for the purpose of promoting
additional commitment and dedication to the objectives of the Company by

participants, namely the “New Scheme”.

The New Scheme refers to the share option scheme adopted by the Company which
was approved by the shareholders in general meeting on 31 January 2002. The
Board may grant options to eligible participants. The exercise price of the share
option under the New Scheme is determined by the directors of the Company, and
will not be less than the higher of the closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of grant, the average closing price of the shares for the five business days

immediately preceding the date of grant, and the nominal value of the share.

The offer of a grant of share options under the New Scheme may be accepted within
28 days from the date of the offer together with the payment of HK$1 in total by the
grantee. The vesting and exercise period of the share options granted is determinable
at the entire discretion of the Board with the vesting period not exceeding four years
and the exercise period will not exceed a period of ten years immediately after
acceptance of grant. Options are lapsed if the employee leaves the Group before the
options vest. At 31 December 2012, the number of shares in respect of which options
had been granted and remained outstanding under the New Scheme was 9,317,500
(2011: 11,127,500) shares, representing 0.16% (2011: 0.19%) to the shares of the

Company in issue at that date.

As at 31 December 2012, none of the directors held any share options of the

Company (2011: niD).

—F PR
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35 WERRERTE (48) 35 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

TR B S oA 22 B B AN ] S HE The following tables disclose details of the Company’s share options held by
TG AR 2 S employees and other participants and movements in such holdings during the year:
HE X" HF+_H=+—HIFEE For the year ended 31 December 2012
S B
Number of share options
"
S ZE-TH
st s +=A
—H—H =t—n
1 i RATE R FNTTE AENIAL i ARATRE
11 Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
i A Exercise price R I at 1 January during the during during at 31 December

Date of grant per share Vesting period Exercisable period 2012 year the year the year 2012

152 | —%—mmem
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35 WERRERTE (48) 35 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

wE-FE-—Ft+H=1t—HILFE

514

AT
A Exercise price L]
Date of grant per share Vesting period

A TR AT {6 U PSR A AT (8 L S0 2 T g A
Lyl 1544 00 (2 F ——4F 1 1% 12.0070) ©
PR IR ST AR T
Hi% » A 33% %2 50% R HE ] 75w )E -

e L = AV ER
FI 1147 50 U DR S AETERE - 7% 1 44
Pl 0 AR T2 1 2 R LA
A PR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011

Tl M H

Number of share options
"
7 ZE——f
. +=A
—A—H =—H
AT RS AT AR i AAT
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
I at 1 January during the during during at 31 December
Exercisable period 2011 year the year the year 2011

In respect of the share options exercised during the year, the weighted average share
price at the dates of exercise is HK$15.44 (2011: HK$12.00). All options were granted
with a vesting period of two to three years and 33% to 50% of which would be

vested annually after the grant date.

There was no share option expense recognised during the year ended 31 December
2012 and 2011 as no new share options were granted in the year and the previously

granted share options were fully amortised in the prior years.

AR
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36 RN B B 36 SHARES HELD FOR STRATEGIC
INCENTIVE AWARD SCHEME

T EE)AFERHA=1H (THRAH I ) > AR On 30 May 2008 (the “Adoption Date”), a Strategic Incentive Award Scheme (the
EEr St RS (UG I (RS R “Scheme”) was adopted by the Company. The Scheme shall be valid and effective
RS 10 FE M G AR o ARIEFTHIIGER > for a period of 10 years commencing from the Adoption Date. Pursuant to the rules
RN FRESIASFE o Ze 5t b AR I S [ R A5 5T of the Scheme, the Company has set up a trust with a trustee company, BOCI —
R FE LGB R A BB Ay o RN AR Prudential Trustee Limited, for the purpose of administering the Scheme and holding
A= ML I o 5T A (& — — 4R the shares. During the year, no shares of the company were acquired for the scheme
18,846,000 MLy > $2 N HETF- P 5 A% 5 ¥ 11.65 (2011: HK$18,846,000 at weighted average price of HK$11.65). Under the Scheme,
JG) o M E—TAEF A=+ —H - fEEFE there were total unawarded shares of 2,090,000 (2011: 18,172,000) amounting to
T RAFRZEAA 35 2,090,000 B ( —F——4F - HK$25,966,000 (2011: HK$225,726,000) held by the trustee at 31 December 2012.

18,172,000 ) » 7 BEE 5 ¥ 25,966,000 IC (— 2
——4F 225 726,0000T) » HZICARFA -

37 BEEBE/(HH)B4 37 CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN)
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

BEF A= —HIEFE

Year ended 31 December

T T
HK$'000

17,495,034

669,582
(4,000,974)
(102,157)
(130,763)
(211,289)
(414,183)

331,942

(86,987)

(19,370)

13,530,835
(34,084,142)

7,925,944
503,690
8,901,360
24,590,181
(435,761)
(121,887)

20,810,220
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38

39

40

B ER G

A B T ) 2 B R T R R SR AT R A AR
W RS R U 13,000,549,0007C ( —F——4F ¢
# 1 3,049,862,000 75 ) © SRATHE N B F A
5 R BT AR > S R AR R R
1% (LABR L Fy e ) AR R GZ SR - TRl b -
MR EHZ AT EE AT K

AR

B KA
BORAIR » A SR T DL F B
04 S MO — 2

Wik -

W E— A=A H o SR L 2 A 7
JEAPSL M 1,723,400,000 TC —F—4Ff = H=+—H »
B 22 Fi] 1 B 75 1 3,502,408,000

38 FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

Guarantees amounting to HK$13,009,549,000 (2011: HK$3,049,862,000) are given to
banks with respect to loans procured by the purchasers of the Group’s properties.
Such guarantees will be released by banks upon the issuance of the real estate
ownership certificate to the purchasers or the satisfaction of mortgaged loan by the
purchasers of properties, whichever is earlier. In the opinion of directors of the

Company, the fair value of the financial guarantee contracts is not significant.

39 COMMITMENTS

31.12.2012

36,250,577
1,997,375

38,247,952

40 PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of reporting period, the Group had pledged the following assets to banks

as securities against general banking facilities granted to the Group:

31.12.2012
T
HK$°000

31.12.2011

23,526,954
7,417,873
1,444,508

403,340

32,792,675

Note:

As at 31 December 2012, bank borrowings of HK§1,723,400,000 is secured by pledge of the equity
interests in a subsidiary. The net assets of the subsidiary are approximately HK$3,502,408,000 as at
31 December 2012.

T AR
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41 JRARAE A E S

(@)

=

A B2 [ o 5T i IR 5 2 B 1 M SRR 4
FhE (SR A T3 ]) o s Ak 3 4R
5% 5 ) e T A g9 D ) T S
FE ARGl o AR PR RE B at B A o R
F R R BZE R B H 4 5% bk A it
B2 B 44 R B S HE 1,000 00 - HEAR A
B R RS PR A Ay > BLAE
N EVERE S B o

RWE-F - CFEF A=+ HILF
BEVA - AR B 7 s T AR Hh S 11 1R R AR
BRI > A AR R AR R R
BRI TR e < w AR o 2 A R

TR -

41 RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

(@)

Hong Kong

The Group participates in a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for its employees in Hong Kong. MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution scheme in accordance with the principle of Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Ordinance. Under the rules of MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are required to contribute 5% of the employees’ salaries, up to
a maximum of HK$1,000 per employee per month. The assets of MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the group companies in an

independently administered fund.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the total amounts contributed by
the Group to the scheme in Hong Kong and charged to profit or loss
represent contributions to the scheme by the Group at rates specified in the

rules of the scheme are as follows:

WEF A=t H IR

Year ended 31 December

I A3 7Y

Bt & A R R R AR 2 ik S8

Amount contributed and charged to profit or loss

W TT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
2,158 2,147

(b) A

% 4 [ e S 7 2 A B A T I R 4%
b 5 TR A A5 1Y) B R A FIE PR AL
ZHLE o A B [ JE R 5 A AR A
EALEE RS R (R R P < g
AR AR ] 5% S LB 2 — AT B MR R
TEHERK

A B AR AF B S 2 v ) o b R A
R 25 R INBR 2 MR

(b)

Chinese Mainland

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are members of state
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the respective local
government in the Chinese Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of payroll costs to the schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to these schemes is to make the

specified contributions.

The total cost charged to profit or loss in respect of the above-mentioned

schemes in the Chinese Mainland during each of the years are as follows:

WEF A= HIREE

Year ended 31 December

]

T T T

HK$°000 HK$000

(FE51)

(Restated)

CAE & [ 45 0Bk 2 Bk &5 Amount contributed and charged to profit or loss 119,509 117,194
CF - TARJEAE
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42 BHENLER G
Ca) 5L v [ 3 3 % 3L G 4 7 ([ o
8 5 5 ) PR 5
DA Ay AS 4 [N 4F R AT 22 TR B AN
T G

Gi) Bk A R ERAT A A R 22 W] ([ 2E AR
17 1) B2 R B B AR FEAT PR R (3
AR D) HT 3L 2 B £ 1 Bk

NoE - A H s B e Rk
SRAT S5 A7 BLHE 4 48 B R SR AT 1 77 3K
A R #680,087,000 76 (& ——4F + A
[ 149,451,000 96 ) o &3k 77 B BLAT
T2 F A T-0.385% £ 1.265% ( &
——4F 1 0.50% % 1.49%) FIE o A EE
CEF-TAEF A E A HIREE S
SEAEKE 2 R Bk A B s
4,280,000 76 ( — & — —4F : ¥ 525,000
Jb) °

RTE - TEF A= A
B (L3 A S 1 A ST AR o 2 4%
B sE U 112,333,000 0 (& ——4F ¢
F) o WEE _F— 4+ A=+
HORAEREE » %% 188 5 s A A 1
WA (ZF——4F ) o

42 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Significant transactions with CRNC and its subsidiaries
(the “CRNC Group”)

The following is a summary of the significant related party transactions

entered into by the Group during the year:

(i)

WEFT A= IR

Year ended 31 December
T
HK$'000

144,238
18,996

163,234

636,596
1,177

Strategic cooperation agreement with Zhuhai China Resources Bank
Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank™) and China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. (“CR
Trust”)

As at 31 December 2012, cash and bank balances include deposits of
RMBG680,087,000 (2011: RMB149,451,000) made by the Group to CR
Bank. The said deposits carry interest at prevailing deposit rates
which range from 0.385% to 1.265% (2011: 0.50% to 1.49%). The
aggregate interest income arising from such deposits was
HK$4,280,000 during the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011:
HK$525,000).

As at 31 December 2012, available-for-sale investments include
investment trusts of HK$12,333,000 (2011: nil) made by the Group to
CR Trust. No investment income arising from such investment trusts

during the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011: niD).

T AR
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42 BN (4)

(a)
(iv)
W)
(i)
SE R

Annual Report 2012

S v o] 2§ R I BRI 2 ] ([
o 2 R ) IR 5 ()

S A N A R A

WEE -FE— 4+ A=+ —
H kAR JE > A [ ) v ) 22 Jh 4R
9] i A 75 8,380,495,000 G ( &
——4F W 1,233,500,000 7C) >
R 38 Ty A s SR T[] S R S B A 3
SRATIR ESR A FE S A

T17%FE23%( = & — —
5.21%) o REE —F— FE A+
A=+ —HILFERE > 55 8
A ZORE AR MR By s
24,358,000 70 ( & ——4F : K

15,929,000 JC) °

AR -THEFFZH=Z+—H>
St v () S 3P A [ 2 Ty vk
7,246,495,000 7 ( =& ——4F : i
& 67,843,000 7C) ©

WA 52 I (] 2 ) 2

wE_F—-_F+_A=1+—H
R AR LSO 2 SRS RO B RE 2.2 ©

LB IIH H LA A

WoFE—ZAE T H T H o A%
(9] B 3 5 R 2 — P B R 4 W) T
GET > NAEGBR LGS
3> DB P VIR A Bl
—IEEAETEE (TRILEH )

RIE G EW & > &8 w4
$2 [ LA T A T 2 B S A HEAT
51% K 49% » R I TE H 2 % & 4
FETE M A N R ¥ 1,250,000,000 TG
R A 205 751,562,000,000G)
TE R A A e N R
36,000,0007C (A & i s W
45,000,000 7C) > #% H1 A A 7
15 B 1L TE H A B 3 2 B b
i FRERE 2 — F 1A > fh 3RS RE
Z MR B S AT AR o s
THH TR mES . B mE
AEEFET AEACEMRILNEH
2 RE) TR A o

42 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
(a) Significant transactions with CRNC and its subsidiaries
(the “CRNC Group”) (continued)

(iv)

W)

(vi)

Intra-group lending with CRNC Group

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group borrowed
HK$8,386,495,000 (2011: HK$1,233,500,000) from CRNC Group with
interest rate at Hibor or Libor plus a certain percentage ranging from
1.7% to 2.3% (2011: 5.21%). The aggregate finance costs arising from
such borrowings was HK$24,358,000 during the year ended 31
December 2012 (2011: HK$15,929,000).

As at 31 December 2012, amounts due to CRNC Group are
HK$7,246,495,000 (2011: HK$67,843,000).

Acquisition of entities under common control

Detail of the acquisition during the year ended 31 December 2012 is

set out in Note 2.2.

Establishment of a joint venture in relation to Kunshan Project

On 10 December 2012, the Group and a subsidiary of CR Trust
entered into the Cooperation Agreement in relation to the
establishment of a joint venture for the development of a residential-
commercial complex located in Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

(the “Kunshan Project™).

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, the joint venture is owned as
to 51% by the Group and 49% by the subsidiary of CR Trust. The total
investment to Kunshan Project is expected to be RMB1,250 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,562 million). The pre-project work
compensation amounting to RMB36 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$45 million) will be payable to the Group by the
subsidiary of CR Trust within one year from the date on which all
land use rights certificates of the underlying land of the Kunshan
Project have been obtained by the joint venture company. The pre-
project work compensation serves to compensate the Group for
startup works in relation to the establishment of the joint venture and

the Kunshan Project.
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42 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel

42 BN (4)

b) FEEFHABZME
AR I HA T A A B A
LA E

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other members of key

management of the Group during the year was as follows.

WET A= IR

Year ended 31 December

]

T T
HK$'000 HK$000
J 08 B AR Short-term employee benefits 41,263 11,771
I A% AR ) Post-employment benefits 543 649
DA B A 3K Share-based payment - 16,621
41,806 29,041

(o) i [ Py Hb L fth B R AH B A (c) Significant transactions with other government-related

ZHRRG

A% S L e B Y 0 o A
T B (1O A 88 ) A 37 )
KR B M o RS A S A SR
o R 92 2 o o T —
B BRI 7 2 — 5 -

B £ 30 () B (b) S i > A4 1 B
O A B BT R AT LT 2ERS - AR Wl
R B2 A BUR AN B TR T e 5
JRES T T T S ST AR i 4 R
(T o AR F IR O 5 A8 B v I BORE -
2% A TSRS A fey 8 36 T D R 5 SR A B
TR -

() ARSI 1 5% 45 BU I M SR
(Ja 7 TBURT F B2 B ) 1 i % -
{fFAHRE 5

G ASEE B BLERAT I 4 Rl A (8
Hrﬁw%ﬁgﬁ% HEAT 45 AT 3K MG
/5

i) A A P B 5 B T A AT B 9
A5y o WA 2% 7 3 2 0 e

entities in the Chinese Mainland

The Group operates in an economic environment currently predominated by
entities directly or indirectly owned or controlled by the PRC government
(“government-related entities”). In addition, the Group itself is part of a larger

group of companies under CRNC which is controlled by the PRC government.

Apart from the disclosure in (a) and (b), the Group also conducts the
following business with government-related entities. The directors of the
Company consider the transactions with these government-related entities are
within normal business operations and are carried out on market terms. The
Group has developed transaction pricing policies and these policies do not

depend on whether or not the counterparties are government-related entities.

(1 The Group has acquired land use rights through tendering to those
government departments or agencies, which are government-related

entities;

(ii) The Group has entered into various deposits and lending transactions
with banks and financial institutions, which are government-related

entities;

(iii) ~ The Group has sales and purchases transactions with customers and

suppliers, in which the directors of the Company are of the opinion

HhH2Z G0 BHERLS =S that it is impracticable to ascertain the identity of the counterparties
B At R AR B R R AT O A) and accordingly whether the transactions are with government-related
17 entities.

.
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43 MHEAFELFEEHAGEHE 43 SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINTLY
i CONTROLLED ENTITIES

(@ WoF—-TFt+A=+—H>ALH (@ Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2012
R A B 2 BRI R are set out as follows:
CEATIRA/ A A 2 DT
R A 2 T A JBeA / e A 2 T EL ]
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
i i 2 751 44 il issued share capital/ issued share capital/ FEER

Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by the Group Principal activities

100%

97.09%

97.09%

97.09%

97.09%

98.52%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

97.09%

100%

A AR AR
Annual Report 2012



Aok o B 2 e R B i

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements @

43 [MtE AR BEILFEEHGEE 43 SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINTLY
e (%) CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)
@ (&) @  (continued)
CEATIREA/ H AR R 2 AT
A 2 T (B TR /G A 2 T L A5
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
5 2 ) 4 issued share capital/ issued share capital/ Et >
Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by the Group Principal activities

100%

97.09%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

SECSET | 161
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43 [MtE AR BEILFEEHGEE 43 SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINTLY
e (%) CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)
@ (&) @  (continued)
CEATIREA/ H AR R 2 AT
A 2 T (B TR /G A 2 T L A5
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
5 2 ) 4 issued share capital/ issued share capital/ Et >
Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by the Group Principal activities

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

A AR AR
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43 MBAFBEILFERERHASEE 43 SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINTLY
(%) CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)

@ () @  (continued)
CEATIREA/ H AR R 2 AT
A 2 T (B TR /G A 2 T L A5
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
5o 2 ) 44 il issued share capital/ issued share capital/ EEEY
Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by the Group Principal activities

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

AP 163
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43 [MtE AR BEILFEEHGEE 43 SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINTLY
e (%) CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)
@ (&) @  (continued)
CEATIREA/ H AR R 2 AT
A 2 T (B TR /G A 2 T L A5
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
5 2 ) 4 issued share capital/ issued share capital/ Et >
Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by the Group Principal activities

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

A AR AR
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43 MHEAFELFEEHGEHE 43 SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINTLY
T (48) CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)
@ () @  (continued)
EEATIRAS / WA M A 2 B 8T
%‘iﬂﬂﬁﬂizmﬁ E&t$/§‘£ﬂ§$2ﬁ{ﬁt¥:%
WA T4 e e st oo e

Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by the Group Principal activities

100%

98.22%

100%

98.22%

100%

100%

100%

60%

R | 165
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43 MHEAFELFEEHGEHE 43 SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINTLY
T (48) CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)
@ () @  (continued)
EEATIRAS / WA M A 2 B 8T
ﬁﬂ§$zmﬁ &$(ﬁﬂ§$;ﬁﬁmﬂ
WA T4 e e st oo e

Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by the Group Principal activities

100%

100%

97.09%

97.09%

60%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

A AR AR
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43 [MtE AR BEILFEEHGEE 43 SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINTLY
e (%) CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)
@ (&) @  (continued)
CEATIREA/ H AR R 2 AT
A 2 T (B TR /G A 2 T L A5
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
5 2 ) 4 issued share capital/ issued share capital/ Et >
Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by the Group Principal activities

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

SE TR | 167
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43 MHEAFELFEEHGEHE 43 SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINTLY
T (48) CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)
@ () @  (continued)
EEATIRAS / WA M A 2 B 8T
ﬁﬂ§$zmﬁ &$(ﬁﬂ§$;ﬁﬁmﬂ
WA T4 e e st oo e

Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by the Group Principal activities

95.70%

100%

100%

100%

97.09%

97.09%

100%

100%

100%

100%

A AR AR
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43 i JE o v B IG [w] 5 5
e (48
@ (#
CEATIREA/
A 2 T (B
Nominal value of
5o 2 ) 44 il issued share capital/

Name of subsidiary registered capital

43 SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINTLY
) CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)
)

@  (continued)

H AR R 2 AT
TR /G A 2 T L A5
Proportion of nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital held by the Group

EEEH

Principal activities

100%

100%

100%

100%

AP | 169
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43 MHEAFELFEEHGEHE 43 SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINTLY
(45 CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)

— ~—

() (4 @  (continued)
CEATIREA/ AR R 2 O 81T
A 2 T (B TR /G A 2 T L A5
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
5o 2 ) 44 il issued share capital/ issued share capital/ EEEY
Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by the Group Principal activities

Htat Notes:
(a=1) %I L 7] J5—Z 5% o [ 1A 1l 1 57 2 TR BR 2 7 (a-1)  The subsidiary is a joint stock limited company established in the Chinese Mainland.
(a=2)  A%MHEG L 7] J5— SR o [ 1l 1 57 22 A R o (a-2)  The subsidiary is a domestic enterprise established in the Chinese Mainland.
(a=3)  A%MHEG L 7] J5— B P A s 1 57 2 4 BEE o (a-3)  The subsidiary is an equity joint venture established in the Chinese Mainland.
(a—d) %27 J5— 5% o [ 1A 1l G 57 22 A1 7 1 3 (a-4)  The subsidiary is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the Chinese Mainland.
(a=5) %I 2 7] T3 7 it L R AT BT o (a-5)  The subsidiary is incorporated and has major operations in Hong Kong.

TR AR
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YA Bt R A EE 43 SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINTLY

43 [t &
CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)

1 (4

§>

=

(b) AR —-THEFS A=+ —H s R4 ) Particulars of the Group’s jointly controlled entities as at 31 December 2012
Z S [F] R R R T are set out as follows:
CHfTRA/
R A 2 T B AR [ W] 42
Nominal value of FEA EAGHERS
FE[] 42 ) BT 1 44 A issued share capital/ Attributable interest TR
Name of jointly controlled entities registered capital indirectly held by the Group Principal activities

48.55%

48.55%

Fifat: < Notes:

(@ LA R S I LR AT o (i) The jointly controlled entity is incorporated in British Virgin Islands.

(i) L AL B ] 7 B R — B I A 57 R RS (ii) The jointly controlled entities are Sino-foreign equity joint ventures established and
PG EEEHEH - operating in the Chinese Mainland.

SE AW | 171
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44 B I R A B 44 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
44.1. &/ T H 2 B 44.1 Categories of financial instruments

T
HK$'000

3,910,531

21,947,912
177,506

T T
HK$'000

21,943,755
4,731,509
2,688,738

62,713
3,005,999

45,167,675

7,735,149
33,195

86,028,733
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FUF 5 R e 4 B (7))
44.2 WA JE B 45 PR AR R BUR

44 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
44.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

S A T S B BB AR AR B
B LA o B o B R AT R B A
A T 1) B LB o AL [ A S A S
Te R 0 S 1 S A L R B

A B2 [0 27 JR\ g 5 BRI 1 R ik B T
AR AR [T v S U 7R O R R
FA S R DL B B A T R
B A B2 [ 2R D o A 4 9 ot B 0
il T A AR B Y B ST SO
T R st B e e B
B A B (1 S BT -

AR 2 AT B Y AR
42 B ST A B L BOOR B R A D
S A AT B A S [T I R 2 R B
IR R A o AREMBELE AT
7 N A W B R o R R A
Wi A B o) SRR AT R B O o
ﬁrﬁﬁ%?%a@@ﬁm

AR AR [ T S 2 AR Lo DA % 7 B i
JEBg 11 5 20 AT Bl 4 o

R ) HE R R A T TR AR B Y
TAY P8 L B i S D A A el AR S T
S5 2 PR SRR o %55 JE B B T
Bor (B0 4% A1 Bgr B ) 5 IR B ) ~ £ £
W Ko i B LB o

44.2.1 S HE ) 57 FE

$%@u%%%ﬁ%%ﬁ$‘ﬁ
TTHSAE ~ SRATAE B B o 2245
mﬁmﬁﬁm@°$%@%%%
F AN REEHEAT > MR E U KX
T AN BRAT M B (B Gk 31) M5k
SRR (B 5k 34) PEBR AL o AL
Lﬂawﬁﬁﬁi o EEgibiNTa
JEUBSE o 7 B2 [ B0 IR NI i 411 i S o
B3 o SR - 4 BILRE B 42 O B Ja,
B > Sl R A T R i 3 i K
S SR -

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of
the Group’s risk management framework. The Board is responsible for
developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management policies. The
Department of Corporate Finance and Planning of the Group reports

regularly to the Board on its activities.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse
the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and
to monitor risks and adherence to market conditions and the Group’s
activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and
procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control

environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Group’s audit committee oversees how management monitors
compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and
reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the
risks faced by the Group. The Group’s audit committee is assisted in its
oversight role by internal audit. Internal audit undertakes both regular and ad
hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of

which are reported to the audit committee.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to financial risks or the

manner in which it manages and measures.

The Board monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations
of the Group through internal risk reports which analyses exposures by
degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk (including

foreign currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

44.2.1 Foreign currency risk management
The Group maintains certain cash and bank balances, bank
borrowings and senior notes in foreign currencies, hence is exposed
to foreign currency risk. The Group’s businesses are principally
conducted in RMB, except for bank borrowings (Note 31) and senior
notes (Note 34) arrangement in Hong Kong and oversea. The Group
manages its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the
movements of the foreign currency exchange rates. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the

need arises.

—F PR
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44 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
44.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

44.2.2 Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate bank borrowings and senior notes. The carrying amounts of
short-term bank borrowings and current portion of long-term bank
borrowings approximate their fair values. The fair values of non-
current bank borrowings are estimated based on discounted cash flow
using the prevailing market rates of interest available to the Group for
financial instruments with substantially the same terms and
characteristics at the balance sheet date. As at 31 December 2012, the
carrying values of non-current bank borrowings approximate their fair

values.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
bank balance, amounts due from jointly controlled entities, variable-
rate bank borrowings and amounts due to fellow subsidiaries,
intermediate holding companies and non-controlling interests. To
manage the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in interest rates on
specific transactions, appropriate financial instruments may be used to

hedge material exposure.

As at 31 December 2012, if interest rates on bank balances and
amounts due from jointly controlled entities had been 50 basis points
higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit
would have been HK$84,267,000 higher/lower (2011: HK$60,517,000),
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest income on these variable-

rate financial assets.

As at 31 December 2012, if interest rates on bank borrowings and
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, intermediate holding companies
and non-controlling interests had been 50 basis points higher/lower
with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit would have been
HK$212,978,000 lower/higher (2011: HK$196,460,000), mainly as a
result of higher/lower interest expenses on these variable-rate

financial liabilities.
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(continued)
44.2 B % Bl B B R R R (48) 44.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
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44.2.3 Credit risk management

e EA R
A 1950 5 1 o T 2
A 2 BT 3 R 17 51 5100 55
R R SRR AC 1

. A 3 5 IR L 2 U i 45 I
Ol 2 < il o 2 AR T M

As at 31 December 2012, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial guarantees

provided by the Group is arising from:

. the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial

assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial

P position; and
. AL B 2 WS TR AR (R . the financial guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed in
R 3E 38) Note 38.
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In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade and
other receivables at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s

credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-

rating agencies or state-owned banks in the PRC.

With respect to the amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, an
intermediate holding company and jointly controlled entities, the
directors of the Company consider the credit risk is limited because

they have strong financial positions.
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44 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
44.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

44.2.4 Liquidity risk management

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants. Details of the Group’s bank borrowings are set out in Note

31.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
maturity dates for non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the

agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash outflows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is
derived from weighted average interest rate by reference to the
HIBOR of the Group’s variable-rate financial liabilities at the end of

the reporting period.

In addition, the following tables detail the Group’s liquidity analysis
for its derivative financial instruments. The tables have been drawn
up based on the undiscounted contractual net cash outflows on
derivative instruments that settle on a net basis. When the amount
payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been determined by
reference to the projected interest rates as illustrated by the HIBOR
and the terms stipulated in the contract of derivative financial
instruments existing at the end of the reporting period. The liquidity
analysis for the Group’s derivative financial instruments are prepared
based on the contractual maturities as the management consider that
the contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of the

timing of the cash flows of derivatives.



Aok o B 2 e R B i

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements @

44 B4R R B (48) 44 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

44.2 A R B i B A R OBOOR (A8 44.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

44.2.4 RE) G R E P (48]) 44.2.4 Liquidity risk management (continued)
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44 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
44.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

44.2.4 Liquidity risk management (continued)

44.2.5

The amounts have not included financial guarantee contracts

which the Group could be required to settle under the
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee for loans
procured by the purchasers of the Group’s properties (Note
38). Such guarantees terminate upon the earlier of (i) issuance
of the real estate ownership certificate which will generally be
available within an average period of two to three years upon
the completion of guarantee registration; or (i) the satisfaction

of mortgaged loan by the purchasers of properties;

which the Company make for its subsidiaries” bank borrowings
(Note 31). Such guarantees terminate upon the repayment of

relevant bank borrowings.

Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group
considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to
change depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that the
financial receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed

suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
non-derivative financial liabilities is subject to change if changes in
variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates

determined at the end of the reporting period.

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior

year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes
the bank borrowings disclosed in Note 31 and the senior notes
disclosed in Note 34, net of cash and cash equivalents, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share

capital, reserves and retained profits.
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44 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
44.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

44.2.5

44.2.6

Capital risk management (continued)

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associates with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues
and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the

redemption of existing debt.

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are

determined as follows:

. the fair value of derivative financial instruments is calculated
based on discounted cash flow analysis using the applicable
yield curve for the duration of the instruments for non-

optional derivatives; and

. the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities
(excluding derivative financial instruments) are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on

discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities (excluding senior notes) recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair

values.

The derivative financial instruments liabilities are measured
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value which are grouped into
Level 2 fair value measurements. Level 2 fair value measurements are
those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly Gi.e.

as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

45 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements set out on pages 89 to 179 were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board on 15 March 2013.
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Financial Summary

AR A 3 A Group’s results

2009

44,303,029

17,495,034
(6,298,044)

11,196,990

10,568,598
628,392

11,196,990

AR H A T AR Group’s assets and liabilities

2010 2009 2008

4,971,467
1,552,677
44,356,899
431,385
2,530,562
300,231
174,112,282

228,255,503

98,947,203
47,619,780
5,188,736

151,755,719
76,499,784

69,108,659
7,391,125

76,499,784
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